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Dear Connie,

Companies (Amendment) Bill 2004
Proposed legislative amendments to the definition of "subsidiary"

Accounting Standards

1. Subsequent to the 5® Bills Committee meeting on 24 February 2005,
we write to provide the information sought by the Bills Committee. Accordingly,
copies of the following are attached as Annex I

(a) Hong Kong Accounting Standard (“HKAS”) 27; and
(b) Hong Kong Accounting Standard — Interpretation 12 (“HKAS-Int 12”); and
(c) Financial Reporting Standard (“FRS") 5.

2. HKAS 27 and HKAS-Int 12 are the local equivalents of the
international accounting standards which deal with consolidation of subsidiaries (IAS
27) and special purpose entities (SIC-12). FRS 5 is the UK accounting standard
dealing with linked presentation.

German True Sale Initiative

3. A member requested further information regarding the True Sale
Initiative in Germany mentioned on page two of the submission from Ms. Ann
Rutledge'. We enclose copy of a press release issued by KFW Bankengruppe dated
30 April 2004 (Annex 2) providing some background to the True Sale Initiative,
which was launched in early 2003 and completed in June 2004. The Initiative
established a common securitisation platform (i.e., special purpose entity (“SPE"™))
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available to all market participants to facilitate securitisation in Germany. However,
we understand that to date the True Sale Initiative has only had limited success (see
attached Financial Times article dated 20 January 2005 — Annex 3).

Specific impact of the Bill on Hong Kong’s securitisation industry

4, We refer to your letter dated 3 March 2005 requesting further
information on the following two issues:

(a) the type(s) of “control” that a transferor (or originator) needed to exercise over
its securitisation SPE, including a situation where the SPE was set up under
the “auto-pilot” mechanism; and

(b) other possible alternatives to address the issue, ¢.g. whether a mechanism
could be devised in such a way that securitisation SPEs would not fall within
the proposed definition of “subsidiary” and hence would not be subject to
consolidation in companies’ group accounts.

5. We would first hke to clanfy the effect of the proposed legislative
amendments which introduce the HKAS test of “control” into the Companies
Ordinance (“C0O”). Secondly, we will address the issues raised in paragraph 4 above.
Our conclusion is that any securitisation structure or transaction which can be devised
to avoid being caught by the proposed amendments would be devoid of the typical
characteristics of a securitisation, deprive the originator of the majority of the
incentives for securitisation and be tantamount to requiring an outright sale of assets
to a third party.

Tests to determine existence of parent-subsidiary relationship

6. The Companies (Amendment) Bill 2004 will introduce a new test of
“right to exercise a dominant influence” as a test of a parent-subsidiary relationship.

Footnote No. 2 to the Legislative Council Brief explains the reasons for the

amendment, which is to align the CO with intemational accounting standards.

7. Under the accounting standards, there 1s a singular test for determining
whether a parent-subsidiary relationship exists between two entities. Paragraph 4 of
HKAS 27 sets out the following definitions, from which it can be seen that the test is
one based on the concept of “control’:

A subsidiary is an entity, including an unincorporated entity such as a
partnership, that is controlled by another entity (known as the parent).

Control is the power to govern the financial and operating policies of an
entity so as to obtain benefits from its activities.

2 File Ref.:C2/1/57/2(04) Pt. 5
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“Dominant influence” test under the Companies Ordinance

8. Section 5 of the proposed Twenty-third Schedule to the CO provides
that “dominant influence” is “the right to give directions with respect to the operating
and financial policies of that other undertaking which the directors are, or a majority
of the directors is, obliged to comply with whether or not they are for the benefit of
that other undertaking.”

Introduction of “control-based” test into Companies Ordinance

9. It can be seen that the proposed new test of “dominant influence™ is
almost identical in wording to the test for determining a parent-subsidiary relationship
set out in HKAS 27, i.e., the power to govern the financial and operating polices of
the entity so as to obtain benefits from its activities. Accordingly, the effect of the
legislative amendments will be to introduce the accounting concept of “control” and
the various examples of what constitutes control, as set out in HKAS 27 and HKAS-
Int 12, into the CO test for determining the existence of a parent-subsidiary
relationship.

10. In light of the foregoing, the answer to the second issue raised by
legislators as to whether transaction originators could structure a securitisation SPE in
such a way that it does not fall under the definition of “subsidiary” cannot be made in
isolation solely with reference to the CO and must also take into account the
requirements of the relevant accounting standards.

“Control-based” test as applied to special purpose entities under HKAS-Int 12

11. In relation to an SPE, paragraph 10 of HKAS-Int 12 sets out a series of
further circumstances which may indicate the existence of a parent-subsidiary
relationship between an entity and an SPE, even where little or none of the SPE’s
equity is held by the controlling entity:

(a) the activities of the SPE are being conducted on behalf of the entity according
to its specific business needs so that the entity obtains benefits from the SPE’s
operations (the “activities test™);

(b) the entity has the decision-making powers to obtain the majority of the
benefits of the activities of the SPE or, by setting up an “autopilot”
mechanism, the entity has delegated those decision-making powers (the
“decision-making test”);

{c) the entity has rights to obtain the majority of the benefits of the SPE and
therefore may be exposed to risks incident to the activities of the SPE (the
“benefits test”); or

(d)  the entity retains the majority of the residual or ownership risks related to the
SPE or its assets in order to obtain benefits from its activities (the “risks
test”).
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12. Additional guidance as to the indicators of control over an SPE is
given in the Appendix to HKAS-Int 12, which gives some further examples of
situations which would tend to indicate the existence of control.

Type(s) of “control” exercised over securitisation SPEs

13. For ease of reference, we set out in Annex 4 a table of the typical
characteristics of a securitisation structure or transaction. Each characteristic is
assessed against the four “control” tests in HKAS-Int 12 (set out in paragraph 11
above) to see whether it would be caught by any test and therefore require the SPE to
be consolidated.

14. The table demonstrates that every one of the features would be caught
by at least one test and accordingly would have to be removed in order for the SPE
not to fall within the proposed definition of “subsidiary”. However, if all the
offending features were removed, the transferor would effectively have no specific
role other than as a seller/buyer counterparty and all the typical securitisation options
would have to be outsourced to or obtained from third party service providers.
Moreover, such third party service providers might themselves end up having to
consolidate the SPE if they retained significant risks/benefits. This would greatly
reduce the incentives for securitisation transactions, not only on the part of the
transferor but also on the part of the third party service providers, since consolidation
of the SPE might affect their financial ratios. Finally, the inability to offer any of the
options would reduce the attractiveness of asset-backed securities to investors and
require a higher yield to compensate, thereby increasing the cost of issuance to the
transferor and further reducing the incentive for securitisation.

15. A securitisation structure that could avoid being caught by the tests in
HKAS-Int 12 would generally be devoid of the typical characteristics of a
securitisation, deprive the originator of the majority of the incentives for securitisation
and be tantamount to requiring an outright sale of assets to a third party. In other
words, it is foresecable that there will not be much left of the “genuine securitisation
transaction” as contended by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants.

16. It is for the above reasons that the securitisation industry has requested
a carve-out from the proposed amendments.

Yours sincerely,
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Submissions to the Bills Committee dated 11 March 2005

Annexes

Annex 1(a) Hong Kong Accounting Standard (“HKAS”) 27; and

Annex 1(b) Hong Kong Accounting Standard — Interpretation 12 (“HKAS-Int 12”)

Annex 1(c)  Financial Reporting Standard (“FRS”) 5
! Annex 2 Press release issued by KFW Bankengruppe dated 30 April 2004

Annex 3 Financial Times article dated 20 January 2005

l Annex 4 Table assessing the characteristics of a typical securitisation transaction

with the “control” tests under HKAS-Int 12
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Hong Kong Accounting Standard 27

Consolidated and Separate Financial
Statements
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BASIS FOR CONCLUSIONS

DISSENTING OPINION

IMPLEMENTATION GUIDANCE ON HKASs 27, 28 AND 31
TABLE CF CONCORDANCE

Hong Kong Accounting Standard 27 Consolidated and Separate
Financial Statements (HKAS 27) is set out in paragraphs 1-45 and
the Appendix. All the paragraphs have equal authority. HKAS 27
should be read in the context of the Basis for Conclusions, the
Preface to Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards and the
Framework for the Preparation and Presentation of Financis!
Statements. HKAS 8 Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting
Estimates and Errors provides a basis for selecting and applying
accounting policies in the absence of explicit guidance.
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Hong Kong Accounting Standard 27
Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements

Scope

1. This Standard shall be applied in the preparation and presentation of consolidated
financial statements for a group of entities under the control of a parent.

2 This Standard does not deal with methods of accounting for business combinations and their
effects on consolidation, including goodwill arising on a business combination (see HKFRS 3
Business Combinations).

3. This Standard shall also be applied in accounting for investments in subsidiaries, jointly
controlied entities and assoclates when an entity elects, or is required by local
regulations, to present separate financial statements.

3A. This Standard defines a subsidiary as "an entity that is controlled by another entity”. For this
purpose, control is defined as the power to govern the financial and operating policies of an
entity so as to obtain benefits from its activities. This definition of subsidiary could resuit in an
investee enlity being classified as a subsidiary when it does not meet the definition of a
subsidiary as set out in section 2(4) of the Companies Ordinance.

3B. In issuing this Standard, the Horg-Keng-Seciety-of-AseeuntanisHong Kong Institute of Celified
Public Accountants has ohtained legal advice on the legality of introducing a requirement in this
Standard to consolidate certain entities which are not subsidiaries as defined by section 2(4) of
the Companies Ordinance in group accounts of a Hong Kong incorporated company. The fegal
opinion states that the definitions of "subsidiary” and "holding company” in sections 2(4) and 2(7)
of the Companies Ordinance are exhaustive for the purposes of group accounts as defined by
section 124(1) of the Companies Ordinance. Accordingly, a Hong Kong incorporated company
may not consolidate a company that does not meet the definition of a subsidiary in the
Companies Ordinance.

3C. The principles laid down in this Standard are applicable to Hong Kong incorporated companies
except to the extent that the legal constraints do not permit them to include in their consolidated
financial statements an entity which does not meet the definition of a subsidiary in the
Companies Ordinance. However, this Standard requires Hong Kong incorporated companies to
disclose certain additional information to enable users of the consolidated financial statements
to assess the effects as if this Standard had been fully complied with.

Definitions

4. The following terms are used in this Standard with the meanings specified:

Consolldated financial statements are the financial statements of a group presented as
those of a single economic entity.

Control Is the power to govern the financial and operating policies of an entity so as to
obtain benefits from its activities.

The cost method is a method of accounting for an Investment whereby the investment is
recognised at cost. The investor recognises income from the investment only to the
extent that the invastor receives distributions from accumulated profits of the Investee
arising after the date of acquisition. Distributions recefved in excess of such profits are
regarded as a recovery of investment and are recognised as a reduction of the cost of the
investment.

A group Is a parent and all its subsldiaries.
Minority interest is that portion of the profit or loss and net assets of a subsidiary

attributable to equity interests that are not owned, directly or indirectly through
subsidiaries, by the parent.
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A parent is an entity that has ona or more subsidiaries.

Separate financial statements are those presented by a parent, an investor in an
assoclate or a venturer in a fointly controlled entity, in which the investments are
accounted for on the basis of the direct equity Interest rather than on the basis of the
reported results and net assets of the investees.

A subsldiary is an entity, including an unincorporated entity such as a partnership, that
is controlled by another entity (known as the parent).

5. A parent or its subsidiary may be an investor in an associate or a venturer in a jointly controlled
entity. In such cases, consolidated financial statements prepared and presented in accordance
with this Standard are also prepared so as to comply with HKAS 28 Investments in Associates
and HKAS 31 Interests in Joint Ventures.

6. For an entity described in paragraph 5, separate financia!l statements are those prepared and
presented in addition to the financial statements referred to in paragraph 5. Separate financial
statements need not be appended to, or accompany, those statemenils.

7. The financial statements of an entity that does not have a subsidiary, associate or venturer's
interest in a jointly controlled entity are nol separate financial statements.

8. A parent that is exempted in accordance with paragraph 10 from presenting consolidated
financial statements may present separate financial statements as its only financial statements.

Presentation of Consolidated Financial Statements

9. A parent, other than a parent described in paragraph 10, shall present consolidated
financial statements in which it consolidates its investments in subsldiaries in
accordance with this Standard.

10. A parent need not present consolidated financial statements if and only if: |
{a) the parent Is itself a wholly-owned subsidiary, or is a partially-owned subsidiary

of another entity and its other owners, including those not otherwise entitled to
vote, have been informed about, and do not object to, the parent not presenting
consolidated financial statements;

(b) the parent’'s debt or equity instruments are not traded in a public market {a
domestic or foreign stock exchange or an over-the-counter market, including
local and reglonal markets);

{c) the parent did not file, nor Is it in the process of fifing, its financial statements
with a securities commission or other regulatory organisation for the purpose of
issuing any class of instruments In a public market; and

{d) the ultimate or any intermediate parent of the parent produces consolidated
financial statements available for public use that comply with Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards or Intarnational Financial Reporting Standards.

11. A parent that elects in accordance with paragraph 10 not to present consolidated financial
statements, and presents only separate financial statements, complies with paragraphs 37-42.

L Section 124(2) of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance {CO) permits a holding company not to prepare group ]
accounts if the company is a wholly-owned subsidiary of another company at the end of its financial year.
Accordingly, a Hong Kong incorporated parent company can only take advantage of the exemption under

paragraph 10 of this Standard if it also satisfies the exemption allowed under Section 124(2) of the CO.
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Scope of Consolidated Financial Statements

12. Gonsolidated—ﬁnancia&—stateménts-shaﬂ-insIude«aﬂ-subsidiaries—ef-the-parent,—except-
-Consolidated financial statements shall include all

subsidiaries of the parent.’

13. Contro! is presumed to exist when the parent owns, directly or indirectly through subsidiaries,
more than half of the voting power of an entity unless, in exceptional circumstances, it can be
clearly demonstrated that such ownership does not constitute control. Control also exists when
the parent owns half or less of the voting power of an entity when there is:

(a) power over more than half of the voting rights by virtue of an agreement with other
investors;

(b} power to govern the financkal and operating policies of the entity under a statute or an
agreement;

{c) power to appoint or remove the majority of the members of the board of directors or

equivalent governing body and control of the eniity is by that board or body; or

() power to cast the majority of votes at meetings of the board of directors or equivalent
governing body and control of the entity is by that board or body.

14. An entity may own share warrants, share call options, debt or equity instruments that are
converlible into ordinary shares, or other similar instruments that have the polential, if exercised
or converted, to give the entity voling power or reduce another party’s voling power over the
financial and operating policies of another entity (potentiat voting rights). The existence and
effect of potential voting rights that are currently exercisable or convertible, including potential
voting rights held by another entity, are considered when assessing whether an entity has the
power to govern the financial and operating policies of another entity. Potential voting rights are
not currently exercisable or convertible when, for example, they cannot be exercised or
converted until a future date or until the occurrence of a future event,

15. In assessing whether potential voting rights contribute to control, the entity examines all facls
and circumstances (including the terms of exercise of the potential voting rights and any other
contractual arrangements whether considered individually or in combination) that affect
potential voting rights, excepl the intention of management and the financial ability to exercise
or convert.

16. A-subsidiary- shau—b&exeluded—frem—eonsohdatmnwhen—theref&ewdeﬂs&mat {a)-control
is-intended-to-be-temporary-because-the-subs fusively-with
a-view-lo-its-disposal-within-twelve-monthsfrom-acquisition-and-(b}-management-is-
actively seeking-a-buyer—investments-in-such-subsidiaries-shall be-classified-as-held-for
trading-and-accounted-forin-accordance-with-HKAS 39 Financial-instruments:-
Recognition-and-Measurement{Deleted]

17.

notdisposed-ofwithi
(seeHKAS—EQ)—ﬁnaﬂeral—statemems-fer—lhe-peneds—smeeaequssmemshaﬂ-be_restaled—
[Deleted]

18. Exceplionallyan-entity may-have-found-a-buyerfora-subsidians-excluded from-conselidationin
aeeerdanee w»th—paragraama but—may—nel—have-eemp@eted—%he-sale—wuhm—twelve meonths-of-

: is-Retreguired-te
WM%%M%M&&MM&EM%&&M&—MWWM&%MM%%
reason-te-believe-that-it-will-not-be-cempleted-shortly-after-the-balance-sheet-date:[Deleted)]

19, A subsidiary is not excluded from consolidation simply because the investor is a venture capital
organisation, mutual fund, unit trust or similar entity.

? If on acquisition a subsidiary meets the criteria to be classified as held for sale in accordance with HKFRS 5
Non-current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations, jt shalt be accounted for in accordance with that
Standard,

* See also HKAS-Int 12 Consolidation—Special Purpose Entities.
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20, A subsidiary is not excluded from consolidation because its business activities are dissimilar
from those of the other entitiés within the group. Relevant information is provided by
consolidating such subsidiaries and disclosing additional information in the consolidated
financial statements about the different business activities of subsidiaries. For example, the
disclosures required by HKAS 14 Segment Reporting help to explain the significance of different
business activities within the group.

21. A parent loses control when it loses the power to govern the financial and operating policies of
an investee so as to oblain benefit from its activities. The foss of control can occur with or
without a change in absoluta or relative ownership levels. It could occur, for example, when a
subsidiary becomes subject to the control of a government, court, administrator or regulator, It
could also occur as a result of a contractual agreement.

Specific provisions for Hong Kong incorporated companies

21A. In preparing consolidated financial statements of a Hong Kong incorporated company,
only companies that fali within the definition of a subsidiary as set out in section 2(4) of
the Companies Ordinance may be consolidated. Therefore, for the purposes of applying
this Standard, Hong Kong incorporated companies should use the definition of a
subsidiary as set out in section 2(4) of the Companies Ordinance where it conflicts with
the definition in paragraph 4 above.

21B. In the circumstances where a company Is a subsidiary as defined by section 2(4) of the
Companies Ordinance but the parent does not have unilateral control over it, it should
not be dealt with in the consolidated financial statements as a subsidiary. Where a
subsldiary is excluded on the grounds of lack of effective control, it should be accounted
for as a jointly controlied entity in accordance with HKAS 31 Interests in Joint Venturas
or an associate In accordance with HKAS 28, Investments in Associates, as appropriate.

Consolidation Procedures

22, In preparing consolidated financial stalements, an entity combines the financial statements of
the parent and ils subsidiaries line by line by adding together like items of assets, liabilities,
equity, income and expenses. In order that the consolidated financial statements present
financial information about the group as that of a single economic entity, the following steps are
then taken:

(a) the carrying amount of the parent’s investment in each subsidiary and the parent's
portion of equity of each subsidiary are eliminated (see HKFRS 3, which describes the
treatment of any resultant goodwill);

(b) mincrity interests in the profit or loss of consolidated subsidiaries for the reporting
period are identified; and

(c) minority interests in the net assets of consolidated subsidiaries are identified
separately from the parent shareholders’ equity in them. Minority interests in the net
assets consist of:

(i the amount of those minority interests at the date of the original combination
calculated in accordance with HKFRS 3; and

(ii} the minority’s share of changes in equity since the date of the combination,

23. When potential voting rights exist, the proportions of profit or loss and changes in equity
allocated to the parent and minority interests are determined on the basis of present ownership
interests and do not reflect the possible exercise or conversion of potential voting rights.

24. Intragroup balances, transactions, income and expenses shall be eliminated in full.

25. Intragroup balances and transactions, including income, expenses and dividends, are
eliminated in full. Profits and losses resulting from intragroup transactions that are recognised in
assets, such as inventory and fixed assels, are eliminated in full. Intragroup losses may indicate
an impairment that requires recognition in the consolidated financial statements. HKAS 12
income Taxes applies to temporary differences that arise from the elimination of profits and
losses resulting from intragroup transactions,
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The financial statements of the parent and its subsidiaries used in the preparation of the
consolldated financlal statements shall be prepared as of the same reporting date. When
the reporting dates of the parent and a subsidiary are different, the subsldiary prepares,
for consolidation purposes, additional financial statements as of the same date as the
financial statements of the parent unless it is impracticable to do so.

When, in accordance with paragraph 26, the financial statements of a subsidiary used in
the preparation of consolidated financial statements are prepared as of a reporting date
different from that of the parent, adjustments shall be made for the effects of significant
transactions or events that occur between that date and the date of the parent’s financial
statements. In any case, the difference between the reporting date of the subsidiary and
that of the parent shall be no more than three months. The length of the reporting periods
and any difference in the reporting dates shall be the same from period to period.

Consolidated financial statements shall be prepared using uniform accounting policies
for like transactfons and other events in similar circumstances.

If a member of the group uses accounting policies other than those adopted in the consolidated
financial statements for like transactions and events in similar circumstances, appropriate
adjustments are made to its financial statements in preparing the consolidated financial
statements,

Fhe-income-and-expenses-of a-subsidiary-are-ncluded-in-the-consolidated-financial-statements-

isiti i -The income and expenses of a subsidiary
are included in the consolidated financial statements from the acguisition date, as defined in
HKFRS 3. The income and expenses of a subsidiary are included in the consolidated financial
statements until the date on which the parent ceases 1o control the subsidiary. The difference
between the proceeds from the disposal of the subsidiary and its carrying amount as of the date
of disposal, including the cumulative amount of any exchange differences that relate to the
subsidiary recognised in equity in accordance with HKAS 21 The Effects of Changes in Foreign
Exchange Rates, is recognised in the consolidated income statement as the gain or loss on the
disposal of the subsidiary.

An investment in an entity shall be accounted for in accordance with HKAS 39 from the
date that it ceases to be a subsidiary, provided that it does not become an associate as
defined in HKAS 28 or a jointly controlled entity as described in HKAS 31.

The carrying amount of the investment at the date that the entity ceases to be a
subsidiary shall be regarded as the cost on Initial measurement of a financial asset in
accordance with HKAS 39.

Minority interests shall be presented in the consolidated balance sheet within equity,
separately from the parent shareholders’ equity. Minority interests In the profit or loss of
the group shall also be separately disclosed.

The profit or loss is attributed to the parent shareholders and minority interests. Because both
are equity, the amount attributed to minority interests is not income or expense.

Lesses applicable to the minority in a consclidated subsidiary may exceed the minority interest
in the subsidiary’s equity. The excess, and any further losses applicable to the minority, are
allocated against the majority interest except to the extent that the minority has a binding
obligation and is able to make an additional investment to cover the losses. If the subsidiary
subsequently reports profits, such profits are allocated to the majority interest until the minority’s
share of losses previously absorbed by the majority has been recovered.

If a subsidiary has outstanding cumulative preference shares that are held by minority interests
and classified as equity, the parent computes its share of profits or losses after adjusting for the
dividends on such shares, whether or not dividends have been declared.
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Accounting for Investments in Subsidiaries, Jointly
Controlied Entities and Associates in Separate
Financial Statements

37. When-separate-financlal-statements-are-prepared-investments-in-subsidiaries-jointly-
controlled-entities-and-associates-shall-be-accounted-for-cither—

{a)—atoostor

When separate financial statements are prepared, investments In subsidiaries, jointly
controlled entities and associates that are not classified as held for sale {or included in a
disposal group that is classified as held for sale) in accordance with HKFRS 5 shail be
accounted for either:

(a) at cost, or

{b) in accordance with HKAS 39.

The same accounting shall be applied for each category of investments. Investments in
subsidiaries, jointly controlled entities and associates that are classified as held for sale
{or included in a disposal group that is classified as held for sale) in accordance with
HKFRS 5 shall be accounted for in accordance with that HKFRS.

38. This Standard does not mandate which entilies produce separate financial statements available
for public use. Paragraphs 37 and 39-42 apply when an entity prepares separate financial
statements that comply with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards. The entity also
produces consolidated financial statements available for public use as required by paragraph 9,
unless the exemption provided in paragraph 10 is applicable.

39. lavestments-in-subsidiaries—jointly-controlied-entities-and-associates-that-are-accounted
for-in-accordance-with-HKAS-30-in the consolidated-financial-statements-shall-be-
accounted-for-in-the-same-way-in-the-investor’s-separate-financial-
statements-Investments in Jointly controlled entities and associates that are accounted
for in accordance with HKAS 39 In the consolidated financial statements shall be
accounted for in the same way in the investor’s separate financial statements.

Disclosure
40. The following disclosures shall be made in consolidated financlal statements:
{a) thefact-that-a-subsidiary-is-notconsolidated-in-accordance-with-paragraph-
16;[Deleted)]
(b) summansed—ﬁnaneiahnformaﬂen—eﬁs&bstd&anes—mtheﬁmdiwdua#y—oHﬂ—
ts-oitotal-assets—total-
me#mes—;evem;es—and—preﬁt-or-#ess; [Deleted]
{c) the nature of the relationship between the parent and a subsidiary when the

parent does not own, directly or indirectly through subsidiaries, more than half
of the voting power;

{d} the reasons why the ownership, directly or indirectly through subsidiarles, of
more than half of the voting or potential voting power of an investee does not
constitute control;

(e) the reporting date of the financial statements of a subsidiary when such financial
statements are used to prepare consolidated financial statements and are as of a
reporting date or for a period that Is different from that of the parent, and the
reason for using a different reporting date or perlod; and
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N the nature and extent of any significant restrictions (eg resulting from borrowing
arrangements or regulatory requirements) on the abllity of subsidiaries to
transfer funds to the parent in the form of cash dividends or to repay loans or
advances.

When separate financial statements are prepared for a parent that, in accordance with
paragraph 10, elects not to prepare consolidated financial statements, those separate
financial statements shall disclose:

(a) the fact that the financial statements are separate financial statements; that the
exemption from consolidation has baen used; the name and country of
incorporation or residence of the entity whose consclidated financial statements
that comply with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards or International
Financial Reporting Standards have been produced for public use; and the
address where those consclidated financial statements are obtainable;

(b) a list of significant investments in subsidiaries, jointly controlled entities and
assoclates, Including the name, country of incorporation or residence,
proportion of ownership Interest and, if different, proportion of voting power
held; and

{c) a description of the method used to account for the investments listed under (b).

When a parent (other than a parent covered by paragraph 41), venturer with an interest in
a jointly controlled entity or an investor in an associate prepares separate financlal
statements, those separate financial statements shall disclose:

{a) the fact that the statements are separate financial statements and the reasons
why those statements are prepared if not required by law;

(b) a list of significant investments in subsidiaries, jointly controlied entities and
associates, Including the name, country of incorporation or residence,
proportion of ownership interest and, if different, proportion of voting power
held; and

{c) a description of the method used to account for the investments listed under (b);

and shali identify the financial statements prepared in accordance with paragraph 9
of this Standard, HKAS 28 and HKAS 31 to which they relate.

Specific disclosures for Hong Kong incorporated companies

42A.

When a Hong Kong incorporated company holds an entity which would be a subsidiary
as defined in paragraph 4 but is not accounted for as a subsidiary as a result of
paragraph 21A, it should disciose in the notes details of the effect on the consolidated
financial stataments had the exemption given in paragraph 21A not applied.

Effective Date

43.

43A,

An entity shall apply this Standard for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2005. Earlier application Is encouraged. If an entity applies this Standard for a period
beginning before 1 January 2005, it shall disclose that fact and apply Hong Kong
Accounting Standards interpretation (HKAS-Int 12) Consolidation — Special Purpose
Entities at the same time.

If an entity decides to apply this Standard for an earlier period, it is not required to apply all the
HKASs with the same effective date for that same period. However, it is required to apply the
amendmaents set out in the appendix on amendments 1o other pronouncements for that earier
period(s).
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Withdrawal of Other Pronouncements

44, This Standard supersedes SSAP 32 Consolidated Financial Statements and Accounting for
Investments in Subsidiaries (issued in 2001).

45, This Standard supersedes Interpretation 18 Consolidation and Equity Method — Potential
Voting Rights and Allocation of Ownership Interests.

10
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Appendix

Comparison with International Accounting Standards

This comparison appendix, which was prepared as at AugustDecember 2004 and deals only with |
significant differences in the standards extant, is produced for information only and does not form part of
the standards in HKAS 27.

The International Accounting Standard comparable with HKAS 27 is IAS 27 Consolidated and Separate
Financial Statements.

The following sets out the major textual differences between HKAS 27 and IAS 27 and the reason for the
differences.

Differences Reason for the Differences

Provislons for Hong Kong incorporated
companlies

Additional paragraphs are inserted: The Standard recognises that, in preparing
consolidated financial statements, a company

a. to give the background on why Hong Kong incorporated under the Hong Kong Companies

incorporated companies should use the Ordinance does not consolidate an entity that does
definition of subsidiary as set out in not meet the definition of a subsidiary under that
section 2(4) of the Companies Ordinance Ordinance.
(see paragraphs 3A to 3C);
The Standard also takes the view that in the

b. toinclude specific provisions for Hong circumstances where a company is a subsidiary as
Kong incorporated companies in applying defined by the Companies Ordinance but the
this Standard (see paragraphs 21A and parent does not have unilateral control over il, it
21B), and should not be dealt with in the consolidated

financial statements as a subsidiary but as a jointly

¢. lo require specific disclosures for Hong controlled entity.

Kong incorporated companies (see
paragraph 42A).

11
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Appendix

Amendments to Other Pronouncements

The amendments in this appendix shall be applied for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
20035. If an eniity applies this Standard for an earlier period, these amendments shall be applied for that
eartier period.

As explained in the introduction to this Standard, the accounting standard and paragraph references that

appear below may differ from those found in the existing SSAPs as they have taken into account the

changes to be made to the name, number, paragraph numbering as well as appendix referencing of the

existing SSAPs in order to conform to those of the equivalent IASs.

Al [Not used]

A2, [Not used])

Al [Not used]

Ad, In Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards, incfuding Hong Kong Accounting Standards and
Interpretations, applicable at December 2003, references to the current version of SSAP 32

Consolidated Financial Statements and Accounting for investments in Subsidiaries are
amended to HKAS 27 Consolidated and Separate Financial Staterments.

12
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Basis for Conclusions

This Basis for Conclusions accompanies, but is not part of, HKAS 27.

HKAS 27 is based on IAS 27, Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements. In approving HKAS 27,
the Council of the Hong Kong Seciety-of Acsauntants-Institute of Certified Public Accountants considered |
and agreed with the IASB's basis for conclusions on IAS 27 (as revised 2003). Accordingly, there are no
significant differences between HKAS 27 and IAS 27. The IASB’s basis for conclusions is reproduced
below for reference. The paragraph numbers of JAS 27 referred to below generally correspond with those

in HKAS 27.

Introduction

BC1.  This Basis for Conclusions summarises the International Accounting Standards Board's
considerations in reaching its conclusions on revising |IAS 27 Consolidated Financial
Statements and Accounting for Investments in Subsidiaries in 2003. individual Board members
gave greater weight to some factors than o others.

BC2.  InJuly 2001 the Board announced that, as part of its initial agenda of technical projects, it would
undertake a project to improve a number of Standards, including IAS 27, The project was
undertaken in the light of queries and criticisms raised in relation to the Standards by securities
regulators, professional accountants and other interested parties. The objectives of the
Improvements project were to reduce or gliminate alternatives, redundancies and conflicts
within Standards, to deal with some convergence issues and lo make other improvements. In
May 2002 the Board published its proposals in an Exposure Drafl of Improvements to
international Accounting Standards, with a comment deadline of 16 September 2002. The
Board received over 160 comment letters on the Exposure Drafl.

BC3.  Because the Board's intention was not 1o reconsider the fundamenta! approach to consolidation
established in 1AS 27, this Basis for Conclusions does not discuss requirements in IAS 27 that
the Board has not reconsidered.

Presentation of Consolidated Financial Statements

Exemption from Preparing Consolidated Financial Statements

BC4.  Paragraph 7 of the previous version of IAS 27 required consolidated financial stalements to be
presented. However, paragraph 8 permitted a parent that is a wholly-owned or virtually
wholly-owned subsidiary not to prepare consolidated financial statements, The Board
considered whether to withdraw or amend this exemption from the general requirement.

BCS5.  The Board decided to retain an exemption, so that entities in a group that are required by law to
produce financia! statements available for public use in accordance with International Financial
Reporting Standards, in addition to consolidated financial statements, would not be unduly
burdened.

BC6. The Board noted that in some circumstances users can find sufficient information for their
purposes regarding a subsidiary from either its separate financial statements or consolidated
financial statements. In addition, the users of financial stalements of a subsidiary often have, or
can get access to, more information.

8C7.  Having agreed to retain an exemption, the Board decided to modify the circumstances in which
an entity would be exempt and considered the following criteria.

Unanimous agreement of the owners of the minority interests

BCB.  The Exposure Draft proposed to extend the exemption to a parent that is not wholly-owned if the
owners of the minority interest, including those not otherwise entilled to vote, unanimousty
agree.

BC9.  Some respondents disagreed with the proposal for unanimous agreement of minority

shareholders to be a condition for exemption, in particutar because of the practical difficullies in
obtaining responses from all of those shareholders. The Board decided that the exemption

13
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should be available lo a parent that is not wholly-owned when the owners of the minority
interests have been informed about, and do not object to, consolidated financia! statements not
being presented.

Exemption available only to non-public entities

BC10. The Board believes that the information needs of users of financial statements of entities whose
debt or equity instruments are traded in a public market are best served when investments in
subsidiaries, jointly controlled entities and associates are accounted for in accordance with IASs
27, 28 Investments in Associates and 31 Interests in Joint Ventures. The Board therefore
decided that the exemption from preparing such consolidated financial statements should not be
available to such entities or to entities in the process of issuing instruments in a public market.

BC11. The Board decided that a parent that meets the criteria for exemption from the requirement to
prepare consolidated financial statements should, in its separate financial statements, account
for those subsidiaries in the same way as other parents, venturers with interests in jointly
controlled entities or investors in asscciates account for investmenits in their separate financial
statemenis. The Board draws a distinction between accounting for such investments as equity
investments and accounting for the economic entity that the parent controls. In relation to the
former, the Board decided that each category of investment should be accounted for
consistently.

BC12. The Board decided that the same approach to accounting for investments in separate financial
statements should apply irrespective of the circumstances for which they are prepared. Thus,
parents that present consolldated financial statements, and those that do not because they are
exempted, should present the same form of separate financial stalements.

Scope of Consolidated Financial Statements

Scope Exclusions

BC13. Paragraph 13 of the previous version of |IAS 27 required a subsidiary to be excluded from
consolidation when control is intended to be temporary or when the subsidiary operates under
severe long-term restrictions.

Temporary control

BC14. The Board considered whether to remove this scope exclusion and thereby converge with other
standard-setters that had recently eliminated a similar exclusion. The Board decided to consider
this issue as part of a comprehensive standard dealing with asset disposals. It decided to retain
an exemption from consolidating a subsidiary when there is evidence that the subsidiary is
acquired with the intention to dispose of it within twelve months and that management is actively
seeking a buyer. The Board's Exposure Draft ED 4 Disposal of Non-current Assels and
Presentation of Discontinued Operations proposes to measure and present assets held for sale
in a consistent manner irrespective of whether they are held by an investor or in a subsidiary.
Therefore, ED 4 proposes to eliminate the exemption from consolidation when control is
intended 1o be temporary and contains a draft consequential amendment to 1AS 27 to achieve
this-.

Seveare long-term restrictions impairing ability to transfer funds to the parent

BC15. The Board decided o remove Lhe exclusion of a subsidiary from consolidation when there are
severe long-term restrictions that impair a subsidiary's ability to transfer funds to the parent. it
did so because such circumstances may not preclude control. The Board decided that a parent,
when assessing its ability to control a subsidiary, should consider restrictions on the transfer of
funds from the subsidiary to the parent. In themselves, such restrictions do not preclude control.

Venture capital organisations, private equily entities and similar organisations

BC16. The Exposure Draft of IAS 27 proposed to clarify that a subsidiary should not be excluded from
consolidation simply because the entity is a venture capital organisation, mutual fund, unit trust

" In March 2004, the Board issued IFRS 5 Non-current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operstions.
IFRS § removes this scope exclusion and now eliminates the exemption from consolidation when controj
is intended to be temporary. See IFRS 5 Basis for Conclusions for further discussion,

14
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or similar entity. Some respendents from the private equity industry disagreed with this
proposed clarification. They argued that private equity entities should not be required to
consolidate the investments they contro! in accordance with the requirements in 1AS 27. They
argued that they should measure those investments at fair value. Those respondents raised
varying arguments—some based on whether control is exercised, some on the length of time
that should be provided before consolidation is required, and some on whether consolidation
was an appropriate basis for private equity entities or the type of investments they make.

BC17. Some respondents also noted that the Board decided to exciude venture capital organisations
and similar entities from the scope of I1ASs 28 and 31 when investments in assoclates or jointly
controlled entities are measured at fair value in accordance with IAS 39 Financial Instruments:
Recognition and Measurement. In the view of these respondents, the Board was proposing that
similar assets should be accounted for in dissimilar ways.

BC18. The Board did not accept these arguments. The Board noted that these issues are not specific
to the private equity industry. It confirmed that a subsidiary should not be excluded from
consolidation on the basis of the nature of the controlling entity. Consolidation is based on the
parent’s ability to control the investee, which captures both the power to controi (ie the ability
exists but it is not exercised) and actual control (ie the ability is exercised). Consolidation is
triggered by control and should not be affected by whether management intends to hold an
investment in an entity that it controls for the short term.

BC19 The Board noted that the exception from the consclidation principte in the previous version of
IAS 27, when control of a subsidiary is intended to be temporary, might have been misread or
interpreted loosely. Some respondents to the Exposure Draft had interpreted “near future” as
covering a period of up to five years. The Board decided to remove these words and to restrict
the exception to subsidiaries acquired and held exclusively for disposal within twelve months,
providing that management is actively seeking a buyer.

BC20. —The Board did not agree that it should differentiate between types of entity, or types of |
investment, when applying a control model of consolidation. 1t also did not agree that
management intention should be a determinant of control. Even if it had wished to make such
differentiations, the Board did not see how or why it would be meaningful to distinguish private

equity investors from other types of entities.

BC21. The Board believes that the diversity of the investment portfolios of entities operating in the
private equity sector is not different from the diversification of portfolios held by a conglomerate,
which is an industrial group made up of entities that often have diverse and unrelated interests.
The Board acknowledged that financial information about an entity’s different types of products
and services and its operations in different geographical areas—segment information—is
relevant to assessing the risks and returns of a diversified or multinational entity and may not be
determinable from the aggregated data presented in the consolidated balance sheel. The Board
noted that IAS 14 Segment Reporting establishes principles for reporting segment information
by entilies whose equity or debt instruments are publicly traded, or any enlity that discloses
segment information voluntarily.

BC22. The Board concluded that for investments under the control of private equity entities, users’
information needs are best served by financial statements in which those investments are
consolidated, thus revealing the extent of the operations of the entities they control. The Board
noted that a parent can either present information about the fair value of those investments in
the notes to the consolidated financial statements or prepare separate financial statements in
addition to its consolidated financial statements, presenting those investments at cost or at fair
value. By contrast, the Board decided that information needs of users of financial statements
would not be well served if those controlling investments were measured only at fair value. This
would leave unreported the assets and liabilities of a controlled entity. It is concelvable that an
investment in a large, highly geared subsidiary would have only a small fair valua. Reporting
that value alone would preclude a user from being able to assess the financial position, results
and cash flows of the group.

Minority Interests

BC23. Minority interest is defined in IAS 27 and IAS-22iFRS_3 Business Combinations as that part of |
the profit or loss and net assets of a subsidiary attributable to equity interests that are not owned,
directly or indirectly through subsidiaries, by the parent. Paragraph 26 of the previous version of
I1AS 27 required minority interests to be presented in the consolidated balance sheet separately
from liabilities and the parent shareholders' equity.
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BC24. The Board decided to amend this reguirement and to require minority interests to be presentad
in the consolidated balance sheet within equity, separately from the parent shareholders’ equity.
The Board agreed that a minority interest is not a liability of a group because it does not meet
the definition of a liability in the Framework for the Preparation and Presentation of Financial
Statements.

BC25. Paragraph 49(b) of the Frarmmework states that a liability is a present obligation of the entity
arising from past events, the settlement of which is expected to result in an outflow from the
entity of resources embodying economic benefits. Paragraph 60 of the Framework further
indicates that an essential characteristic of a lability is that the entity has a present obligation
and that an obligation is a duty or responsibility to act or perform in a particular way. The Board
noted that the existence of a minority interest in the net assets of a subsidiary does not give rise
to a present obligation of the group, the settlement of which is expected to resull in an outflow of
economic benefits from the group.

BC26. Rather, the Board noted that a minority interest represents the residual interest in the nel assets
of those subsidiaries held by some of the shareholders of the subsidiaries within the group, and
therefore meets the Framework's definition of equity. Paragraph 49({c) of the Framework stales
that equity is the residual interest in the assets of the entity after deducting alt its liabilities.

BC27. The Board acknowledged that this decision gives rise to questions about the recognition and
measurement of minority interests but it concluded that the proposed presentation is consistent
with current standards and the Framework and would provide better comparability than
presentation in the consolidated balance sheet with either liabilities or parent sharcholders’
equity. It decided that the recognition and measurement questions should be addressed as part
of its project on business combinations.,

Measurement of Investments in Subsidiaries, Jointly Controlled Entities
and Associates in Separate Financial Statements

BC28. Paragraph 29 of the previous version of IAS 27 permitted investments in subsidiaries to be
measured in any one of three ways in a parent's separate financial statements. These were cost,
the equity method, or as available-for-sale financial assets in accordance with IAS 39.
Paragraph 12 of the previous version of IAS 28 permitted the same choices for investments in
associates in separale financial statements, and paragraph 38 of the previous version of 1AS 31
mentioned that IAS 31 did not indicate a preference for any particular treatment for accounting
for interests in jointly controlled entities in a venturer's separate financial slatements. The Board
decided to require use of cost or IAS 39 for all investments included in separate financial
statements,

BC29. Although the equity method would provide users with some profit and loss information similar to
that obtained from consolidation, the Board noted that such information is reflected in the
investor's economic entity financial staterments and does not need to be provided to the users of
its separate financial statements. For separate statements, the focus is upon the performance of
the assets as investments. The Board concluded that separate financial statements prepared
using either the fair value method in accordance with IAS 39 or the cost method would be
relevant. Using the fair value method in accordance with 1AS 39 would provide a measure of the
economic value of the investments. Using the cost method can result in relevant information,
depending on the purpose of preparing the separate financial statements. For example, they
may be needed only by particular parties to determine the dividend income from subsidiaries.

BC30. Forinvestments in subsidiaries that are not consolidated in accordance with paragraph 16 of
IAS 27 (ie because control is temporary), paragraph 30 of the previous version of IAS 27
permitted the same alternatives as were permitted in paragraph 29 of the previous version of
IAS 27 for those that were consolidated—cost, the equity method, or as available-for-sale
financial assets in accordance with IAS 39. The Board considered whether to eliminate one or
more of these choices and decided that these subsidiaries should be accounted for consistently
in both the consolidated and separate financial statements.
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Dissenting Opinion

DO1.  MrYamada dissents from this Standard because he believes that the changs in classification of
minority interests in the consolidated balance sheet, that is to say, the requirement that it be
shown as equity, should not be made as part of the Improvements project. He agrees that
minority interests do not meet the definition of a liability under the Framewaork for the
Preparation and Presentation of Financial Statements, as stated in paragraph BC25 of the
Basis for Conclusions, and that the current requirement, for minority interests to be presented
separately from liabililies and the parent shareholders’ equity, is not desirable. However, he
does not believe that this requirement should be altered at this stage. He believes that before
making the change in classification, which will have a wide variety of impacts on current
consolidation practices, various issues related to this change need to be considaered
comprehensively by the Board. These include consideration of the objectives of consolidated
financial statements and the accounting procedures that should fltow from those objectives.
Even though the Board concluded as noted in paragraph BC27, he believes that the decision
related to the classification of minority interests should not be made until such a comprehensive
consideration of recognition and measurement is completed,

DO2.  Traditionally, there are two views of the objectives of consolidated financial statements; lhey are
implicit in the parent company view and the economic entity view. Mr Yamada believes that the
objectives, that is to say, what information should be provided and to whom, should he
considered by the Board before it makes its decision on the classification of minority interests in
IAS 27. He is of the view that the Board is taking the economic entity view without giving enough
consideration to this fundamental issue.

DO3.  Step acquisitions are being discussed in the second phase of the Business Combinations
project, which is not yet finalised at the time of finalising IAS 27 under the Improvements project.
When the ownership interest of the parenl increases, the Board has tentatively decided that the
difference between the consideration paid by the parent to minority interests and the carrying
value of the ownership interests acquired by the parent is recognised as part of equity, which is
different from the current practice of recognising a change in the amount of goodwill. If the
parent retains controt of a subsidiary but its ownership interest decreases, the difference
between the consideration received by the parent and the carrying value of the ownership
interests transferred is also recognised as part of equity, which is different from the current
practice of recognising a gain or a loss. Mr Yamada believes that the results of this discussion
are predetermined by the decision refated to the classification of minority interests as equity.
The changes in accounting treatments are fundamental and he believes that the decision on
which of the two views should govern the consolidated financial statements should be taken
only after careful consideration of the ramifications. He believes that the amendment of IAS 27
relating to the classification of minority interests should not be made before completion of the
second phase of the Business Combinations project,
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Implementation Guidance

Guidance on implementing HKAS 27 Consolidated and
Separate Financial Statements, HKAS 28 Investments
in Associates and HKAS 31 Interests in Joint Ventures.

This guidance accompanies HKAS 27, HKAS 28 and HKAS 31, but is not part of them.
Consideration of Potential Voting Rights
Introduction

1G1. Paragraphs 14, 15 and 23 of HKAS 27 Consolidaled and Separate Financial Statements and
paragraphs 8 and 9 of HKAS 28 Investments in Associates require an entity to consider the
existence and effect of all potential voting rights that are currently exercisable or convertible.
They also require all facts and circumstances that affect potential voting rights to be examined,
except the intention of management and the financial ability to exercise or convert potential
voting rights. Because the definition of joint controf in paragraph 3 of HKAS 31 Interests in Joint
Ventures depends upon the definition of control, and because that Standard is linked to HKAS
28 for application of the equity method, this guidance is also relevant to HKAS 31,

Guidance

1G2. Paragraph 4 of HKAS 27 defines control as the power to govern the financial and operating
policies of an entity so as to obtain benefits from its activities. Paragraph 2 of HKAS 28 defines
significant influence as the power to participate in the financial and operating policy decisions of
the investee bul not to control those policies. Paragraph 3 of HKAS 31 defines joint contro} as
the contractually agreed sharing of control over an economic activity. In these contexts, power
refers to the ability to do or effect something. Consequently, an entity has control, joint control or
significant influence when it currently has the ahility to exercise that power, regardless of
whether control, joint control or significant influence is actively demonstrated or is passive in
nature. Potential voting rights held by an entity that are currently exercisable or convertible
provide this ability. The ability to exercise power does not exist when potential voting rights lack
economic substance (eg the exercise price is set in a manner that precludes exercise or
conversion in any feasible scenario). Consequently, potential voting rights are considered when,
in substance, they provide the ability to exercise power.

1G3. Control and significant influence also arise in the circumstances described in paragraph 13 of
HKAS 27 and paragraphs 6 and 7 of HKAS 28 respectively, which include consideration of the
relative ownership of voting rights. HKAS 31 depends on HKAS 27 and HKAS 28 and
references to HKAS 27 and HKAS 28 from this point onwards should be read as being relevant
to HKAS 31. Nevertheless it should be borne in mind that joint control involves contractual
sharing of control and this contractual aspect is likely to be the critical determinant. Potential
voting rights such as share call options and convertible debt are capable of changing an entity's
voting power over another entity—if the potential voting rights are exercised or converted, then
the relative ownership of the ordinary shares carrying voting rights changes. Consequently, the
existence of control (the definition of which permilts only one entity to have control of another
entity) and significant influence are determined only after assessing all the factors described in
paragraph 13 of HKAS 27 and paragraphs 6 and 7 of HKAS 28 respeclively, and considering
the existence and effect of potential voting rights. In addition, the entity examines all facls and
circumstances that affect potential voting rights except the intention of management and the
financial ability to exercise or convert. The intention of management does not affect the
axistence of power and the financial ability of an entity to exercise or convert is difficult to
assess.

1G4. An entity may initially conclude that it controls or significantly influences another entity after
considering the potential voting rights that it can currently exercise or convert. However, the
entity may not control or significantly influence the other entity when potential voting rights held
by other parties are also currently exercisable or convertible. Consequently, an entity considers
all potential voting rights held by it and by other parties that are currently exercisable or
convertible when determining whether it controls or significantly influences ancther entity. For
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example, all share call options are considered, whether held by the entity or another party.
Furthermaore, the definition of control in paragraph 4 of HKAS 27 permits only one entity to have
control of another entity. Therefore, when two or more entities each hold significant voting rights,
both actual and potential, the factors in paragraph 13 of HKAS 27 are reassessed to determine
which entity has control.

1G5. The proporiion allocated to the parent and minority interests in preparing consolidated financial
statements in accordance with HKAS 27, and the proportion allocated to an investor that
accounts for its investment using the equity method in accordance with HKAS 28, are
determined solely on the basis of present ownership interests. The proportion allocated is
determined taking into account the eventual exercise of potential voting rights and other
derivatives that, in substance, give access at present to the economic benefits associated with
an ownership interest.

1G6. In some circumstances an entity has, in substance, a present ownership as a result of a
transaction that gives it access to the economic benefits associated with an ownership interest.
In such circumstances, the proportion allocated is determined taking inlo account the eventual
exercise of those potential voting rights and other derivatives that give the entity access to the
economic benefits at present.

1G7. HKAS 39 Financial Instruments: Raecognition and Measurement does not apply to interests in
subsidiaries, associates and jointly controlled entities that are consclidated, accounted for using
the equity method or proportionately consolidated in accordance with HIKAS 27, HKAS 28 and
HKAS 31 respectively. When instruments containing potential voting rights in substance
currently give access to the economic benefits associated with an ownership interest, and the
investment is accounted for in one of the above ways, the instruments are not subject to the
requirements of HKAS 39. In all other cases, instrumenls containing potential voting rights are
accounted for in accordance with HKAS 39.

Mustrative Examples

1G8. The five examples below each illustrate one aspect of a potential voting right. In applying HKAS
27, HKAS 28 or HKAS 31, an enlity considers all aspects. The existence of control, significant
influence and joint control can be determined onty after assessing the other factors described in
HKAS 27, HKAS 28 and HKAS 31. For the purpose of these examples, however, those other
factors are presumed not to affect the determination, even though they may affect it when
assessed.

Example 1; Options are out of the money

Entities A and B own 80 per cent and 20 per cent respectively of the ordinary shares that carry
voting rights at a general meeting of shareholders of Entity C. Entity A sells one-half of its
interest to Entity D and buys call options from Entity D that are exercisable at any time at a
prermium to the market price when issued, and if exercised would give Entity A its original 80 per
cent ownership interest and voting rights.

Though the options are out of the money, they are currently exercisable and give Entity A the
power to continue to set the operating and financial policies of Entity C, because Entity A could
exercise its options now. The existence of the potential voting rights, as well as the other factors
described in paragraph 13 of HKAS 27, are considered and it is determined that Entity A
controls Entity C.

Example 2: Possibility of exercise or convarsion

Entities A, B and C own 40 per cent, 30 per cent and 30 per cent respectively of the ordinary
shares that carry voting rights at a general meeting of shareholders of Entity D. Entity A also
owns call options thal are exercisable at any time at the fair value of the underlying shares and if
exercised would give it an additional 20 per cent of the voling rights in Entity D and reduce Entity
B's and Entity C’s inlerests to 20 per cent each. If the options are exercised, Entity A will have
control over more than one-half of the voting power. The existence of the potential voting rights,
as well as the other factors described in paragraph 13 of HKAS 27 and paragraphs 6 and 7 of
HKAS 28, are considered and it is determined that Entity A controls Entity D.

19



HKAS 27 (MarshDecember 2004) |

Example 3: Other rights that have the pofential lo increase an entity's voting power or reduce another
entity's voling power

Entities A, B and C own 25 per cent, 35 per cent and 40 per cent respectively of the ordinary
shares that carry voling rights at a general meeting of shareholders of Entity D. Entities B and C
also have share warrants that are exercisable at any time at a fixed price and provide potential
voting rights. Entity A has a call option to purchase these share warrants at any time for a
nominal amount. If the call option is exercised, Enlity A would have the polential to increase its
ownership interest, and thereby its voting rights, in Entity D to 51 per cent (and dilute Entity B's
interest to 23 per cent and Entity C's interest to 28 per cent).

Although the share warrants are not owned by Entity A, they are considered in assessing
caontrol because they are currently exercisable by Entities B and C. Normally, if an action (eg
purchase or exercise of another right) is required before an entity has ownership of a potential
voting right, the potential voling right is not regarded as held by the entity. However, the share
warrants are, in substance, held by Enlity A, because the terms of the call option are designed
to ensure Entity A's position. The combination of the call option and share wamants gives Entity
A the power to set the operating and financial policies of Entity D, because Entity A could
currently exercise the option and share wamrants. The other factors described in paragraph 13 of
HKAS 27 and paragraphs 6 and 7 of HKAS 28 are also considered, and it is determined that
Entity A, not Enlity B or C, controls Entity D.

Example 4: Management intention

Entities A, B and C each own 331/3 per cent of the ordinary shares that carry voting rights at a
general meeting of shareholders of Entity D. Entities A, B and C each have the right to appoint
two directors to the board of Entity D. Entity A also owns call options that are exercisable at a
fixed price at any time and if exercised would give it all the voling righis in Entity D. The
management of Entity A does not intend to exercise the call options, even if Entities B and C do
not vote in the same manner as Entity A. The existence of the potential voting rights, as well as
the other factors described in paragraph 13 of HKAS 27 and paragraphs 6 and 7 of HKAS 28,
are considered and it is determined that Entity A controls Entity D. The intention of Entity A’s
management does not influence the assessment.

Example 5: Financial ability

Entities A and B own 55 per cent and 45 per cent respectively of the ardinary shares that camy
voting rights at a general meeting of shareholders of Entity C. Entity B also holds debt
instruments that are convertible into ordinary shares of Entity C. The debt can be converted ata
substantial price, in comparison with Entity B's net assets, at any lime and if converted would
require Entity B to borrow additional funds to make the payment. If the debt were to be
converted, Entity B would hold 70 per cent of the voting rights and Entity A's interest would
reduce to 30 per cent.

Although the debt instruments are converlible at a substantial price, they are currently
convertible and the conversion feature gives Entity B the power to set the operating and
financial policies of Entity C. The existence of the potential voting rights, as well as the other
factors described in paragraph 13 of HKAS 27, are considered and it is determined that Entity B,
not Enlity A, controls Entity C. The financial ability of Entity B to pay the conversion price does
not influence the assessment.
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Annex 1(b)

HKAS-INT - 12 (March 2004)

Interpretation HKAS-INT - 12
Consolidation - Special Purpose Entities

Paragraph 14 of HKAS 1, Presentation of Financial Statements, requires that financial
statements should not be described as complying with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (HKFRSs) unless they comply with all the requirements of HKFRSs.
Interpretations are not intended to apply to immaterial items.

Reference: HKAS 27 Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements
ISSUE

1. An entity may be created to accomplish a narrow and well-defined objective (e.g., to
effect a lease, research and development activities or a securitisation of financial
assets). Such a special purpose entity (“SPE”) may take the form of a corporation,
trust, partnership or unincorporated entity. SPEs often are created with legal
arrangements that impose strict and sometimes permanent limits on the
decision-making powers of their governing board, trustee or management over the
operations of the SPE. Frequently, these provisions specify that the policy guiding the
ongoing activities of the SPE cannot be modified, other than perhaps by its creator or
sponser (i.e., they operate on so-called “autopilot™).

2, The sponsor (or entity on whose behalf the SPE was created) frequently transfers
assets to the SPE, obtains the right to use assets held by the SPE or performs services
for the SPE, while other parties (“capital providers™) may provide the funding to the
SPE. An entity that engages in transactions with an SPE (frequently the creator or
sponsor) may in substance control the SPE.

3 A beneficial interest in an SPE may, for example, take the form of a debt instrument,
an equity instrument, a participation right, a residual interest or a lease. Some
beneficial interests may simply provide the holder with a fixed or stated rate of return,
while others give the holder rights or access to other future economic benefits of the
SPE’s activities. In most cases, the creator or sponsor (or the entity on whose behalf
the SPE was created) retains a significant beneficial interest in the SPE’s activities,
even though it may own little or none of the SPE’s equity.

4. HKAS 27 requires the consolidation of entities that are controlled by the reporting
entity. However, the Standard does not provide explicit guidance on the consolidation
of SPEs.

5. The issue is under what circumstances an entity should consolidate an SPE.

6. This Interpretation does not apply to post-employment benefit plans or equity

compensation plans.

7. A transfer of assets from an entity to an SPE may qualify as a sale by that entity.
Even if the transfer does qualify as a sale, the provisions of HKAS 27 and this
Interpretation may mean that the entity should consolidate the SPE. This
Interpretation does not address the circumstances in which sale treatment should
apply for the entity or the climination of the consequences of such a sale upon
consolidation.
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CONSENSUS

An SPE should be consolidated when the substance of the relationship between an
entity and the SPE indicates that the SPE is controlled by that entity.

In the context of an SPE, control may arise through the predetermination of the
activities of the SPE (operating on “autopilot™) or otherwise. HKAS 27.13 indicates
several circumstances which result in control even in cases where an entity owns one
half or less of the voting power of another entity. Similarly, control may exist even in
cases where an entity owns little or none of the SPE’s equity. The application of the
control concept requires, in each case, judgement in the context of all relevant factors.

In addition to the situations described in HKAS 27.13, the following circumstances,
for example, may indicate a relationship in which an entity controls an SPE and
consequently should consolidate the SPE (additional guidance is provided in the
Appendix to this Interpretation):

(a) in substance, the activities of the SPE are being conducted on behalf of the
entity according to its specific business needs so that the entity obtains
benefits from the SPE’s operation;

(b) in substance, the entity has the decision-making powers to obtain the majority
of the benefits of the activities of the SPE or, by setting up an “autopilot™
mechanism, the entity has delegated these decision making powers;

(c) in substance, the entity has rights to obtain the majority of the benefits of the
SPE and therefore may be exposed to risks incident to the activities of the
SPE; or

(d) in substance, the entity retains the majority of the residual or ownership risks
related to the SPE or its assets in order to obtain benefits from its activities.

[Deleted]
BASIS FOR CONCLUSIONS

HKAS 27.12 states that “consolidated financial statements shall include all
substidiaries of the parent”. HKAS 27.04 defines a parent as “an entity that has one or
more subsidiaries”, a subsidiary as “an entity including an unincorporated entity such
as a partnership, that is controlled by another entity (known as the parent)”, and
control as “the power to govemn the financial and operating policies of an entity so as
to obtain benefits from its activities”. Paragraph 35 of the Framework and HKAS
8.10(b)(ii) require that transactions and other events are accounted for in accordance
with their substance and economic reality, and not merely their legal form.

Control over another entity requires having the ability to direct or dominate its
decision-making, regardless of whether this power is actually exercised. Under the
definitions of HKAS 27.04, the ability to govern decision-making alone, however, is
not sufficient to establish control. The ability to govern decision-making must be
accompanied by the objective of obtaining benefits from the entity’s activities.

SPEs frequently operate in a predetermined way so that no entity has explicit
decision-making authority over the SPE’s ongoing activities after its formation {i.¢.,
they operate on “autopilot”). Virtually all rights, obligations, and aspects of activities
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that could be controlled are predefined and limited by contractual provisions specified
or scheduled at inception. In these circumstances, control may exist for the
sponsoring party or others with a beneficial interest, even though it may be
particularly difficult to assess, because virtually all activities are predetermined.
However, the predetermination of the activities of the SPE through an “autopilot”
mechanism often provides evidence that the ability to control has been exercised by
the party making the predetermination for its own benefit at the formation of the SPE
and is being perpetuated.

Date of Issue: March 2004

Effective Date: This Interpretation becomes effective for annual financial periods beginning
on or after 1 January 2005; earlier application is encouraged. Changes in accounting policies
should be accounted for in accordance with HKAS 8.
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Appendix

The purpose of the appendix is to illustrate the application of the Interpretation to assist in
clarifying its meaning.

INDICATORS OF CONTROL OVER AN SPE
The examples in paragraph 10 of this Interpretation are intended to indicate types of
circumstances that should be considered in evaluating a particular arrangement in light of the
substance-over-form principle. The guidance provided in the Interpretation and in this
Appendix is not intended to be used as “a comprehensive checklist” of conditions that must
be met cumulatively in order to require consolidation of an SPE.

(a) Activities

The activities of the SPE, in substance, are being conducted on behalf of the reporting entity,
which directly or indirectly created the SPE according to its specific business needs,

Examples are:

] the SPE is principally engaged in providing a source of long-term capital to
an entity or funding to support an entity’s ongoing major or central operations;
or

] the SPE provides a supply of goods or services that is consistent with an

entity’s ongoing major or central operations which, without the existence of
the SPE, would have to be provided by the entity itself. Economic
dependence of an entity on the reporting entity (such as relations of suppliers
to a significant customer) does not, by itself, lead to control.

(b) Decision-making
The reporting entity, in substance, has the decision-making powers to control or to
obtain control of the SPE or its assets, including certain decision-making powers
coming into existence after the formation of the SPE. Such decision making powers

may have been delegated by establishing an “autopilot” mechanism.

Examples are;

] power to unilaterally dissolve an SPE;
[ ] power to change the SPE’s charter or bylaws; or
] power to veto proposed changes of the SPE’s charter or bylaws.

(c) Benefits

The reporting entity, in substance, has rights to obtain a majority of the benefits of the SPE’s
activities through a statute, contract, agreement, or trust deed, or any other scheme,
arrangement or device. Such rights to benefits in the SPE may be indicators of control when
they are specified in favour of an entity that is engaged in transactions with an SPE and that
entity stands to gain those benefits from the financial performance of the SPE.



Examples are:

(d)  Risks

HKAS-INT - 12 {March 2004)

rights to a majority of any economic benefits distributed by an entity in the
form of future net cash flows, earnings, net assets, or other economic benefils;
or

rights to majority residual interests in scheduled residual distributions or in a
liquidation of the SPE.

An indication of control may be obtained by evaluating the risks of each party engaging in
transactions with an SPE. Frequently, the reporting entity guarantees a return or credit
protection directly or indirectly through the SPE to outside investors who provide
substantially all of the capital to the SPE. As a result of the guarantee, the entity retains
residual or ownership risks and the investors are, in substance, only lenders because their
exposure to gains and losses is limited.

Examples are:

the capital providers do not have a significant interest in the underlying net
assets of the SPE;

the capital providers do not have rights to the future economic benefits of the
SPE,

the capital providers are not substantively exposed to the inherent risks of the
underlying net assets or operations of the SPE; or

in substance, the capital providers receive mainly consideration equivalent to
a lender’s return through a debt or equity interest,



b

2.005 FRS 5 SUBSTANCE OF TRANSACTIONS 3

[FRS 5]
Reporting the substance of transactions

(Issued April 1994, amended December 1994 and September 1998)

Financial Reporting Standard 5 is set out in pamgm;_:hs 1—39.“ o
The Statement of Standard Accounting Practice set out in paragraphs 11-39 sl;:;uld‘
be read in the context of the Objective as stated in paragraph 1 and the deﬁr:k onﬂ;
set out in paragraphs 2-10 and also of the Foreword to Accounting Standard aﬂ‘

the Statement of Principles for Financial Reporting c‘:frremly in is‘s[le_.-. R ‘b‘

The Application Notes specify how some of the requirements of FRS 5 are to_bg Contents
applied to transactions that have certain features. ISR & R
' he Application Notes shall beS Paragraph
Th lanation set oul in paragraphs 40-103 and ¢ e grap
rtg:% as part of the Statement of Standard Accounting Practice _iusq{a: as they o .
assist in interpreting tha; statement. C _ ' L . .)E .Su_xj:mﬂry ‘ . o a-n
Appendix IIl ‘The development of the FRS’ reviews considerations and argiiméens} Fim}ncial Reporting Standard 5
that were thought significant by members of the Board In "’“"'M"g the m"chfﬁ : g .
on FRS 5. ' o ) I oo ' 81 Objective ‘ 1
' Definitions A T
' £! Statement of Standard Accounting Practice . 11-39
....... I -‘Scope . L 11-13
A -+ Application to smaller entities - 13A
3 General o . 14-15
i r The substance of transactions . . 14
By Quasi-subsidiaties . : - : 15
L' The substance of transactions - : - 16-31
&1 Identifying assets and liabilities v ~ - 16-19
B - Recognition of asset and liabilities Co T 20
- Transactions in previously recognised assets LR 21-25
" Continued recognition of an asset in iis entirety : o 21
Ceasing to recognise an asset in its entirety ) - 22
© Special cases . ' C T 2324
;.'rj The meaning of “significant” ' o o 25
o -Y * Linked presentation for certain noa-recourse finance arrangements  26-28
- 2% Offset - 29
X “ Disclosure of the substance of transactions o 30-31
4 ‘Quasi-subsidiaries ' ' - 32-38
: Identification of quasi-subsidiaries : 32-34
BC Accounting for quasi-subsidiaries , 35-37 -
RE\ ‘Disclosure of quasi-subsidiaries 38
pes- Date from which effective : ' ’ 39
210 211
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Explanation
Scope e e T
Exclusions from the Frs
Other standards

The substance of transactions
General principles
Features of more complex transactions
(a) Separation of legal title from benefits and risks
(b) Linking of transactions
{c) Inclusion of options

Assessing commercial effect by Eonsidering the position of -

other parties
Identifying assets and liabilities

Assets - control of access to benefits S e

Assets — risk

Liabilities — obligations to transfer beneﬁts

QOptions

Guarantees and conditional provisions
Recognition of assets and labilities

Transacttons in previously recogmsed assets ... L vg.nee

Continued recognition of an asset in its entirety
Ceasing to recognise an asset in its entxrery
Special cases

(a} Transfer of only part of an item

(b} Transfer of an item for only part of its life

{c) Transfer of an item for all of its hfe with some beneﬁr or

risk retained W
Measurement and profit recognition. . - ...
The meaning of ‘significant’

Linked presentation for certain. non-recourse ﬁnanoe arrangements .

General principles

Separate presentation of an a.s'ser and Itabnl:ty . " ..}-. .

Linked presentation
Detailed conditions for use of a linked presentation
Profit or loss recognition and presentation .

Offset
Disclosure of the substance of trapsacnons

Quasi-subsidiaries
Identification of quasi-subsidiaries
Benefits . _.
Control L
Accounting for quasi-subsidiaries _
Disclosure of quasi-subsidiaries

719

FRS 5 SUBSTANCE OF TRANSACTIONS

Application notes

A CONSIGNMENT STOCK

B SALE AND REPURCHASE AGREEME
. C FACTORING OF DEBTS e
~ D SECURITISED ASSETS

E LOAN TRANSFERS

F PRIVATE FINANCE INITIATIVE AND SIMILAR CONTRACTS
& Adoption of rrs 5 by the Board

' Appéndices

l} ‘Note on legal requirements
Compliance with International Accoun
ting Stand
II The development of the Frs g Standards
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Reporting the substance of transactions

Summarj
k- GENERAL

_' . Financial Reporting Standard 5 ‘Reporting the Substance of Transactions’ requires

an entity’s financial statements to report the substance of the transactions into which
it has entered. The Frs sets out how to determine the substance of a transaction
(including how to identify its effect on the -assets and liabilities of the entity),
whether any resulting assets and liabilities should be included in the balance sheet,
and what disclosures are appropriate. The Frs also contains some provisions in
- respect of how transactions should be reported in the profit and loss account and the
* cash flow statement.

The rrs will not change the accounting treatment and disclosure of the vast majority

of transactions. It will mainly affect those more complex transactions whose sub-

stance may not be readily apparent. The true commercial effect of such transactions

may not be adequately expressed by their legal form and, where this is the case, it

will not be sufficient to account for them merely by recording that form.

- Transactions requiring particularly careful analysis will often include features such
ag— °

(i) the party that gains the principal benefits generated by an item is not the legal
owner of the item, : .

(i) + a transaction is linked with others in such a way that the commercial effect can

Bt 1., .. be understood only by considering the series as a whole, or

- (iif) an option is included on terms that make its exercise highly likely.

¢ The FRs sets out principles that will apply to all. transactions. In addition, there are
K five Application Notes that describe the application of the rrs to transactions with
I certain features: consignment stock; sale and repurchase ‘agreements; factoring;
P, securitised assets; and loan transfers. The Application Notes need not be referred to

e 10 all cases. At the start of each Note there is 2 ‘Features’ section that may serve as
;? a'quick reference point to determine whether further study is réquired. In addition,
& ¢ich Note concludes with a table summarising its main provisions.

<y

Bl - T ‘ .
B Identification and recognition of the substance of fransactions

WA key step in determining the substance of any transaction is to identify whether it

ghas given rise to new assets or liabilities for the eatity and whether it has increased

or decreased the entity’s existing assets or liabilities, Assets are, broadly, rights or

er access to future economic benefits cohtrolled by an entity; liabilities are,
dly, an entity’s obligations to transfer economic benefits.’ ‘

215
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The future economic benefits inherent in an asset are never completely certainie cient for this purpose. However

amount; there is always some risk that the benefits will tum out to be greater or ke Eability differs from that of items us

than expected. Whether the eatity gains or suffers from such variations in benefitizg peading, the differences should be explained. Furtherms

evidence of whether it has an asset. -~~~ :.:-° fiansaction has not resulted in the recognition l;Jf assets Orcl)irael"jlthj‘:t)ic:el;.l iiiif::ggl:r::hz:a;
¥

. . \ .
n{:eless be rquued in orr:Ier to give an understanding of its commercial

where the nature of any recognised asset or
vally found under the relevant balance sheet

The definition of a liability requires an obligation to transfer benefits. Evidé
an entity has such an obligation is given if there is some circumstance in_wm
entity is unable to avoid an outflow of benefits. =~ o Crwerntils :
. S B S A A
Once identified, an asset or liability should be recognised (ie included) in the b
sheet, provided that there'is sufficient evidence that an asset or liability exists;
the asset or liability can be measured at a monetary amount with gufﬁcier:{t
bi]ity‘ - = Lo TR PR £

N .

e;xdes ;ss&:ltls and liab'ilitics are'placed in an entity (a ‘vehicle’) that is in effect
e \\?h e reporting entity: but does not meet the legal definition of a
ary. Where the commercial effact for the reporting entity is no different from

which v.vouid resqlt were the vehicle_ a subsidiary, the vehicle will be a ‘quasi-

. ' .
uln [
.

Following its recognition, an asset may be affected by a subsequent transad
Where the transaction does not significantly alter the entity’s rights to benefits ox it}
exposure to risks, the entire asset should continue to be recognised. Cohversty;
where the transaction transfers to others all significant rights to benefits sid SN
significant exposure to risks, the entity should cease to recognise t.he asset*iiy
entirety. Finally, in other cases where not all significant benefits and risks hgv;‘t
transferred, it may be appropriate to amend the description or monetary amo
an asset and, where necessary, recognise a liability for any obligations
assumed_ o s oo ! R 141

profits, losses and -c'ash ﬁoﬁ of an i
)sse s y quasi-
dated financial statements of the groug that
zirg tpose of a subsidiary, However, where a
. ic _ citem in such a way that the provisi
o1 g;aepshog ta;ull;ove.'.a._re met _from the point of view of the group, thl; ass.c;t‘;n::::::lf
Sy quasx-substdlmy_should be included-in consolidated financial state-
using-the linked presentation described in paragraph j. :

trols it.-hin. the same way as if.they w.
-subsidiary is used to finance a spe

osure i i i :
is reqmrgd, In summary form, of the financial statements of quasi-

Linked presentation for certain non-recourse finance arrangements 1

: B
A special form of presentation, termed a ‘linked presentation’, s_hould"t_:_é.*:
“certain nmon-recourse finance arrangéments. This presentation shows, on the i
the balance sheet, the finance deducted from the gross amount of the iten if finAnGE
1t should be used where, although the entity has significant rights to bgqeﬁtg:
exposure to risks relating to a specific item, the item is financed in such a way
maximum loss the entity can suffer is limited to a fixed monetary amount-Fozt
a linked presentation it is necessary that both - - 2 R

Financial Reporting Standard 5 - -
Objective
bjective of this Frs is to ensure that the substance of an eﬁtity’s ti'anéactions is

. N P L ed in its financial statements. The commerci .
(i) the finance will be repaid only from proceeds generated by the specificit N 4nd &ny’ resulting assets; liabilities, gainrsmz]r elfézsc;s?fsthhe ;:: Flbty s Lensac
finances (or by transfer of the item itself) and there is no possibility whatpge AR ntég in'its financial statements.. =" . 1 e ... . 0" be faithfully
of a claim on the entity being established other than against funds geneg? L S
that item (or the item itself), and '

(i) there is no provision whatsoever whereby the entity may either ksﬁp’_
e 00

1

vy the entity oy | Definitions

on repayment of the finance or re-acquire it at any time. T = . . A

. ) L e ey <H X ,\,Wﬂﬁiﬁr:g:mgta::apply in rhispnsaﬁdinpammlaﬁn the Statement

Disclosure of the substance of transactions : A FIng Tractice set out in paragraphs 11-39.
. . . . ot i . b i

Adequate disclosure of a transaction is important.to, an understand

: \ : kot othér access to future economie
_ commercial effect. For most transactions, the disclosures currently.req

; g benefitg -
nsactions or eveats; - .- o ts © Q?tmu.é,(.i.b.y an-entity as a result
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- vehicle that, though not fulfilling the definition of a subsidiary, is directly:

-ty economic benefit from its-activities.-

ERE. Y
o

9

)

2.005

i

ol tirr

Contro! in the context of an asset.- - tVitR

The ability to obtain the future economic benefits relating to an asset and to restrict 2§
Coad ol

the access of others to those benefits.

Liabilities:- St o : S e
An entity’s obligations to transfer economic benefits as a result of past transactions
or events. . S

. kY
Risk- - - .
Uncertainty as to the amount of benefits. The term includes both potential for gain
and exposure to loss. P ) o Co g
Recognition- L

The process of incorporating an item into the primary financial statements under the
appropriate heading. It involves depiction of the item in words and by a monetary
amount and inclusion of that amount in the statement totals. - T 8

“

Quasi-subsidiary:- : : : T S ; :
A quasi-subsidiary of a reporting entity is'a company, trust, partnership or other

indirectly controlled by the reporting entity and gives rise to benefits for that enti

that are in-giibstance no different from those that would arise were the vehicle/a 3 '

subsidiary. , %
Control of another entity:- o ] L "
The abiility to direct the financial and operating policies of that entity with a view to 3

Subsidiary:- . .
A subsidiary undertaking as defined by oo_n_lpaqjes legislation. . .

Companies legislation:-

(a) . In Great Britain, the Companies Act 1985; : - s

(b) in Northern Iretand, the Companies (Northern Iretand) Order-1986; and.«

{c) inthe Republic of Ireland, the Republic of Ireland Companies Acts 1963
and the European Communities (Companies: Group Accounts) Regulati
1992. : ‘

-
P

Statement of Standard Accounﬁng Practice.. .- '
SCOPE T

Subject to paragraph 12, Financial Reporting Standard 5'applies to all transactiot
of a reporting entity whose financial statements are intended to give a true and faiy

218
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[ view of its financial position and profit or loss (or income and expenditure) for a
K- period. In the Frs, the term ‘transaction’ includes both a single transaction or
b arrangement and also a group or series of transactions that achieves or is designed to
i achieve an overail commercial effect. »

-3

,'* “The following are excluded from the scope of the Frs, unless they are a part of a

k. transaction that falls within the scope of the Frs:- - :

: ~ forward contracts and futures (such as those for foreign currencies or commod-
ities), : S :
foreign exchange and interest rate swaps;

1., ina price or an index (sometimes referred to as ‘contracts for differences’); -
d) expenditure commitments (such as purchase commitments) and orders placed,

' until the earlier of delivery or payment; and .

. employment contracts. )

'.\;Vhere the substance of a transaction or thé treatment of any resulting asset or
k. Liability falls not only within the scope of this Frs but also directly within the scope

B of another Frs, a Statement of Standard Accounting Practice ('SSAP"), or a specific

# statutory requirement governing the recognition of assets or liabilities, the standard
or statute that contains the more specific provision(s) should be applied..

» g entities applylring.tbe-Financial ll.leporting Standard for Smallef Entities
E: currently applicable are exempt from this accounting standard upless preparing
2 consolidated financial statements, in which case they should apply the Frs to such

¥ statements as required by the FRSSE.

i -
Reportin

!" ibstance of transactions

A reporting entity’s financial statements should report the substance of the transac-
uons into which it has éntered. In determining the substance of a transaction, all its
Jaspects and implications should be identified and greater weight given to those more
likely to have a commercial effect in practice. A group or series of transactions that
: eyes or is designed to achieve an overall commercial effect should be viewed as
phole.: . -

-3

!

219

(c). - contracts where a pet amount will be paid or received based on the movement .

13A

14
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18

21

" Identifying assets and liabilities |
- To determine the substance of a transaction it is necessary to identify whether the

whether it has changed the entity’s e_xistjpg_ asset; or liat?ilitie_sl.' L

. is given if the entity is exposed to the risks inherent in the benefits, taking into R

. Where a trapsaction results in an item that meets the definition of an asset

2.005 : FRS § SUBSTANCE OF TRANSACTIONS Mt  FRS 5 SUBSTANCE OF TRANSACTIONS 2005

Quasi-subsidiaries ’ . I oo : B i {b) its exposure to the risks inherent in tbo_se benefits,

- ' ) : ST the entire asset should continue to be rewgnﬁed. In particular this will be the case
Where the entity has a_Q}IRSl-Slﬁbillf‘ljla;ye. :he :;lt:sdn;i-;ce o::s txdamsted ﬁa?:iainsteate- 8 for any transaction that is in substance a financing of a previously recognised asset,
into by the quasi-subsidiary sho °p _ -4 unless the conditions for a linked presentation given in paragraphs 26 and 27 are
ments. ‘ _ - £, met, in which case such a présentation should be used. I
TIIE SUBSTA-NCE OF TRANSACHONS B ) . o . :'; .?'. Ce&sing ro recogn"_gé an as‘set in i‘sm’ﬂ'rety
B P T LU PPN POVt LA SR LU P b : . I .o e
t.  Where a transaction involving a previously recognised asset transfers to others —
o . {a):-all significant rights or other access to benefits relating to that asset, and
¥ (b) all significant exposure to the risks inherent in those benefits,

transaction has given rise to new assets or liabilities for the reporting e‘n_tit?( ang X

the entire asset should cease to be recognised.

Evidence that an entity has rights or other access to benefits (and hence has an asset) - Special cases
. . . : : N}
account the likelihood of those risks having a commerclal_ effect'm practlcg. o ’

Paragraphs 21 and 22 deal with most transactions affecting items previously recog-
it

nised as assets. In other cases where there is a significant change in the entity’s rights
to benefits and exposure to risks but the provisions of paragraph 22 are not met, the
description or monetary amount relating to an asset should, where necessary, be
changed and a liability recognised for any obligations to transfer benefits that are

sumed. These cases arise where the transaction takes one or more of the following
forms: ) IR :

Evidence that an entity has an obligation to transfer benefits (and hence has-a 5
liability) is given if there is some circumstance in which the entity is unable ‘t_g a_\{?ls
legally or commercially, an outflow of benefits. T ¢
‘Where a transaction incorporates one or more.options, guarantees or conditional

provisions, their commercial effect should be assessed in the_ context of all th
aspects and implications of the transaction in order to determine what assets and:

) L T oy

liabilities exist. - e : :

(a) - a transfer of anly part of the item in question; .

(b) - a transfer of all of the item for only part of its life; and - :

(¢) a transfer of all of the item for all of its life but where the entity retains some
¢ significant right to benefits or exposure to risk.- ~ ~ = - '
In the special cases referred to in paragraph 23, where the amount of any resulting
5 gain or loss is uncertain, full provision should be made for any probable loss but
g recognition of any gain, to the extent it is in doubt, should be deferred. In addition,
% where the uncertainty could have a material effect on the financial statements, this
B+ fact should be disclosed in the notes to the financial statements. '

Recognition of assets and liabilities

e

liability, that item should be recognised in the balance sheet if - S 7

.

(a) there is sufficient evidence of the existence of the item ('mcl_ud'mg, where
appropriate, evidence that a future inflow or outflow of bene!'lt will qcm_lr_), an
(b) the item can be measured at a monetary amount with sufficient reliability . ¢'meaning of ‘significant’
ot s ' - -
- pidn applying paragraphs 21-23 above and paragraph 26 below, ‘significant’ should be
bjudged in relation to those benefits and risks that are likely to occur in practice, and
Rriot in Telation to the total possible benefits and risks. o .

1 e

Transactions In previously recognised assets . -
Continued recognition of an asset in its entirety * " '" - ' A . | ‘
ked préséprqti&u Jor certain non-recourse finance arrangements

Where a transaction involving a previously recognised asset results in no si

change in - - ‘a transaction' involving an item previously recognised as an asset is in
(a) the entity’s rights or other access to benefits relating to that asset, or * nce a financing - and theréfore meets the condition of paragraph 21 regarding
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no significant change in the entity’s access to benefits or exposure to risks — but the
financing ‘ring-fences’ the item such that - . ;

(2

(®)
©

the finance should be shown deducted from the gross amount of the item it finances
on the face of the balance sheet within a single asset caption- (a ‘linked presenta-
tion’). The gross amounts of the item and the finance should be shown on the face of
the balance sheet and not merely disclosed in the notes to the financial statements.
A linked presentation should also be used where an item that is financed in such a
way that all of the above three conditions are met has not been recognised previous}y

as an asset.

A linked presentation should be used only where ali of the fol]owiné are met:..: 1t

(@)
(b)

©

(d)

(¢}
]
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proceeds (to the extent these are sufficient) or the item will be trans-
ferred to the provider of the finance in full and final settiement.

the finance will b repaid only from proceeds generated by the specific item'it
financés (or by transfer of the item itself) and there is no possibility whatsoever
of a claim on the entity being established other than ‘against funds gerierated by
that item (or the item itself), : C s T
there is no provision whatsoever whereby the entity may either keep the item
on repayment of the finance or re-acquire it at any time, and R
all of the conditions given in paragraph 27 are met, . o ,

Where all of these conditions hold for only part of the finance, a linked presentation
should be used for only that part. In such cases, the maximum future payment that
Fhe reporting entity could make (other than from funds generated by the specific
item being financed) should be excluded from the amount deducted on the face of
the balance sheet. : ’

In respect of an arrangement for which a linked presentation is used, profit should be
_recognised on entering into the arrangement only to the extent that the non-
returnable proceeds received exceed the previous carrying value ‘of the item.
The:reafter, any profit or loss deriving from the item should be recognised in the
penod in which it arises. The net profit or loss recognised in each period should be
included in the profit and loss account and separate disclosure of its gross compo-
nents should be given in the notes to the financial statements.

s Offset '
Assets and _liabi'lititj.s'shduld not be offset. Debit and credit balances should be
aggregated into a single net iterd where, and only where, they do not constitute

the finance relates to a specific item (or portfolio of similar items) and, in the .23
separate assets and liabilities,’ i_e' where, ‘and only where, all of the following

case of a loan, is secured on that item but not on any other asset of the entity; 3
the provider of the finance has no recourse whatsoever, ¢ither explicit of
implicit, to the other assets of the eatity for losses and the entity has
obligation whatsoever to repay the provider of finance; T
the directors of the entity state explicitly in each set of financial statements
where a linked presentation is used that the entity is not obliged to support an]
losses, nor does it intend to'doso;. - -7 S
the provider of the finance has agreed in writing (in the finance documentation 38
or otherwise) that it will seek repayment of the finance, asto both principal and
interest, only to the extent that sufficient funds are generated by the specificy
item it has financed and that it will not seek recourse in any ‘other form,fand i§
such agreement.is noted in' each set of financial statements wheré a- linked M
presentation is used; " S B A
if the funds generated by the item are insufficient to pay off the provider of
finance, this-does not constitute an event of default for the entity; and
there is no’ provision whatsoever, ¢ither in the financing arrangement, or3
otherwise, whereby the entity has a right or an obligation éither to keep the!
item upon repayment of the finance or (where title to the item ‘has beenj
transferred) to re-acquire it at any time. Accordingly: “ 1 el
(i) where the item is one (such as a monetary receivable) that directlyd
generates cash, the provider of the finance will be repaid out of the]
resulting cash receipts (to the extent these are sufficient); OF .- v, 1w §2
(i) where the item is one (such as a physical asset) that does not direct
generate cash, there is a definite point at which either the item will B
sold to a third party and the provider of .the finance regaid from:th

- conditions are met:

" (a) The reporting entity and another party owe each other determinable monetary
..., amounts, denominated either in the same currency, or in different but freely
ou. - convertible currencies. For this purpose a freely convertible currency is one for
e which quoted exchange rates are available in an active market that can rapidly
. _abtsorb the amount to be offset without significantly affecting the exchange
rate;

(b} Tl§e repor?ing entity has the ability to insist on a net settlement. In determining
this, any right to insist on a net settlement that is contingent should be taken
into account only if the reporting entity is able to enforce net settlement in all
situations of default by the other party; and '

¢).. The reporting entity’s ability to insist on a net settlement is assured beyond

4o doubt: Itis essential that there is no possibility that the entity could be required

;o transfer economic benefits to another party whilst being unable to enforce

.its own access to economic benefits. For this to be the case it is necessary that

- the debit balance matures no later than the credit balance. It is also necessary

G Fhat the reporting entity’s ability to insist on a net settlement would survive the

insolvency of the other party. ) '

[ .

¥y Disclosure of the substance of m.mz':rions
ErOfHz i : N .

| Disclosu;e of a u?{ns.actio:! in the financial statements, whether or not it has resulted
sassets’ or liabilities bemg'rewggised or ceasing to be recognised, should be
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sufficient to enable the user of the financial statements to understand its commercial - . subsidiary is held exclusively with a view to subsequent resale* and the
effect. ' : ' o '

quasi-subsidiary has not previously been included in the reporting entity’s con-
solidated financial statements. :

Where a transaction has resulted in the recognition of assets ot liabilities whose = 8 - o
nature differs from that of items usually included under the relevant balance sheet. & Where a quasi-subsidiary hold_s asingleitem ora smgle portfolio of similar ntem{s.and
heading, the differences should be explained. ‘ S the effect of the arrangement is to finance the item in such a way that the provisions

? : S - of paragraphs 26 and 27 are met from the point of view of the group, the quasi-

subsidiary should be included. in consolidated financial staterents using a linked
presentation. - : .

att

QUASI-SUBSIDIARIES

Identification of quasi;;ubsfdiaries' _ Disclosure of quasi-subsidiaries
. . PR A, .fo.r.t‘]:{e" '
In determining whether another entity (a ‘vehicle’) gives rise to benefits
reporting entitgy that are in substance no different from those that v'ﬂould arise were
the vehicle a subsidiary, regard should be had to the benefits arising from the, 1;'1et__
assets of the vehicle. Evidence of which party gains these benefits is given I'Jy which
party is exposed to the risks inherent in them.

.Where one or more quasi-subsidiaries are included in consolidated financial state-
ments, this fact should be disclosed. A summary of the financial statements of each
quasi-subsidiary should be provided in the notes to the financial statements, unless
the reporting entity has more than one quasi-subsidiary of a similar nature, in which
case the summary may be given on a combined basis. These summarised financial
statements should show separately each main heading in the balance sheet, profit
and loss account, statement of total recognised gains and losses and cash flow
statement for which there is 2 material item, together with comparative figures.

LT

In determining whether the reporting entity control§ a vehi‘cl.e regard shou-ld be had
to who, in practice, directs the financial and operating pqhmes of the velncle._. 'It‘]hlg
ability to prevent others from directing those policies is t?v:ldence of co_ntrolz as ,IS the
ability to prevent others from enjoying the benefits arising from the vehicle's net
assets. : . - . .

the financial and rating policies of a vehicle are in su}')stance pre-
:?tl:::xined, contractually :fzthem'ise, the party possessing control will be the one
that gains the benefits arising from the/net assets of the vehicle. Evidence of which

DATE FROM WHICH EFFECTIVE |~
P .Subjéct to paragraph 35A, the accounting practices set out in the Frs should be
regarded as standard in respect of financial statements relating to accounting periods

ending on or after 22 September 1994.+ Earlier adoption is encouraged but not
required. T '

- {a} The requirements of paragraph 29 in so far as they relate to balances arising
- either from insurance broking transactions or, for insurers (including Lloyd’s
;% ° syndicates), from insurance transactions placed through brokers, and
g: (b) “the accounting practices set out in the FRrs, in so far as they relate to financial
1"”" reinsurance accounted for by Lloyd’s syndicates as at 31 December 1993,

Accounting for quasi-subsidiaries

‘edto;;magraphﬂ,theassets,liabﬂiﬁa,m,lmmdmhﬂmofa qu
!ssl‘::]sidiary should be included in the group financial sta'te_l:nents of the group th
ountmlsitinthesmewzyasiftheywerethoseofasubmdmry.Whereanentxty
a quast sdiary but no sobsidiaries and therefore does not prepare group I
statemcnts,itshouldpmvideinitsﬁnancialstntcmeptscomohdat.ed financisk
statements of itself and the quasi-subsidiary, prmtedmthequalpmmmemem
reporting entity’s individual financial statements. : :

uld be regarded as standard in respect of financial statements relating to
#oounting periods ending on or after 22 September-1996. Where, in accordance
fwith the previous sentence, the accounting practices set out in the Frs are not applied
for accounting periods ending on or after 22 September 1994, this fact and, where
le, a quantification of the effect should be disclosed. :
should be applied by following the requirements. regarc
g:;;?::lt)i‘;nsgf consolidated gx’;andatljztatements set out in companies le.g;slatl
in xs 2 ‘Accounting for Subsidiary Undertakings'.- However, quasi-subsidiagy
should be excluded from consolidation only. where the interest. in- thequae

inFRS 2, jmmgraph 1. . . h !
note The effective date for Application Noté F Private Finance Initiative and Similar Contracts is
gbertod:md?_!g_on or after 10 Septernber 1998, Tt
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Explanation

SCOPE

The scope of the FRs, as set out in paragraph 11, extends to'all kinds of transaqtious',

subject only to the exclusions given in paragraph 12. Most trarisactions are straight- '

forward, giving rise to a number of standard rights and obligations with the result

that their substance and commercial effect are readily apparent. ‘Applying estab- )

lished accounting practices will be sufficient to ensure that the substance of such

transactions is properly reported in the financial statements, without the need to .

refer to the Frs. ey

Oonvemly,,applﬁng established accoﬁnting practices may not be sufficient t_p'
portray the substance of

in order to-ensure that their substancé is correctly idéntified and properly repor-

ted. . . . .. . - s . - ..—)

Exclusions from the rrs

Paragraph 12 excludes from :
where they are merely a part of a transaction (or of a group or series of transactions)

that falls within the Fms. For example, an’ interest rate swap forming part ofa ;

securitisation would fall to be considered under the Frs in relation to its role in the

securitisation, Conversely, an interest rate swap that was né more than a part ofan 3
entity’s overall treasury management activities would fall outside the scope of the 3%

C oy

FRS. 4
]

Other standards : : sy

The Frs sets out geperal principles relevant to reporting the substance of all
transactions. Other accounting standards, the Application Notes of the Frs and
companies legislation apply general principles to particular transactions or eveats. It
follows that where a transaction falls within the scope of both the rrs and another
accounting standard or statute, whichever contains the more specific provisio;
should be applied. Nevertheless, the specific provisions of any standard or statu
should be applied to the substance of the transaction and not merely to its legal f
and, for this purpose, the general principles set out in Frs 5 will be relevant. ., |

. P LT .
Pension obligations are an example of an item falling within the scope of both Frs 5 ¥
and another standard, the latter being ssap 24 ‘ Accounting for pension costs’. ASSSAP : .

24 contains the more specific provisions on accounting for pension obligations an

does not require consolidation of pension funds, such funds.should not be._co_n-’
solidated as quasi-sgbsidiarics. Frs 5, however, contains the more specific ptovisi .

more complex transactions whose commercial effect may
not be readily apparent. For such transactions it will be necessary to referto the FRs 3573

the FRs certain contracts for future performance except “a#

-
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in respect of certain other transactions that may take place between an entity and its
pension fund, for example a sale and repurchase agreement relating to one of the
entity’s properties. . - : RS S

The relationship between ssap 21 ‘Accounting for lease and hire purch.ase contracts’

and ¥rs 5 is particularly close. In general, ssap 21 contains the more specific
provisions governing accounting for stand-alone leases that fall wholly within its
parameters, although the general principles of the Frs will also be relevant in

g .cuspn'ng that leases are classified as finance or operating leases in accordance with
their substance, However, for some lease arrangements, and particularly for those

that are merely one element of a larger arrangement, the Frs will contain the more
specific provisions: An example is a sale and leaseback arrangement where there is
also an option for the seller/lessee to repurchase the asset; in this case the provisions
of Application Note B are more specific than those of ssap 21. :

' THE SUBSTANCE OF TRANSACTIONS |

General principles

I’aragral?h 14 of the Frs sets out general principles for reporting the substance of a
transaction. Particularly for more complex .transactions, it will not be sufficient
merely to record the transaction’s legal form, as to do so may not adequately express
the commercial effect of the arrangements. Notwithstanding this caveat, the Frs is
pot intended to affect the legal characterisation of a transaction, or to change the
situation at law achieved by.the parties to it. - . S S

Features of more complex transactions

Trapsactions requiring particularly éqreful analysis will often include features such
as - Y '

(a) thg sgaparation of legal title to an item from rights or other access to the
pr!nt:!pal future economic benefits associated with it and exposure to the
pnngpal risks inherent in those benefits,*
the linking of a transaction with others in such a way that the commercial effect
, ....can be understood only by considering the series as a whole, or

. the inclusion of options or conditions on terms that make it highiy likely that
....the option will be exercised or the condition fulfilled. ' '

i (a) Sep&mrian of legal title from benefits and risks .

SRR : e . -
A familiar example of the separation of legal title from benefits and risks is a finance

lease, Another is goods sold under réservation of title. In both cases, the location of

o ease of reading, 'rights or other decess (o future econemic denefits' a‘.vje frequently referred to hereafter ay

. “Hights to benefits’ or ‘benefity’, and “exposure (o the risks inkerent in those benefits’ is frequently referred to

hereafter as ‘exposure (o risks’ or 'risks”.

-
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- legal title will not normally be expected tohave a commercial effect in practice. Thus

49

51

52

the party having the benefits and risks relating to the underlying property should-

in i i t have legal title:
ise an assct in its balance sheet even ghough it does no i
lz;:;i.l‘-)zf:gliments involving the separation of legal title from b_t_anefits and nsks:a:edeal‘t
with in detail in Application Note B. e
(b) Lhkingafrramactiom o : S J |
inki nsacti l ibiliti ting legal’
i of two or more transactions extends the Possxbﬂme§ for separating | '
;[i?l: trh’:;‘;n lfe'neﬁts and risks: A sale of goods linked with a commitment to n_apurchxe
may leave the original owner with the principal beneﬁts gnd'nsks. relating to mp
goods if the repurchase price is set at the costs, inclqdmg interest, mcmj_red b_yl e
other party in holding the goods. In such a case, application of the Frs will resu tth in
the transaction being accounted for as a financing rather than a sz_lle, 'showmg e
asset and a corresponding liability on the balance sheet of the original owner. . . ;y. -

(c) Inclusion of options C e :

Some sale transactions are accompani¢d by an option, rather than a commitment,

for either the original owner to repurchase or the buyer to resell. Often the

. . . o !\-

ercial effect of such an arrangement is that an economic pen?lty .(s_uch.ajs th_g‘ .
?:ttgl:ing of a profit) would be suffered by-the party-hawpg the gmgn if naflaélzc‘l:;ﬁ '
exercise it. Some transactions incorporate both a pl_lt OPUOD for the :iglrlelr ind & 188
option for the original owner, in such a way that it wﬂl almost cert fy e 1
commercial interests of one of the parties to exercise its option (e;s or t;xa::afﬂ
where both options have the same exercise price and_ are exgr.cfsab 1:. :‘;31 :ﬁginal ;
date). In such cases, there will be no genuine cor.nmgrmal possnblhsvyntl atthe g ;
owner will fail to repurchase the item and application of the Frs will again resul
the transaction being accounted for as a financing rather than a sale.

Assessing commercial effect by considering the position of other parties e

Whatever the substance of a transaction, it will uormally.have oqmmerc:ﬂa;l lpg§c tf?;rf
each of the parties to it. If a transaction appears to lack such logic ﬁg;n the pmfn [

view of one or more parties, this may indicate that_ not all relate paxl'ts o .
transaction have been identified or that the commercial effect of some e .etl':lﬁrl!

the transaction has been incorrectly as_sessgd. . . s \‘L "
It follows that in assessing the commercial effect q{ a tran.sac_:tion.,}t will be tg;pqgitlan ;
to consider the position of all of the parties to it, mcludm_g t_heu apparent expx
tions and motives for agrecing to its various terms. In partxcula:,_v..rher_e one [,; -
the transaction receives a lender’s retarn but. no more (wmppspgi mtgre;sﬂ;;, v
investment perhaps together with a relatively ‘small.f.ee.), this in ct;tesz. e
substance of the transaction is that of 2 financing. This s~because e_‘.pargy.. :

7R
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receives a lender’s return is not compensated for assuming any significant exposure
to loss other than that associated with the creditworthiness of the other party, nor is
the other party compensated for giving up any significant potential for gain.
Identifying assets and labilities

In accounting terms, the substance of a transaction is portrayed through the assets

- and liabilities, including contingent assets and liabilities, resulting from or altered by

the transaction. A key step in reporting the substance of any transaction is therefore
to identify its effect on the assets and liabilities of the entity.

Assets — control of access to benefits

The definition of an asset requires that access to future economic benefits is
controlled by the entity. Access to future econormnic benefits will normally rest on a

. ‘foundation of legal rights, although legally enforceable rights are not essential to

secure access. Control is the means by which the entity ensures that the benefits
accrue to itself and not to others. Control can be distinguished from management (ie
the ability to direct the use of an item that gencrates the benefits) and, although the
two often go together, this need not be so. For example, the manager of a portfolio
of securities does not have conitrol of the securities, as he does hot have the ability to

- obtain the economic benefits associated with them. Such control rests with his

appointer who has delegated to the manager the right to take day-to-day decisions
about the composition of the portfolio.

Vi :

‘Assets - risk -

The future economic benefits inherent in an asset are never completely certain in
amount; there is always the possibility that the actual benefits will be greater or less
than those expected, or will arise sooner or later than expected. Fot instance, the
value of stocks may rise or fall as market conditions change; foreign currency
balances may become worth more or less because of exchange rate movements;
debtors may default or be slow in paying. This uncertainty regarding the eventual
benefit is referred to as ‘risk’, with the texm encompassing both an upside element of
potential for gain and a downside element of exposure to loss.

Ps et S L . . .
The entity that has access to the benefits will usually also be the one to suffer or gain

if these benefits turn out to be different from those expected. Hence, evidence of

ther an entity has access to benefits (and hence has an asset) is given by whether

1t has the risks inherent in those benefts.

es = obligations to transfer benéfits '

% The deﬁﬁﬁon of liabilities re.q.uires. an obﬁgaﬁon to trs;nsfcr economic benefits.
EWhilst most obligations are legally enforceable, a legal obligation is not a necessary
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condition for a liability. An entity may be ocmmerciglly oblig_ed to adopt a certain
course of action that is in its long-term best interests in tl'm widest sense, e;;,n if t;o
third party can legally enforce that course. As ill_ustrated in par_agrf!ph 50 aak \:, ae
prospect of a commercial or economic_penalty if a certain _acnon is not taken may
pegate alegal right to refrain from taking that action.” . T .. . .- .t

i ioation implies that the entity is not free to avoid an outflow 9f
gz;t;}:‘nﬁ;l;hﬁt:: 1ils soxp;ne circumstance in 'wbich the et_uﬁty_is-unable to aﬁ?ld
such an outflow whether for legal or comm_ergal reasons, it wnll h,aye a liabil t),r
However, in accordance with ssAp 18 ‘Accounting for contingencies; if the entity's
obligation is contingent on the occurrence of one or more pngqﬂam future events (as
under a stand-alone guarantee given by the entity) its 'h_a_bm_ty mf-lyll_:lo_t be recog-
nised. )

A

i it ‘acquire an itém of 'in the future represents a
On its own, an option to acquire an item of. property in the ¢ T ents 2
digfelrent asset ﬁ'ozl ownership of the property itself. For example, whén an Ppm?n to
purchase shares at a future date is acquired, the only. as::,g;?ls_‘_the_ option itself; thp_
asset ‘shares’ will be acquired only on exercise of the option. Similarly, an uncondi-
tional obligation is not the same as _ ‘ tment to assume $

ogltilgation %t another party’s option. Although both are hgl)'mt.xgs, they are Qﬁel_'enf
liabilities and if recognised in the balance sheet their c_:_lescgptzl_o_ng'_u_r?l.lAbe c{xﬁe.n.:n__t._

part of a z-nore complex transaction, it may not n;c;sgsa;ily
r liabili i d in paragraph 59. For
esent a separate asset or liability of the type discussed in
Zi?a;:ple an ogtion may serve, in conjunction with the other aspects of the trans:
action, t(; give one party access to the future benefits ansing f.rom anitem of prc:pe_r'gy _
without legal ownership. Alternatively the terms of an option, tpge_ther _vntt}rott'igt_
aspects of the overall transaction, may in effect create an Eu;condmonal obligation
even thoﬁgh the legal obligation is expressed as being condmona; on me_exewq of
the option. Options of this kind should be accouated for by !cqns‘lf.ler-tngll%hﬁ
substance of the transaction as a whole. ST

Where an option is

[ .

ini ' 1on incorporating options, in accordance
In determining the substance of a transaction incorporating op » in accorda
with pa:agrapi 14, greater weight must be given to those aspects and implications

more likely tohave a commercial effect in practice. This will involve considering the -

i i j i ibility that the option will bé
xtent to which there is a genuine commercial possibilit .
:_xc:dsed or, alternatively, that it will not be exercised. In extreme cases, there will

3 i i ;on will be exercised, in which case ;.
be uine commercial possibility that the option W1 ist ;3
mcn:xgsctl;mcimatopﬁmshouldbeigtmcd;ﬂwmam,ﬁfm@bcnqgmm ;
mmﬂﬁﬂpmﬁtymatmopﬁmwmtﬁlmum::m.mcﬁf:;:
- - o wma!mostin:vinbbbcm

mﬂmmcousto{uudsingm
alternatively, higher) than the beoedis
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example, there may be a combination of put and call options such that it will almost
certainly be in the commercial interests of one or other party to exercise its option.
In both these cases, the substance of the overall transaction is that the parties have
outright, and not optional or conditional, obligations and access to benefits. In less
extreme cases, further analysis will be required. It may be necessary to consider the
true commercial objectives of the parties and the commercial rationale for the
inclusion of such options in the transaction. This may reveal either that the parties in
substance have outright obligations and access to benefits, or, alternatively, that the
parties’ obligations. and access to benefits are genuinely opticnal or conditional.

Ini assessing the commercial effect of an option, all the terms of the transaction and
the circumstances of the parties that are likely to be relevant during the exercise
period of the option should be taken into account. It should be assumed that each of
the parties will act in accordance with its economic interests. Any actions that the
parties would take only in the event of a severe deterioration in liquidity or
creditworthiness should not be anticipated but should be taken into account only
when such a deterioration occurs (for example, when creditworthiness has declined
because of the prospect of imminent cash flow difficulties).

Guarantees and conditional provisions

Paragraphs 59-62 should also be appli.ed to guarantees and other conditional
provisions. The commercial effect of such provisions should in all cases be deter-
mined.in the context of the overall transaction. T

Rféépgﬁlﬁon of assets and liabilities

Once it appears from analysis of'é transaction’ that an asset or liability has been
- dequired or assumed by an entity, it is necessary to apply various recognition tests to
determine whether the asset or liability should be included in the balance sheet.

The general criteria set out in paragraph 20* require that an asset or liability should
be recognised only where it can be measured with ‘sufficient’ reliability. The effect of
.prudence is that less reliability of measurement is acceptable when recognising items
*.that involve decreases in equity (eg increases in liabilities) than when recognising
.items that do not (eg increases in assets). It follows that, particularly for liabilities,
where a reasonable estimate of the amount of an item is available, the item should be
recognised.

Transactions in previously recognised assets
R .' - . . . .

X llowing its recognition, an asset may be affected by a subsequent transaction and
g it will be necessary to consider whether, as a result of the transaction, the description
N .:" E’."_' P ! 7

ese criteria are drawn from Chapter 4 of the Board’s drafi Statement of Principles.
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or monetary amount of the asset needs to be changed. In this regard para‘graph.fz

21-28 and 67-88 will apply. = -

. . S |
Continued recognition of an asset in its enfirety

Paragraph 21 requires that where there is no significant change in the entity’s rights

to benefits, its previously recognised asset should continue to be reco_gmsqd. 1n'_thg
same way, the entity will continue to have an asset where its exposure to thg risks
inberent in the benefits of the asset is not significantly altered. Even if the p}'oceeds
generated by the asset are directed in the first instance to another party, ;_)rowded .Ehe?
entity gains or suffers from all significant changes 1 _thpsg proceeds it s‘hm.xld be
regarded as having the benefits of the asset and should continue to recognise it. For
example, a ‘sale’ of debts with recourse to the seller for all bad dgbts_and provision
for the seller to pay a finance charge that reflects the speed of paytge:ntpy er;or:s:
leaves the seller with all significant risks retating to the debts (the risks being the

» - D . This i 86 even i actusl cash - 3
ed of payment and the degree of non-payment). This is so even if actual ca P
iggeipté al:)e collected directly by the buyer and only a net surplus or deficit settled .

with the seller. In such cases the seller would continue to recognise an asset equal in
amount to the debts, although the transfer of legal title would be disclosed.

Thus, under paragraph 21, it will not be appropriate to cease (0 recogni;e any part of
an asset where the transaction entered into is.in substance a ﬁnimcmg of that asset;
even if the financing is without recourse, Such financing tr:_ms‘actlons.leave tht? entity
with those rights to benefits and exposures to risks (including potent}al for _galp) that
are likely to have a commercial effect in practice, as well as creating a liability to
repay the finance. The only exception to this is non-recourse finance arrangements

that meet the conditions for a linked presentation given' in pa:a.graphs 26-27.
Although such arrangements are in substapce financings, their particular features
are such that a linked presentation is required to portray. all the effects of the
arrangement. This is explained further in paragraphs 76-80 below.: o

Ceasing to recognise an asset in its entirety '

Conversely, paragraph 22 requires that where a transaction transfers to othersall

significant rights to benefits and. all significant exposure to-risks that relate to a

previously recognised asset, the entire asset should cease-to be recognised.. An
example would be a sale of debts for a single non;returnable cash payment. )

Special Cases o ‘
Paragraphs 21 and 22 deal with the great majority of transactions affecting p

viously recognised assets. However, in other cases there may be a significant change

in the entity’s rights to benefits and exposure to ns}:s b}:t not a complete transfc.r of
all significant benefits and risks. In such cases, it will be pecessary to consider
whether the description or monetary amount of the asset needs to be changed and 3
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also-whether a liability heeds to be recognised for any obligations assumed or risks
retained. These special cases arise where the transaction takes one or more of the
g, following forms: - SR Coe .

"3 (a)  atransfer of only part of the item in question;
"SR (b) atransfer of all of the item for only part of its life; and
g (c) atranster of all of the item for all of its life but where the entity retains some

_significant right to benefits or exposure to risk.

(a).Transfer of only part-of an item
Transer of part of an item that generates benefits may occur in one of two ways. The
most straightforward is where a proportionate share of the item is transferred. For
example, a loan transfer might transfer a proportionate share of a loan (including
rights to receive both interest and principal), such that all future cash flows, profits
and losses arising on the loan are shared by the transferee and transferor in fixed
; proportions. A second, less straightforward way ‘of transferring a part of ap item
- arises where the item comprises rights to two or more separate benefit streams, each
" with its own risks. A part of the item will be transferred where all significant rights to
one or more of those benefit streams.and associated exposure to risks are transferred
. whilst all significant rights to the other(s) are retained. An example would be a *strip’
of an interest-bearing loan into rights to two or more different cash flow streams that
aré payable on different dates (for instance ‘interest’ and ‘principal’), with the entity
retaining rights to only one of those streams (for instance ‘principal’). In both these
cases, the entity would cease to recognise the part of the original asset that has been
transferred by the transaction, but would continue to recognise the remainder. A
change in the desctiption of the asset.might also be required. '

;" (t_v):Tramferofan itern for énlypart of its life S PR

¢ Paragraph 23 also applies to a transaction that transfers all of an item that.generates
_ benefits for only part of its life. Provided that the entity’s access to benefits and
exposure to risks following the transaction are both significantly different from those
. it had before the transaction, the description .or monetary amount of .the asset

item of propérty but agree to repurchase it in a substantially depreciated form (as for
example where the item will be used for most of its life by the buyer). In this case the
entity’s ‘original asset has changed from being the original item of property to a
residual interest in that item and, in addition, the entity has assumed a liability of its
obligation to pay the repurchase price. Sale and repurchase agreements are dealt

th furthér in Application Note B. S e

oo
TR TOTER NS DU A

() Transfer of an item for all of its life'with somé beriefit or risk retained

‘Finally, paragraph 23 applies to a transaction that transfers.an item that generates
nefits for all of its life, but leaves the entity with significant rights to benefits or

pr
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previcusly recognised would need to be changed. For example, an entity may sellan
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exposure to risks relating to that item. Whilst control has passed to the transferee,
the retention of significant rights to benefits or exposure to risks has the result that
the transaction fails to meet the conditions in paragraph 22 for ceasing to Tecognise
an asset in its entirety. For example, an entity may sell an investmentina subsidiary
with the consideration including an element of deferred performance-_rela'ted con-
sideration. Provided that significant rights to benefits and ‘exposure to risks
associated with the subsidiary have passed to the buyer (as will be the case where the
deferred consideration is only a portion of the subsidiary’s profits arising in only a
limited period), both the description and the monetary amount of the asset will need
to be changed. This reflects the fact that the asset is no longer an investment in a
subsidiary but rather is a debtor for the performanoe-relatcd consideration
{although, under the provisions of SSAP 18, the debtor may be, measured at nit and
therefore not recognised but merely disclosed). As another example, ap entity may

sell equipment subject
the time of sale, or subj
transfer all significant rights to benefits and some significant expo
buyer (these being those arising from the equipment's future use and resale), but
leave the seller with some significant risk in the form of obligations, relating t0 the
equipment’s future performance ot residual value, The seller would thcréfore*céa_sé
to recognise the equipment as an asset, but would recognise a liability for its
warranty obligation or guarantee (with the liability
ance with the provisions of SSAP 18%.

Measurement and profit recognition |
In any of the above three classes of transaction,
measure the change in the entity’s assets or liabilities and any re
This measurement process requires that the previous carrying value of the asset is
apportioned into an amount relating to those benefits and risks. disposed of and an
amount relating to those retained. In some cases, measurement will be retatively

easy; for instance this might be the case where a proportionate share of the origin

asset is retained as described in paragraph 71 above or where there are similar an

frequent transactions in liquid and freely accessible markets. In other cases, mess?

urement may be more difficult with the résult that the amousit of any gain or loss i

. uncertain. In‘such cases, in accordancé with the provisions of ssAp 18*, paragraph 24
requires a prudent approach-to be adopted, with full provision being made for ai
piobable loss but recognition’ of any gain, to

i

deferred. ' . ; e _

The meaning of‘éigﬁiﬁcam" e o ,'-, s
In applying paragraphs 21-23 and 26 it may be necessary to 7
certain rights to benefits or exposure to risks are ‘significant’. When this is dont
«Editor's note SSAP 18 war superseded by FRS 12 *Provisions, Contingent
{znued Seprember 1998 TN e T

1A

“being accounted for in accord- N
e o 1 ) - ' IR

there arises the issue of how 10
sulting profit or loss. -

the- éxtent it is in doubt,’ beiiig
g e Temen e T

to a warranty in respect of the condition of the equipmentat 3
ect to a guarantee of its residual value. This would normally -
sure to risks to the | -3

t l‘inked presentation are met). * -

O

: -
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greater weight should be given to what is li

ol s : _lkely to have a commerci i

R (he ;ta::';c;irs,i :;hethe.r any rgtamcd nisk is ‘significant’ should gc;ajlu;ffjt ot

sl s e ;ana.pon'm bf:neﬁts, but against that variation vfhi 1'11 qt

‘ ars Ceposted tap :2 o ;eth or instance, if for a portfolio of debts of 100, bad c;: bls

E s e e o e debts-are sold with recourse to the entity for bad de .
. ofup wm;IcI ¢ selle have retanped all significant risk of non-payment e
; ntinue to be recognised in their entirety (unless theirgngit-ig:sugo?z

5]
:

Lin entatlc .
ked presentation for certaln non-recourse finance arrangements
General principles

S.ometimes. i . .

recourse t ?me;:ll:z tiitJ;anges an item-on terms that the providér of the finance h

sometimés argued that 311 it has financed and not to the entity’s other assets. Itz‘}s

has an aseet i respect of ¢ effect of such arrangements is that the entity nger

. pux;pose of detensn%n?ng tﬁhe item, nor does it have a liability for the ﬁnanc::o]:!ontg;r

O the appropriate accounti : - vorthe
arrangements can be classified into two types fting treatment, non-recourse finance

i3 ‘:Sepamte presentation of an asset and liability :

E- The first i ' o ‘

E ot the fnne O o angement is where, although in the event of default the provid

k. item, the entity retains ﬁghfsaymem only by enforcing its rights against the sl,) ecifi e;

E the finance from its general to all the benefits generated by the item and cag ,
the entity has both En a ral resources in order to preserve those rights. In such oo
a liability (i obligatio ;s::ct’ (1.1;.; :cc;ahss tf?n all the benefits generated by. the it(f::n‘f)iza;g

balance sheet in the normal way.y- ¢ finance) and they should be included in the

gt e - .

[ Linked presentation

g The second type of non-recourse fin

e it on _ ance arrangement is wh ; o

A gpll e :2; fsr‘?rl;gxh;bfﬁggtesﬁ%:neratpq by the specified item A?:;ot:;hﬁ;aenzst?m o
:; ‘obligation to keep the itm::3 orto repzf;izzegsymenéof A ngi:;i |

g s ep tl ance from i

; o scz:lsoets ‘}gsee:gg Sgsi:)es all}c_;t have an asset equal to the gros;mafne::;?lo;et;oq;ces. .
Rl sasouot of ﬁnzn the futurq benefits generated by it), nor a liaI:siliﬁ1 F rnt(has

B rencmtd by e _tce (as the financier will be repaid only fromtyl; n fi s

e oY e specil item and not from benefits generated by any other etsof

f o o) powever, le entity does retain rights to those benefits and oo 1

R bonetis aud sk St ely to }Jave a commercial effect in practice - ie 11121{1'3%"1re o
Bitis type of non-x:ecouret?:on of the significant benefits and risks that disz:}ngmf}cam
ol Shotaias ;sne ancing from the transactions described in s
e transf asset.'Where there is no transfer of s1gmi:'n:autp ::]f;gh 23

4 )
P
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risks the transaction is in substance a financing arrangement and the- other:panty;
would usually receive a lender’s return and no more: Conversely, the transacticis)
described in paragraph 23 involve a transfer of significant-benefits - and-ricki
Indications of such transactions are where the other party has-rights to benefitd)
greater than those associated with a lender’s return and has corresponding exposiie
to some significant risk. : S ISR 1 G .
For example, assume ari entity transfers title to a portfolio of high quality debts,of 8
100 in exchange for non-returnable proceeds of 90- The entity cannot be required to 28
repay these non-returnable proceeds in any circumstance or in any form, nor can'it®

be required to make any other payment in Tespect of the debts. In addition’ tha i
entity retains rights to a further sum (calculated as 10 less any bad debts and’h 38
finance charge) whose amount depends on whether and when the debtors pay.sInyg

this situation the entity does not have a liability for the non-returnable proceeds g
90 (as it can pever be required to repay them except out of cash’ genicrated by the
debts portfolio), nor an asset of 100 (as the first 90 of benefits generated by the déb
must be passed to the transferee). However, the entity does have'a new asset ifi
rights to future benefits of up to 10, which depends principally on the performancé
the entire portfolio of 100. If any one debt proves to be completely bad or if all debt¥;
prove to be partly bad, the entity bears the entire loss (subject to the ceiling of 10) a8,
its future cash receipts are reduced accordingly. Although it has transferred catastro-
phe risk (of benefits being less than 90), the entity has retained all.the variation i
benefits likely to occur in practice - ie the significant benefits and risks. Th
catastrophe risk that is-trapsferred is not significant since, although the poteéntial
losses involved are large in absolute terms, it is extremely unlikely that such losses:

e RN Y TR

. : Do T L it
For this type of arrangement, a special presentation (a ‘linked presentation”):is
required to give a true and fair view of the entity’s position. This presentation
involves giving additional information on the face of the balance sheet about thé
entity’s new net asset (of 10 in the above example). In the above example, the linked
presentation would be as follows: BRI

Debts subject to financing arrangements: e

99

Debts (after providing for expected bad debts of 1) T TR
: . -

Less: non-returnable amounts received
o . o .
. .. . P S I L LT e DU T .

This linked presentation shows both that the entity retains significant benefits and
risks.relating to all the debts, and that the claim of the provider of the finance.is :
limited strictly to the funds generated by them. . I : :

EE L. -
alvy

TR R ]|

RN B
. M R I -

A linked presentation is appropriate only where the commercial effect for the enti

is that the item is being sold but the sale process is not yet complete. Thus there must 3

Detailed conditions for use of a linked presentation SRR L iy
. W N . N .'! N L
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; such losses beyond a fixed monetary

Fue no doubtwhatsoever that thie claim of the provider of the finarice js limited strictly

fto funds generated by the specific item it finances. It must be clear that there is no
Blegal, commercial or other obligation under which the entity may fund any losses
k (from whatever cause) on the jtems being financed or transfer any economic benefits
E(apart from those generated by the item). In addition, the entity must have no right

f or obligation to repay the finance from its general resources, to keep the item on
f repayment of the. finance or 10 re-acquire it in the future. These principles are
B reflected in the detailed conditions. for use of a linked presentation set out in
B paragraph27. . © 7 : ’ ‘

ndition 27(a) requirés that the finarice relates to a specific item or group of similar
#is A linked presentation should not be used where the finance relates to two or
ore items that are not part of a portfolio, or to a portfolio containing iteras that
iould otherwise be shown under different balance sheet captions. Similarly, a linked
résentation should not be used where the finance relates to any kind of ‘business

: upit; or for items that generate the funds required to repay the financé only by being
" used in conjunction with other assets of the entity. The item must generate the funds
i required to repay the finance either by unwinding directly into cash (as in the case of
£ widebt); or by its sale to a third party. - Co s : .

Conditions 27(b)-(e) require that there is no recourse and no other condition (legal,
commercial or other) thatcould result in the entity supporting losses; from whatever
cause, on the items being financed (or, 23 discussed in the next paragraph, supporting
ceiling). Recoursé could take'a number of
forms, for. instance: an agreement to repurchase non-performing items or to sub-

E. stitute good items for bad ones; a guarantee given to the provider of the finance or

any other party (of performance, proceeds or other support); a put option under
which jtems can be transferred back to the entity; a swap of some or all of the
amounts generated by the jter for a separately determined payment; or a penalty on
¢ancelling an ongoirig arrangement such that the entity bears the cost of any items
that turn out to be bad. Normal warranties given in respect of the condition of the
item at the time the non-recourse finance arrangement is entered into would not
‘bréach this condition; however, warranties relating to the condition of the item in the
futirre or to its future performance would do so.- SRR U

présentation may still be appropriate in respect of that part of the finance for which
there is no recourse. However, where the entity provides any kind of open-ended
_guarantee (ie one that does not have a fixed monetary ceiling) a linked presentation

;" chould .not be used. An example of such an open-ended guarantee would be a

‘guarantee of completion provided by a property developer: - "

The following example illustrates the effect of partial recbufsc. .An entity transfers

% title to a portfolio of debts of 100 (for which expected bad debts are 4) in return for

proceeds of 95 plus rights to a future sum whose amount depends on whether and
whendebtors pay. In addition, there is recourse to-the entity for the first 10 of any

237

1f thiere is partial recourse for losses up to a fixed monetary ceiling, a linked
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Josses. Assuming the conditions set out in paragraphs 26-27 are met, the arrange-
ment would be presented as follows: - P

1

Debts subject to financing arrangemen'ts:,

-
.

i
TR -
P
)

Gross debts (after providing for bad debts) %
Less: non-returmable proceeds T P (85) - o oA
PRt e - i - Al
. : . i B SR TCTIRL RIS LRI PPN % L iy
The remaining 10 of the finance would be included within liabilities. :~.;  -«:1q

Condition 27(f) requires there to be no provision for the entity to repurchase.the 3§
jtem being financed. For instance, where legal title to the item has been transferred, =M
a linked presentation should not be used to the extent that one party.has aput or a )
call option to effect repurchase, ot where there is an understanding between the 7 .

parties that the item will be re-acquired in the future. .+ o siaes e

o : I T T S P -_=i|w.'h
Profit or loss recognition and presentation.” L
Where a linked presentation is used, profits or losses should be recognised in the ’?

period in which they arise 5o as to reflect the fact that the entity continues to gain or 74
suffer from the performance of the underlying gross item. For example, on entering il
into the arrangement, a gain will arise only to the extent that: the non-returnable 728
proceeds received exceed the previous carrying value of the item. In subsequent 38
riods, a gain (or loss) will arise t0 the extent that the income from the item exceeds :; )
{or falls short of) the amounts due to the provider of finance in respect of that period. -3
Finally, any gain resulting from an onward sale of the item to a third party will arise
only in the period in which the onward sale oceurs.. - R
Where a linked presentation is adopted in the balance sheet, normally it will;
sufficient for only the net amount of any income or expense recognised in each 3%
period to be included in the profit and loss account, with the gross componenis being -
disclosed by way of note. However, the gross components should be shown on the 3
face of the profit and loss account by using a linked presentation where the effect of 2
the arrangement on the performance of the entity is so significant that to inclu
merely the net amount of income Or expense within the captions shown on the fa
of the profit and loss,account would not be sufficient to give a true and fair view.
Oﬁ'sa_ e " '_‘.:'-. Toow
Offsetting is the process of aggregating debit and credit balances and including oniy®
the net amount in the balance sheet. In order to present the commercial effect:of§
transactions, it is necessary that any separate assets and liabilities that result are no
offset. : .o IR - *

LTh iR

Y

Offset is permissible, and indeed mecessary, between related- debit and-credd;
balances that are not separate assets and liabilities as defined in the Frs. For thi
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be the case, it is necessary that all of the conditi iven i
,it s ry tt nditions given in paragraph 2
such that there is no possibility that the entity could be require‘c)i to g:iypanost.hf: pl::t;

and later find it was unable to obtain payment itself, In this respect, the requirement

get:ic;::db{:lig: e‘(ac&’ii;; garagraﬂh 29 that the debit balance matures no later than the
¢ met if, at its own discretion, the reporting enti

;I;att hrr:sult b_y accelerating the maturity of the debit balancepor del'serringty thC:It]nZ:lusrirt;

ol :ul c::d;;r:al;?mcte.bWt;eLe the reporting entity or the other party is a group

artic ust be taken to ensure that the reporting entity, thr its

:;:]n;lt::utufint legal entities, can insist on a net settlement of the ailount;yt,o bezl;fgst;tlit;

ations of default and that this ability would survive the insolvency of any of

. ,th‘:e fgpara}e legal eptities that constitute the other party. - -

xzzj :l;?s zzl:tiﬁo&s for a linked ‘presentation given in parag}aphs 16-27 a:e met

‘ is the net amount. Such a presentation does n i f
tis tl our I ot constitute offset

an asset and a liability; rather it is the provision of additional information about :1:

. asset (wmch is the'n._et amount), necessary in order.to give a true and fair view;

?kclomm of rhs'subsmnce of transactions

Pérﬁéfﬁph 30 réquireé that rdisclosure‘ a ion should be sufficient to
: of a transaction should be sufficient t.
the user of the financial statements to understand its commercial effect?;orot;: il::

3 ﬁigfil:etg_gbtransactiqns this- involves no more than those disclosures currentl
. However, this may not be sufficient to portray fully the commercial effec{

% of more complex transactions, i i : )
" disclosed. 8, in which case further information will need to be

. M : * g ’ - N
Assets and liabilities resulting from more complex transactions will not necessarily

. ;sas;ﬂt?;::y wnl(:itls ttne a\;aﬂataalljgor.use as security for liabilities of the entity; or certain
) not qualifying for the linked pre i in v

& 26-27 may, in the event of d P Seanon set-out in paragraphs

ki 26- A efault, be repayable only t ' P

wal_ch they are secured yield sufficient bl::g;.ﬁts. . Y {0 the extent that the assets on

B R

ven where a transaction does not result in any items bei.ﬁg recogﬁised in the

balanc'i shv.?et, the need for disclosure should still be considered. The transaction
ﬁ:goﬁg: :zf ts?.lﬁg@um?er:? t: o Oorgmitxne_nts or other rights and obligations which
ryraie- el 0, requiire recognition of an asset or liabili ot
dxsg:losurp_ in order that the financial statements give a true and fair?l?nlal‘l:y’ e

I.SUBSIDIARIES

: '-'=cntity-may directly control 'aece'ss t‘o future : ic be ‘
An- ‘ L economic benefits or ma
3 access through the medium of another entity, normally a subsidiary.yéggtt:::

-

239

91

53

94

95



2.005 FRS 5 SUBSTANCE OF TRANSACTIONS

through the medium of another entity is of such widespread significance that it
underlies the statutory definition of a subsidiary undertaking and is reflected in the

. tequirement for the preparation of consolidated accounts. However; such control is .
not confined to cases where another entity is a subsidiary ‘as defined in' statute.
‘Quasi-subsidiaries’ are sometimes established by arrangements that give as much
effective control over another entity as if that entity were a subsidiary. | .~ -

: 1,‘|_' Gy

96 In deciding whether or not an entity i i-subsidiary, access to the whole of the
benefit inflows arising from iw@d responsibility for the whole of the
benefit outflows associated wi ifities are not the key considerations. In

practice, many subsidiaries do not give riseo a possible benefit outflow for their

parent of an amount equal to their gre : ities — indeed, the limiting of benefit
outflows in the event of losses occurring Tiay have been a factor for'the parent in
establishing a subsidiary. In addition, as the liabilities of a subsidiary have a prior
claim on its assets, the parent will not have access to benefit inflows of an amount
equal to those gross assets. For this reason, it is necessary to focus on the benefit
flows associated with the net assets of the entity. Often:évidence of where these

benefits lie is given by which party stands to suffer or gain from: the financial .- -3

performance of the entity — ie which party has the risks inherent in the benefits.

Control

97 Control is the means by which one entity determines how the assets'of another entity
are employed and by which the controlling entity ensures that the resulting benefits
accrue to jtself and not to others. Control may be evidenced in a variety of ways
depending on

exercised (interventionist or not). Control includes the ability to restrict others from

directing major policies, but a power of veto will not of itself constitute control %]
unless its effect is that major policy decisions are taken in accordance with the wishes -
of the party holding that power. One entity will not control another where thereisa

third party that has the ability to determine ali major issues of policy. - - 7 |

98 In some cases, arrangements are made for allocating the benefits arising from the
activities of an entity such that active exercise of control is not necessary. The party
or parties who will gain the bepefits (and bear their inherent risks) are irreversibl
specified in advance. No party has direct control in the sense of day-to-day directio
of the entity’s financial and operating policies, since all such matters are pre:
determined. In such cases, control will be exercised indirectly via the arrangemen

for allocating thé benefits and it will be necessary to look at the effects of thoseis

arrangements to establish which party has cootrol. it follows that, for the reasons

- (8 Animmaterial quasi-subsidiary is'outside the sc

its basis {eg ownership or other rights) and the way in which it is

(¢ Republic of Ireland are given in paragraphy 5 and

FRS 5 SUBSTANCE OF TRANSACTIONS 2.005

Accounting for quasf-.;ubsidi’arics

state ing thi '
ments. Applying this principle has the result that the assets, liabilities profits, -

losses and cash flows of i
T any entity that i ;. < |

sgtr:tzl: financial statements in the ;yam:‘tv‘:;asqzlfa;; Subsldlgq should be included in

ory group (this is referre 25 11 e

financial statements’). - ferred to below as inclus

. g;'happ]jed o eask-subsidiary ope of this Frs, which need not
ere ' icti rine
R ofm:;:r; ;(:;tgi:erm restrictions substantially hinder the exercise of th
1 ring entity over the assets or management of another entitye

that entity is exercised

iy ed, but does not preciude the entity from being a quasi-

(c) ?lsrrqporﬁonatg ©xpense or undue delay in obtaj . -

@ v;; :rt:mti eargu::l-sqlg):iziary only if it is immaterial

‘ Te ¢ signtficant differences b ‘
. subsidiary and those of th that control
However, the quasi-sub idinty shouly conerl

wever, -subsidiary should
_ solidation in order that the group ﬁnanc;;;::f
‘ t.he extent of the group's activities,

ning information justifies

een the activities of a quasi-
s it, these should be disclosed
rtheless be included in the con-‘.
atements present a true picture of

.
1 are nlain section (5) fth P iey crl - !
i Great Brita tion 227 of the Compan, Act 1985 Equlvalem references for Northern lf!lﬂnd and

i 6 re:pectitueb of Appendix | ‘Note on legal
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It is appropriate to exclude a quasi-subsidiary from consolidation only where the
interest in the quasi:subsidiary is held exclusively with a view to subsequent resale
and the quasi-subsidiary has not previously been included in the reporting entity’s
consolidated financial statements. In determining if this exclusion is appropriate in a
particular instance, reference should be made to FRs y U L

Some arrangements for financing an item on a BON-TeCOUrse basis involve placing the
itern and its finance in a quasi-subsidiary as'a means of ‘ring-fencing’. them. Where,
as a result, the conditions of paragraphs 26 and 27 are met from the point of view of
the group as legally defined, the item and its finance should be included in the group
financial statements by using a linked presentation. As noted above, the inclusion of
a quasi-subsidiary in group financial statements forms additional information, neces;

sary in. order to give a true and fair view of the group as legally defined = the . 3

quasi-subsidiary is not part of that group. Where an item and its finance_are
effectively ring-fenced in a quasi-subsidiary, a true and fair view of the position of

the group is given by presenting them under a linked presentation. In this situation, :
the group does not have an asset equal to the gross amount of the item, nor a liability =
for the full amount of the finance. However, where the item and its finance are .

similarly ring-fenced in a subsidiary, a linked presentation may not be used. This is

because the subsidiary is part of the group as legally defined — hence the item and its
finance, being an asset and a liability of the subsidiary, are respectively an asset and

liability of the group. The subsidiary would be cons

(unless a linked presentation were appropriate in thé‘si’_lbs'i_diﬁrj('slin“divighial'ﬂnpn‘-
cial statements). " BT T

L IR

Disclosure of quasi-subsidiaries . T

When one or more quasi—subsidiaries'afé inctuded in-the consolidated financial 3
statements of a statutory group, companies legislation Irequires'the'_fact that such ‘§
additional information has been included, and the effect of jts inclusion, to be clearly

disclosed.*

iy Great Brizgin section 227 of the Companies Act 1985. Equivalent references for Northem freland and the$
Republic of lIreland are given in paragraphs $ and & respectively of Appendix I ‘Note on' lgel 3

requirements’.
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' Application notes

These A}’plfcaﬂon Notes specify how the re cof ol
quirements of Frs 5 are to be applied ¢

transactions that have certain features. For such transactions, observaugf a;' th‘:
5. :
The tﬁbles, flow chart and illustrations sl.‘lla'wn in ‘;‘he areas are p

shaded areas are provided as
an aid to understanding -and shall not be regarded - A
Standard Accounting Practice, .. g ‘ t a.'.- J.par.t .aj" rﬂ-m- Smm"'l-mt o

Ir‘ls not intended rhar‘r.he acé:o.u;-:tin treatmer nined by s
g treatment determined by res 5 or th
terminology used in the Application Notes should change rhe-le;Hon at lm:

Nofq will nermally be sufficlent to'ensure compliance with the requirements of Frs -

achieved by the parties. Accordingly, it is not intended that the legal effectiveness of

any transfer should be affected.

o, L.

Contents'

A CONSIGNMENT STOCK
B SALE AND REPURCHASE AGREEMENTS
C FACTORING OF DEBTS .
D SECURITISED ASSETS. '
_ 'IE;“ LOAN TRANSFERS . .

'PRIVATE FINANCE INITIATIVE AND SIMILAR CONTRACTS
APPLICATION NOTE A~ CONSIGNMENT STOCK * .

. NB:  Although this Ai)i:lication Note is ciralIted-' ‘ '
: . _ lic ‘in terms of the motor t i
applies equally to similar arrangements in other industries. r(rade I

Consignmé;n stoék;!is' 'strl:o'cl'i held b ‘one party (the ‘dealer” '

; } ; by one party (the ‘dealer’} but legally owned b
fmct)hthqr (the manufacr_u.rer ) o0 terms that give the dealer the right to lel the stoci
k. in the normal course of its business or, at its option, to return it unsold to the legat

g owner. The stock may be physically located on the premises of the dealer, or held at

ki a car compound or other site nearby. The arrangement bas a number of commercial

W advantages for both parties: the dealer is able to h
g 2 rties: ; old or have faster access to a2 wid
=" range of stock than might otherwise be practicable; the manufacturer can avoide;

uild-up of stock on its premises b ing i i
es by moving it closer to the point of sale; a
benefit fror the greater sales potential of the arrangemen. P - nd both
he main features of a consignment stock arrangement are as follows:
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(a) The manufacturer delivers goods to the dealer, but legal title does not pass
until one of a number of events takes place, eg the dealer has held the goods for

a specified period, adopts them by using them as demonstration models, or sells

- them to a third party. Until such a crystallising event, the dealer is entitled to
return the goods to the manufacturer or the manufacturer isable to require

their return or insist that they are passed to another dealer;-.~~ =~ - =t

(b) Once legal title passes, the transfer price becomes payable by the dealer. This
price may be fixed at the date goods are delivered to the dealer, it may vary

- with the period ‘between delivery’ and . transfer of-title,"or -it may be the

- manufacturer’s list price at the date of transfer of title. -~ ~-~ .- . - =~
(c) The dealer may also be required to pay a deposit to the mariufacturer, or to pay -
the latter a display or financing charge. This deposit or charge may be fixed for

FRS 5 SUBSTANCE OF TRANSACTIONS 2,005

included on the dealer’s balance sheet where
Ny the dealer has access to .
benefits and bears the principal risks inherent in those benefits, 10113 principal

In determining the substance of an agreement, it will be necessary to look at all its

ﬁfaet::tu;f anc::'tgiive greate_r'weig_ht fo those that are more likely to have a commercial
practice. In addition, it will be necessary to consider the interaction between

: the features and to evaluate the arrangement as a whole,” - . -

M_anufabMer’s right jqf refurmn (beneﬁr (i)
The dealer’s access to the benefits of the stock will _f)e constrained by any right of the

a period (eg one year) or may ftuctuate. Its amount is usually set with reference
to the dealer’s past sales of the manufacturer’s goods or to average or actual.
holdings of consignment stock. It may {or may not) bear interest. In some
cases, a finance company will pay the deposit or charge to the manufacturer
and will charge interest thereon to the dealer. ‘ - ,
(d) Other terms of the arrangement will usually cover items such as inspection and
access rights of the manufacturer, and responsibility for damage, loss or theft
and related insurance. These are usually of minor importance in determining
the accounting treatment. o R e

b

gg(;pot;?so?n :)jf ét;z scothi:lsignmth ent s]t(ock is Teturned or transferred without compensa-
, thi at the stock is not'an asset of the dealer. i
dealer is able to resist re eturer for e, if the
1 quests made by the manufacturer f i
practice actually does so, or in practice the m Jates the Sesn t
i S 50, anufacturer compensates the deal
agreeing to transfer stock in accordance with th rishes. thos
. . ° ! e m ’ i .
indicates that the stock is an asset of the dealer, . anufacturer | wishes, this

P

Dealer’s right of return (risk (i
Analysis AR _ A reat of retumn (risk ()
The purpose of the analysis below is to determine whether, hg‘aﬁy ba'rticular time,
the dealer has an asset in the stock and a comesponding liability to pay the
manufacturer for it. To this end, it is necessary to identify whether the dealer has
access to the benefits of the stock and exposure to the risks inherent in those bénefits. -
From the dealer’s perspective, the principal benefits and risks of consignment stock ."
are as follows: IR LT

Benefits: '
(i) the future cash flows from sale to a third party and the right to retain items 6f
stock in order to achieve such a sale; o A
(ii) insulation from changes to the transfer price charged by the manufacturer for .
its stock (eg because the manufacturer has increased its list price); and. =" *
(iii) the right to use the stock (eg as a demonstration model) by adopting it ¢

Risks: e il

(i)  the risk of being compelled to retain stock that is not readily saleabl
obsolete, resulting in no salé or a sale at a reduced price; and

(ii)- the risk of slow movement, resulting in increased costs of financing and hot
the stock and an increased risk of obsolescence. "¢ < it s T f

» which indicates that the stock

: ate 0 Conversely, if the price
the: dealer is the mﬁnufacFurer's list price at the date of the fr'ansferpof le;:latrl%fed

Paragraphs AS5-A10 show how the various features of a cbnsign;nent stock agr
ment will determine where the. above benefits and risks lie. The stock should
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U

T —— : .
this indicates that the stock remains an asset of the manufacturer until legal titlei i S!f!bstance of the transaction is that the stock is not an asset of the dealer

transferred. T '

sWhere it is concluded that the stock is not in substance an asset of the deal .
; _ _ er, th
i‘kock shou{d not be mclude.d on the dealer’s balance sheet until the transfer of titl:
) :has crysta!hsed. Any deposit should be included under ‘other debtors’. The notes to
t!le financial statements should explain the nature of the arrangement, the amount of
hconsignment stock held at the year-end, and the main terms under which it is held

1

'éluding the terms of any deposit.

bears the variable cost of financing the stock until sold. In a simple arrangemen
where there is no deposit and stock is supplied for a fixed price that is payable by th
dealer only when legal title is transferred it will be clear that the manufacturer bears
the slow movement risk. The manufacturer will bear the slow movement Tis
wherever the transfer price is not determined by reference to the length of time fof &5
which stock is held (such as where the transfer price is the manufacturer’s list pride}
at either delivery or transfer of legal title). Conversely, if in the same’ basi¢)
arrangement, the price to be paid by the dealer increases by a factor that varies with
the time the stock is held and approximates to commercial interést rates, then it will§
be equally clear that the dealer bears the slow movement risk. This may be
where the financing element of the pricé charged to the dealer is based on’
past movements of stocks held by that dealer (eg for administrative convenienc
is levied in another form (eg a display charge).- B

The existence of a deposit complicates the analysis. The main question’ t67563
answered is whether the effect of the deposit is that the dealer, rather than 'tHe}
manufacturer, bears variations in the stock financing costs that are due to slow;
movement. For example, this could be achieved by a- substantial,. interest:free}
deposit whose amount is related to levels of stock held by the dealer. Alternativelyg
a finance company might advance the deposit.to the manufacturer .and chargel
interest thereon (in whatever form) to the dealer. T

L ,_.;,1;}n¢iﬁ

Dealer’s right to use the stock (benefit (iii)) " e

Whilst a right for the dealer to use the stock in its business will not, of itselfibe]
sufficient to make the stock an asset of the dealer, the exercise of the right s I}
usually have this effect. Such exercise will usually cause the transfer of 1¢gal title i
the dealer and give rise to an unconditional obligation.for it to pay:th -
facturer. : . . C L e Llea

Required accounting

Substance of the transaction is that the stock is an asset of the dealer o 4
e ] ‘ AL A
Where it is concluded that the stock is in substance an asset of the deater, th
should be recogpised as such on the dealer’s balance sheet, together with:atd
sponding liability to the manufacturer. Any deposit should be.deducted 't
liability and the excess classified as’'a trade creditor, The notes:to:the f
statements should explain the nature of the -arrangement, the amount:of &
ment stock included in the balance sheet and the main terms under which'it’

including the terms of any deposit. . -reey adp s 1ala
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APPLICATION NOTE B - SALE AND REPURCHASE " * * -
AGREEMENTS " it g

[N . .o A

i i t are referred
NB: For ease of reading the parties to a sale agd repurchase agreemen ferre
to below as ‘seller’ and ‘buyer’, notwithstanding that analysis of t.he transaction in
accordance with this Application Note may result in the s_ellt;f corlltxpl.z‘;_:ng'tq s_pow an
asset on its balance sheet.

Features

.‘ hich assets are sold By

ale and repurchase agreements are arrangements under w) 0
gn: party tc? another on terms that provide for the seller to repu;chase the asset in
certain circumstances. A similar commercial effect may be achieved by arrange-

ments under which one party holds an asset on behalf of another: although such” -

priate and these are therefore covered by this Application Note. " "~ . " [}

L

arrangements are not sale and’ epurchase agreeinents, a slmxlarana]ys;s lS appr-o-_'_:

The main features of a sale and repurchase agreement will usugl]y ber .. ... :
(a) the sale price — this may be market value or another agreed price (analysed in:

aragraph BY); s . . a3
() ?he ﬁ?tﬁre of the repurchase provision —. this may.be::an unconditional
commitment for both parties; an option for the seller to repu_r,t_:hgsjc_ (a ca]ll
option); an option for the buyer to resell to the seller. (a.put optxon):, or.a
combination. of put and call options; (analysed in paragraphs B10-B 12);

(c) the repurchase price — this may: be fixed at the outset; vary- ith the period for,

which the asset is held by the buyer; or be the market price at.the time of

repurchase. It may also be designed to permit the buyer to recover incidental -

holding costs (eg insurance) if these do not .|
seller; (apalysed in paragraphs B13-B14); and - -
@ ining the time: of repurchase; or for
whilst it is owned by the buyer; for 'detemmg the time:of rep rchase;
remarketing the asset if it is to be sold toa t]nrd party; (analysed m..pamgap
B15-B18). - _ T AL
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fact continue to be met by the' .

other provisions, including where appropriate: for:the seller to use the asset
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Analysis

" Overview. of basic principles

The purpose of the anal}si's s to determine both whether the seller has an asset (and
what is the nature of that asset), and whether the seller has a liability to repay the
‘buyer some or all of the amounts received from the latter, =~ .

In a straightforward case, the substance of a sale and repurchase agreement will be
that of a secured loan - ie the seller will retain all significant rights to benefits relating
to the original asset and all significant exposure to the risks inherent in those benefits
and will have a liability to the buyer for the whole of the proceeds received. For
example, this would be the case where the seller has in effect an unconditional
commitment to repurchase the original asset from the buyer at the sale price plus
interest, The seller should account for this type of arrangement by showing the
original asset on its balance sheet together with a liability for the amounts received

from the buyer.

In certain more complex cases, it may be determined that a sale and repurchase
agreement is not in substance a financing transaction and that the seller retains
access to only some of the benefits of the original asset and retains only some of their
inherent risks. Where this is so, in accordance with paragraph 23, the description or
monetary amount of the original asset should be changed and a liability recognised
for any obligation to transfer benefits that is assumed. It will also be necessary to give

"full disclosure of these more complex arrangements in the notes to. the financial
- statements.

The substance of the arrangement may be more readily appareht if the position of
both buyer and seller are considered, together with their apparent expectations and

‘motives for agreeing to its various terms. In particular, where the substance'is that of

a secured loan, the buyer will requite that it is assured of a lender’s return on its
investment and the seller will require that the buyer earns no more than this return.

- Thus whether or not the buyer earns such a return is an important indicator of the
.substance of the transaction. © .- - - . - . s

nr

Bc;:e‘ﬁm and risks

;'I'he analysis that follows shows how the features set out in paragraph B2 may result
k. in the seller having a liability to the buyer or in the seller retaining rights to some or

all' of the benefits of the original asset and exposure to-some or .all of the risks

inherent in those benefits, These benefits and risks will usually include some or all of

the following:. ... . .
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Benefits: .
(i) the benefit of any expected increase in the value of the asset; and
(ii} benefits arising from use or development of the asset.

Risks: .
(i) the risk of an unexpected variation (adverse or favourable)} in the value of the

asset; ‘ o ) F o
(ii) the risk of obsolescence; and

L}

(iii) where repurchase is not at a set date, the risk of a variation in the cost of
financing the asset because of the variable period between sale and repurch-
ase. . . . ot - . L .

In analysing any specific agreement in practice, it will be necessary to look at all the
features of the agreement and give greater weight to those that are more likély to
have a commercial effect in practice. In addition, it will be necessary to consider the
interaction between the features in order to determine the sitbstance of the arrange-
ment as a whole. ST e '

Feature (a) - Sale price

A sale price of other than the market value of the asset at the time of sale indicates i_
that some benefit afid risk have been retained by the seller, such that the seller has . *

an asset (either the original asset or a new one) or a liability to the buyer. Even
where the sale price is the asset’s market value, the seller may nevertheless have an
asset or a liability since the other terms of the arrangement may result in the sellet
retaining significant benefits and risks.” =~ - 7 - S o

Feature (b) — Nature of repurchase provision

1. Commitment S o . o . 3

Any type of unconditional commitment for the seller to repurchase will give rise to
both a liability and an asset for the seller: the liability being the seller’s commiitment
to pay the repurchase price; and the asset being continued access to some or all of the

benefits of the original asset that forms the subject of the sale and repurchase 3§

agreement. The price at which repurchase will occur and the other provisions of the
arrangement will determine the exact nature of the seller’s asset; these are dealt with
in paragraphs B13-B18 below. :

There may in effect be a commitment to repurchase even without-a strict-le
obligation. In particular, this will be the case where there'is an option (or
combination of options) on terms that leave no genuine commercial possibility th
the option will fail to be exercised. For example, the exercise price of a call opti

may be set at a significant discount to expected market value, the seller may need thé'
asset to use on an ongoing basis in its business, or the asset may provide in effect the®

[~
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" only source of the seller’s futdre sales. Unwritten understandings between the
* parties may also resultina commercial commitment for the seller to repurchase even

in the absence of a strict legal obligation. Such a commitment is more likely to exist
where the buyer's business does not usually involve it in taking on risks of a kind

‘associated with the asset.
2. Put and call options o |
In some cases the seller may have a call option to replirchase the asset but have no

commitment to do 5o, or the buyer may have a put option to transfer the asset back
to the seller without the seller having an equivalent right to insist on repurchase. It
will be important to determine why the parties have agreed to such a one-sided
option and to assess the commercial effect of the option with regard to all aspects of
the arrangement, including whether the seller has a commercial need to repurchase
the asset..This analysis-may reveal that, in substance, there is a commitment to
repurchase as discussed above. Conversely, such an analysis may reveal that the
buyer assumes significant benefits and risks relating to the original asset, indicating
that the seller has neither the original asset, nor a liability for the option’s exercise
price. In such a case, where the seller holds a call option it will have a new asset in the
form of the option itself; where the buyer has a put option, the seller will have a
contingent liability to the buyer for the exercise price of the option (contingent on

the buyer exercising.its option). In both cases, the seller’s new asset or liability
I - should be recognised or disclosed, on a prudent basis, following the principles set out
% in ssap 18 ‘Accounting for contingencies’.*: . .. - : TR

Feature (c) - Repurchase price and provision for a lender’s return

In the most straightforward cas, the repurchase price will be the sum of the original
sale price, plus any majér costs incurred by the buyer and a lender’s return
(comprising interest on the sale price and costs incurred by the buyer, perhaps with
relatively small fee), but no more. In this case, even if the repurchase provision

" takes the form of an option, the repurchase price indicates that the substance of the

transaction is that of a secured loan, with the benefits and risks of the asset remaining
with the seller. This is because the buyer is not compensated for assuming any
significant exposure to loss, nor.is the seller compensated.for giving up any sig-
nificant potential for gain, thus indicating that the, transaction is, in substance, a
financing. It will be necessary. to look at the arrangement as a whole to establish
etjieg the buyer receives a jender’s return since the means of providing it will vary.

p. For example, it may be achieved by lease or other regular payments, licence fees,

adjustment to the original sales price or the calculation of the repurchase price.

& Conversely, if the buyer is not assured of a lender’s'retu‘nll,'"this' ‘indicates that some

l')"gn_eﬁt and risk bave been passed to the buyer such that the seller has not retained

% notez SSAP 18 has been superseded by FRS 12 ‘Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent

A -
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the original asset. The seller ‘may, nevertheless, have a’different 'asset (and a
corresponding liability). For example, if a manufacturer sells equipment but agrees
to repurchase it in a substantially differeit form towards the end of its economic life;
the. manufacturer has both a liability (to pay the repurchase price) and an asset (the
equipment as at the repurchase date). LU TR P

Feature (d) - Other provisions

1. Ability to use the asset - o S
‘Whilst the ability of the seller to deterinine the use of the original asset does not, of
itself, result in the substance of the transaction being that of a secured loan, it will
usually indicate this is so. Continued use of the asset by the seller may indicate that
it has a commercial obligation to repurchase even if it has no legal obligation to do
so, for instance if there is a commercial need for the seller to repurchase or an
expectation that it willdoso. ~ ~ . - T

T R

. Where the seller continues to use the asset in its business by entering ifto‘a sale and

leaseback transaction, the provisions of both ssa? 21 ‘Accounting for leases and hire

purchase contracts’ and this Application Note will be relevant. Whete, in the terms _ 3
of this ApplicationNoté, the substance of the transaction is that of a secured loan, it

will be structured so that no significant benefits or risks are passed to the buyer, with

the rentals and other lease payments providing the-buyer with' a lénder’s return.
“Thus, in the terms of ssAp 21, ‘substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership’ of

the asset will remain with the seller, the leaseback will be classified as a finance lease,

* and the"transaction will be accounted for as the raising of finance secured on the

asset. If, on the other hand, the.leaseback is in substance an operating lease, the
transaction will be accounted for as a sale of the original .gss_et. oy e Lo

B P N T

Z.Proﬁtsoﬂossesonasaleofthenssettoathirdpaiﬁ Coae

In some cases, the seller may retain access to any increase in the value of the asset via

provisions that pass to it substantially all of ‘any profit aris_ihg on a sale by the first
buyer to a third party (subject to the buyer receiving a lender’s return). 'Ip"addl.l:pgp
the buyer may be protected from risk of loss, for instance by the seller being gtgl;geg!
to reimburse the whole or part of any loss on a sale to a third party, or the _oqggng_l

sale price being such that losses are unlikely to occur in practice. The substa c.e.'q'f

such an arrangement is that of a secured loan.

3, Use of spedial entities (‘vghidw’) -

Some cases may involve a sale to a special entity (a ‘vehicle’) that is partly or wholly.
financed by a party other than the seller (ega financial institution). In such & case, th_e_
seller will usually retain access to any increase in the value ~*.the asset and, where 8
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relevant, the benefits from its use, via a right either to repurchase the asset or, in the
event that the seller does not repurchase, to receive the majority of any profits from
a future sale to a third party. In addition, the seller may provide protection against
loss to the other investors in the vehicle, eg by providing a subordinated loan to the
vehicle that acts as a cushion to absorb any losses or by guaranteeing the value of the
asset in the event that it is sold on to a third party. Such provisions are clear
indications that the substance of the transaction is that of a secured loan. Where the
‘terms of the arrangement taken as a whole mean that the investors in the vehicle are
reasonably assured of recovering their original investment and earning a lender’s
Tetimn (but no more) thereon, the ‘substance of the transaction will be that of a
secured loan. a o

*

:Required ‘accounting
‘Substance of the transaction is that of a secured loan .

Where the substance of the transaction is that of a secured loan, the seller should
«continue o recognise the original asset and record the proceeds received from the
buyer as a liability. Interest - however designated - should be accrued. The carrying
- ‘amount of the asset should be reviewed and provided against if necessary. The notes to
£ ' ‘the financial statements should describe the principal features of the arrangement,
including the status of the asset and the relationship between the asset and liability.

. entering into the arrangement and no adjustment made to'the carrying value of the
‘asset. As stated in the gnidance notes to ssar 21, this represents the substance of the
#' transaction, “namely the raising of finance secured on an asset that continues to be
’\‘ . held and that is not disposed of™". ' .

;Substance of the transaction is that the seller has a different asset
; -
‘Where the seller has a new asset or Liability (for example, merely a call option to
repurchase the original asset), it should recognise or disclose that new asset or
liability on a prudent basis in accordance with the provisions of ssap 18.* In
:particular, the seller should recognise (and not merely disclosé) a liability for any
kind of unconditional obligation it has entered into. Where doubts exist regarding
the amount of any gain or loss arising, full provision should be made for any
xpected loss but recognition of any gain, to the extent that it is in doubt, should be
deferred until it is realised. The notes to the financial statements should describe the
main features of the arrangement, including: the status of the asset; the relationship

’

*Editor's note: SSAP 18 has been superseded by FRS 12 ‘Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent
Apety’. . .

f i,
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between the asset and the liability; and the terms of any prowsmn for repurchase ;O Hiustrations
(mcludmg any options) and of any guarantees :




APPLICATION NOTE C - FACTORING OF DEBTS |

NB: For ease of reading the parties to a factoring agreement are referred to in this

Application Note as ‘seller’ and ‘factor’, notwithstanding that analysis of the
transaction -in accordance ‘with this Apphcanon Note may result in the seller
continuing to show the factored debts as an asset on its’ balance sheet ’

Features

. Factoring of debts is a well established method of obtaining finance, sales ledger
- admhinistration services, or protection from bad debts. The pnncrpal features of a
iactonng arrangement are as follows:

@’ Speerﬁed debts are ‘transferred to the factor ‘(usually by assngnment) The
transfer may be of complete debtor balances or of all invoices relating to

.. “dccepted from any one debtor). )

(b) ‘The factor offers a credit facility’ that pemuts the seller to draw up to a fixed
percentage of the face value of the debts transferréd. Normally these advances
- are repaid as and when the underlying debts are collected, ‘often by paying the
money that is collected into a spécially nominated bank account for the benefit
of the factor.

(¢) The factor may also offer a credit protection facrhty (or insurance cover) This
will limit or eliminate the extent to which the factor has recourse to the seller
for debts that are in default. .. - P

is provided, the factor becomes responsible for collecting money from debtors
and pursuing those that are-slow in paying. In such cases-the fact that debts
have been factored is likely to be disclosed to the seller’s customers; this may
not be necessary in other circumstances.

factor .with reference to expected collections from .the debtors and any credit
protection services provided .(sales ledger administration services  are usually
-invoiced separately). These charges may be fixed at the outset or subject to
@djustment at a later date to reflect actual co]lecnons they may be payable unme-
Xdiately'or on some future date.
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‘named debtors (perhaps subject to restncnons on the amount {that will be -

.(d) .The factor may administer the sales ledger of the seller Where such a service .

On the transfer of debts, the factoring charges levied on the seller will b'e:aet by the
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. : o . . be ‘paid direct to the factor (or into ‘a speciaily nominated bank account for its
Analysis . ' . Lo : % berefit). However, it may actually be the seller that benefits from payments by
i s 3 debtors, these payments merely representing the primary source from-which the
E factor will be repaid. In particular, where the selier bas an obligation to repay any

ting K. sums Teceived from the factor on or before 2 set date regardless of the level of

€3 The purpose of the analysis below is 10 de{;mén:rem&eagg?sﬁreiﬁelmg & ] collections from the underlying debts, it is clear that the seller-has the benefit of
treatment in the seller’s financial statements. 1her payments by debtors, exposure to their inherent risks and a kiability to the factor.

to remove the factored debts from the balance sheet and show no heblllty m - Such an arrangement should be accounted for by using a separate presentation.

@) tor f any proceeds received from the factor ( derecognition’); Conversely, where the seller receives a single non-returnable cash payment from the
resp;.ct othe, y fooeeds received from the factor deducted from the factored factor and the only future payments to be made are by the seller passing to the factor

®) :101: ot the 1f:'ac:e of the balance sheet within a single asset. captmn (a ‘hﬂked all and any payments from debtors as and when paid, the selfer will both have
:estz;:ﬁon) or . et g transferred the benefits and risks of the factored debts and have no obligation to

(c) fo continue to show the factored debts as an ass;; and Shg“f'rz fg:sf];ﬂfﬂﬁ ke repay amounts received from the factor,
liability within creditors in respect of the procee recetvec Tt S

‘separate presentauon ").

Overview of basic principles

This latter arrangernent would qualify for nefeeognition. I

C4 In order to determine the appropnate accounting Ueatment, it is necessary to ;
answer two questions: : :f
(a) whether the seller has access to the benefits of the factored debts and exposure B

. . Considering the benefits in isolation. will not normally enable a clear decision to be
* made on the appropnate accounting treatment for a factoring. The cash flows may
. . appear similar in both of the above arrangements — an initial cash inflow for the.
‘ eneﬁts and nsks’) g~ seller followed by a later cash outflow (or a sacrifice of a cash inflow that would
to the risks mberentmthose benefits (IEf‘med t° belowas b - 2 B otherwise occur). For this reason, the risks (both upside potennal for gain and
) ar;]d ther the seller has a hablht!f to repay amounts. recewed ﬁom the factor A downsxde exposure to loss) are more mgmﬁcant than the beneﬁts v
(b) whether the se g L - i , .

Where the seller has transferred all s;gmﬁcant beneﬁts and all . dsngmﬁcanlt1 ::ﬁ
relating to the debts, and has o obligation to repaybthe éﬁ;::torz1 :srl::cr)gln; g 10!
i has retained slgmﬁcant epefits an ;
appropriate; where the seller an downmde eposure t0 g 10 ‘
but there: is absohitely no doubt that i
Lh:lii)t: hl;aked presentation should be used and in all other cases a separate‘ 3

-S'Il’aw‘baymenrmk: credit facili:y, _' -
The first main risk associated with non-interest bearmg debts is slow payment nsk *
(mcludmg the upside potential from prompt payment by debtors). Where the:
ﬁnance cost charged by the factor is essentially a fixed sum determined at the time

d be adopted. P v the transfer i is made, the factor will bear the risk of slow payment;  where it varies to
presentation shoul P o . I i feflect the speed of collection of the debts subsequently, the seller will bear that risk.

. ’ . Lm0 .Close attention,to the arrangements and to their commercial effect in practice may
Bmeﬁfsﬂndmk’ ' L. B R

_be necessary to determine whether a variable finance cost falls upon the seller since

it it may take.various forms, mcludmg a bonus for early settlement, or a retrospccuve
C5 The main latmg to debts are as follows R it
em beneﬁts and nsks 1e o ‘

g) t.he future cash ﬂows from payment by the debtors. : ‘. . : : :_ . Credit risk: eredit prorecn'on Jacility
Risks:
(i) slow payment risk; and

. ; C:edn risk is the other main risk associated with trade debts. If there is no recourse
(i) credit risk (the risk of bad debts). | . e e

g ’to the seller for bad debts, the factor will bear this risk; if there is full recourse, the
g beller will bear it. Furthérmore, as non-payment is merely the ultimate form of slow
Fpaynient, where credit risk is retained by the seller, the latter will normally also bear

Fat least some risk of slow payment. For example, where the arrangement takes the
foxm of the seller repurchasing debts that remain outstanding after a given time, the

llcr bears the slow payment nsk beyond tlns nme as well as beanng the crcdlt

Analysis of benefits JR R
i has access to the cash flows
first ce it may appear that t.he tactor '
© ?atymentglg;l debtors. This may be particularly so if the money that is collecte
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Administration arrangements and service-only factoring . - =~

For the purpose of deciding upon the appropriate accounting treatment, the admin-
istration arrangements will not be directly significant (provided they are on an arm’s
length basis, and for a fee that is commensurate with the service provided). In a
service-only factoring arrangement, where the factor administers the sales ledger but

cash is received no earlier than if the debts had not been factored, the seller.retains -

access to the benefits of the debts and exposure to their inherent risks. Thus such an
arrangement should be accounted for by using a separate presentation. -

Derecognition

Derecognition (ie ceasing to recognise the factored debts in their entirety) is .’

appropriate only where the seller retains no significant benefits and no significant
risks relating to the factored debts.” - : '

Whilst the coinmercial effect of any particular transaction should be assessed taking
into account all its aspects and implications, the presence of all of the following

indicates that the seller has not retained significant benefits and risks, and derecogni- -

tion is appropriate: L AP
(a) the transaction takes place at an arm’s length price for an outright sale;
the transaction is for a fixed amount of consideration and there is no recourse
- whatsoever, either implicit or explicit, to the seller for losses from either slow
payment or non-payment. Normal warranties given in respect of the condition
‘of the debts at the time of the transfer (eg a warranty that goods have been
delivered or that the borrower’s credit limit had not been breached at the time

of granting him credit) would not breach this condition. However, warranties

relating to the condition of the debts in the future or to their future perform-

ance (eg that debtors will not move into arrears in the future) would breach the"

condition. Other possible forms of recourse are set oist in'paragraph 83; and .
the seller will not benefit or suffer in any way if the debts perform better or
worse than expected. This will not be the case where the seller has'a right to
further sums from the factor which vary according to the future pérformance of

(c)

the debts (ie according to whether or when the debtors pay). Such sums might
take the form of deferred consideration, a fetrospective adjustment to the

purchase price, or rebates of certain charges; they include all forms of variable
finance cost. :

Where any of the above three features is not present, this 'mdicates. that the seller has
retained benefits and risks relating to the factored debts and, unless these are
insignificant, either a separate presentation or a linked 'presentation should be
adopted. . - . e Cin

Whether any benefit andAn'sk retained are ‘signii,ii:ant'.shdu.‘ld be ju&ged in relatioh:
to those benefits and risks that are likely to occur in practice.and pot in relation to-
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the total possible benefits and risks. For example, if for a portfolio of factored debts

of 100, expected bad debts are 5 and there is recourse to the seller for credit losses of
_upto 10, significant risk wilt have been retained (as the seller would bear losses of up
to twice those expected to oecur). Accordingly, in this example, derecognition would
not be appropriate and either a linked presentation or a separate presentation
should be used. The terms of any roll-over provisions and their effect in practice
require careful consideration since these may result in the seller continuing to bear
" significant risk where, at first sight, it appears that the arrangements do not have this
. effect. For example, the pricing of future transfers may be adjusted to reflect recent
* slow payment or bad debt experience and there may be a significant disinéentive (eg
. a penalty) for the seller to cancel the arrangement. This may result in the seller
continuing to bear significant risk, albeit disguised as revised charges for debts
factored subsequently.- .- -~ - oo o e b

Linked presentation

" A linked presentation will be appropriate where, although the seller has retained
- significant benefits and risks relating to the factored debts, there is absolutely no
doubt that its downside-exposure to loss is limited to a fixed mopetary amount. A
linked presentation should be used only to the extent that there is both absolutely no
‘doubt that the factor's ¢laim extends solely to collections from the factored debts,
. and no provision for the seller to re-acquire the debts in the future. The conditions
 that need to be'iet in order for.this to be the case are set out in paragraph 27 and
explained in paragraphs 81-86. When interpreting these conditions in the context of
. a factoring arrangement the following points apply:- ’ A

condition (a) (specified assets) -

;: @ linked presentation should not be used where the debts that have been factored
. cannot be separately identified. ' .

1
- condition (d) (that the factor agrees in writing there is no recourse, and such
-agreement is noted in the financial statements) — - ‘
the inclusion of an appropriate statement in the factoring agreement will meet the
-:; first part of this condition.. -.:.-- . .-, croe e e :

LA [

. agreement must be carefully analysed'in order to ensure that the: conditions for a
: linked presentation are met, It will be nécessary that, although the factor does not
take on any new debts, it continues to bear losses on debts already factored and is not
ble to transfer them back to the seller. Where this is not the case, there remains the
£ possibility that the factor will return debits that it suspects to be bad by terminating
the ‘arrangement. In such acase the. seller’s exposure to’loss is-not limited, and a
separate presentationshould be adopted. S Te T

1
..

i
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Separate presentation

Where the seller has retained significant benefits and risks relating to the debts and
the conditions for a linked presentation are not met, a separate presentation should
be adopted. o - N

Required accounting

Derecognition R
Where the seller has retained no significant benefits and risks relating to the debts
and has no obligation to repay amounts received from the factor, the debts should be
removed from its balance sheet and no liability shown in respect of the proceeds
received from the factor. A profit or loss should be recognised, calculated as the
difference between the carrying amount of the debts and the proceeds received.
Linked presentation e .
Where the conditions for a linked presentation are met, the proceeds ;ebeived,_tq the
extent they are non-returnable, should be shown deducted from the.gross amount of
the factored debts (after providing for bad debts, credit protection charges ‘and any
accrued interest) on the face of the balance sheet. An example is given in illustration
2 below. The interest element of the factor’s charges should bé recognised as it
accrues and included in the profit and loss account with other interest charges. The
notes to the financial statements should disclose: the main terms of the arrangement;
the gross amount of factored debts outstanding at the balance sheet date; the

factoring charges recognised in the period, analysed as appropriate ‘(eg between

interest and other charges); and the disclosures requiiréd by conditions (c) and(d) in-

paragraph 27,

Sepamrepmentm'én . ' : ‘ .

- otee -

Where neither derecognition nor a linked presentation is appropriate, ‘a separate - . C
presentation should be adopted, ie a gross asset (equivalent in amount to the gross -8

amount of the debts) should be shown on the baldnce sheet of the seller within

assets, and a corresponding liability in-respect of the proceeds received from the 4
factor should be shown within liabilities. The interest element of the factor’s charges 3
should be recognised as it accrues and included in the profit and loss account with 4
other interest charges. Other factoring .costs: should be similarly ‘accrued and 2
inciuded in the profit and loss account within the appropriate caption. The notes to 33

the financial statements should disclose the amount of factored debts outstanding at
the balance sheet date. R R Lo
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no i

*For'a debt of 100 that subsequently proves to be bad, the proceeds received would be 100, less the credit
protection fee of 1, less an i->vest charge calculated for 90 days at base rate plus 2.5%. . :
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APPLICATION NOTE D - SECURITISED ASSETS e

Features . S
Securitisation is a means by which providers of finance fund'a specific block of assets
rather than the general business of a company. The assets that have been most
commonly securitised in the UK are household mortgages. Other receivables spc_:h as..
credit card balances, hire purchase loans and trade debts are sometimes securitised,

as are non-monétary assets such as property and stocks. This Application Note

applies to all kinds of assets. - . e T

The main features are generally as follows: . -

(a)

()

()

-y ,

FRS 5 SUBSTANCE OF TRANSACTIONS ' 2.008
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(d) The originator is granted rights to surplus income (and, where relevant, capital
-profits) from the assets - ie to cash remaining after payment of amounts due on
. the loan notes and other expenses of the issuer.- The mechanisms used to
-achieve this include: servicing of other fees; deferred sale consideration; ‘super
interest’ on amounts owed to the originator {eg subordinated debt); dividend
. . payments; and swap payments. . . g S
(¢) Inthe case of securitised debts, the originator may continue to service the debts
(ie to collect amounts due from borrowers, set interest rates etc). In this
- - capacity it is referred to as the ‘servicer’ and receives a servicing fee. -
() Cash accumulations from -the assets (eg from mortgage redemptions) are
reinvested by the issuer until loan notes are repaid: Any difference between the
-+ interest rate obtained on reinvestments and that payable on the loan notes will
normally affect the originator’s surplus under (d} above. The terms of the loan
notes may provide for theni to be redeemed as’assets are realised, thus
r;. - minimising this reinvestment period. Alternatively, cash accumulations may be
invested in a ‘guaranteed investment contract’ that pays a guaranteed rate of:r
interest {which may be determined by reference to a variable benchmark raté:_ii

Another altemative, used particularly for short-term debts arising under a”
facility (eg credit card balances), is a provision for cash receipts (here from card
repayments) to be reinvested in similar assets (eg new balances on the same
credit card accounts). This reinvestment in similar assets will occur for a
specified period only, after which time cash accurnulations will either be used
to redeem loan notes or be reinvested in other more liquid assets until loan.
notes are repaid. _ o o
(g) In certain circumstances, for example if tax changes affect the payment of
""" interest to the noteholders or if the principal amount of loan notes outstanding -
- declines to a specified level, the issuer may have an option to buy back they:
; . . ' notes. Such repurchase may be funded by thé originator, ini which case the
The assets to be securitised a.re.ti-ansfened bya company (the ‘originator”) to """ originator will re-acquire the securitised assets.”" o C
a special purpose vehicle (the ‘issuer’) in return for an_immediate cash-". L
payment. Additional deferred consideration may also be payable. . . .
The iscuer finances the transfer by the issue of debt, usually tradeable 1‘??}1
potes or commercial paper (referred to below as_‘loan notes’). The issuer is
usually thinly capitalised and its shares placed with a party other than the
origipator — charitable trusts have often been used for this purpose - with the ?
cesult that the issuer is pot classified as a subsidiary of the originator under*
companies legislation. In addition, the major financial and operating policies of
the issuer are usually predetermined by the agreements that constitute the
securitisation, such that neither the owner of its share capital nor the originator
has any significant continuing discretion over how it is run. y
Arrangements ar¢ made to protect the loan noteholders from losses occurnng (i
on the assets by a process termed 'credit enhancement’. This may take the form’ I8
of third party insurance, a third party guarantee of the issuer’s obligations or an
issue of subordinated debt (perhaps to the originator); all provide a cushion'¥
against losses up to a fixed amount. A e e

&’ From the originator’s standpoint, .the effect of the arrangement is usually that it
continues to obtain the benefit of surplus income (and, where relevant, capital
§:". profits) from the securitised assets and bears losses up to a set amount. Usually,
- however, the originator is protected from losses beyond a limited amount and has
Pt transferred catastrophe risk to the issuer. :

Atinga e ,

_ the appropriate accounting treatment in thé originator’s individual company
yfinancial statements. There are three possible reatments:

:1:(i). -: to remove the securitised assets from the balance sheet and show no
:  liability in respect of the note issue, merely retaining the net amount (if
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any) of the securitised assets less the loan notes as a smgle item
(‘derecognition’);- Sou
(ii) to show the proceeds of the note issue deducted from the secunnsed
. assets on the face of the balance sheet w:thm a smgle asset captlon (a
‘linked presentation’); or
(iii) to show an asset equivalent in amount to the gross secuntrsed assets
- within assets, and a corresponding liability in respect of the proceeds of
the note issue within creditors (a ‘separate presentation’-); ST
(b). the appropriate accounting-treatment-in-the issuer's: financial statements.
Again there are three possible treatments dereoogmtton, a lmked presentatlon
- - Or aseparate presentation; and - I o
{c). the appropnate aeoountmg treatment in the ongmator s group acoounts This
involves issues of:
(1) whether the issueris a subsrdrary or (more usually) a qua51»subs1d1ary of
the originator such that it should be mcluded in the ongmator s group
accounts; and - RN .
(ii)) where the issuer is a quasl-subs:dtary, whether a lmked presentatton
should be adopted in the ongmator s consohdated aocodnts

i

Each of these is eonsldered in more detall below

(a) Originator's individual accounts o . s
Overview of basic principles

The principles for determmmg the appropnate accounting | treatment in the ongl-r
nator’s individual company financial statements are similar to those applied in both
Application Note C - ‘Factoring of debts’ and in Application Note E - ‘Loan
transfers’. It is necessary to establish what asset and liability. (l.f a.ny) the, ongmator .
now has, by answering two questions:

(a) whether the originator has access to the benefits of the securitised assets and
exposure to the risks inherent in those beneﬁts (referred to, below as ‘beneﬁts :
and risks") and g Ly

(b) - whether the ongmator hasa halnhty to repay the prooeeds of the note issue.;

Where the originator has transferred ali srgmﬁcant beneﬁts and nsks relatmg to the )

securitised assets and has no obligation to repay the proceeds of the note issue,

derecognition is appropriate; where the originator has retained significant ‘benefits
and risks relating to the securitised assets but there is absolutely no doubt that its
downside exposure to loss is limited, a linked presentauon should be used and in all
other cases a separate presentation should be adopted. :

The benefits and risks relating to securitised assets will depend on the nature of th

particular assets involved. In the case of interest bearing loans, the benefits and risks
are described in paragraph E6 of Application Note E - ‘Loan. "-msfers
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" Derecognition

-+

Derecognition (ie ceasing to recognise the securitised assets in their entirety) is
appropriate only where the originator retains no sngmﬁcant benefits and no sig-
nificant nsks relating to the securitised assets.

W'hﬂst the commerc:al eﬁ’ect of any partlcu]ar transactron should be assessed takmg

. into account all its aspects and implications, the presence of -all of the following

indicates that the originator has not retained srgmﬁcant beneﬁts and risks, and
detecogmnon is appropnate : :

(a) the transaction takes place at an arm’s length pnce for an outnght sale;

(b) . the transaction is for a fixed amount of consideration and there is no recourse.

‘whatsoever, either implicit or exphmt to the originator for losses from what-
ever cause. Normal warranties given in respect of the condition of the assets at
the time of the transfer (eg in a mortgage securitisation, a warranty that no
., mortgages are in arrears at the time of transfer, or that the i .income of the
borrower at the time of granting the mortgage was above a specified amount)
.. would not breach this condition. However, warranties relating to the condition
" “of the assets in the future or to their future performance (eg that mortgages will
not move into arrears in the future) would breach the condition. Other possible

<. forms of recourse are set out in paragraph 83; and .

(©) ' the originator will not benefit or suffer if the securitised assets perform better’

1. or worse than expected. This will not be the case where the originator has a

. - -right to further sums from the vehicle that vary according to the eventual value

« . realised for the securitised assets. Such sums could take a number of forms, for

- ."instance deferred consideration, a performance-related servicing fee, pay-

#i. - ments under a swap, dividends from the vehicle, or payments from a reserve
fund.

Where any of these three features is not present, this indicates that the originator has
retained benefits and risks relating to the securitised assets and, unless these are
insignificant, either a separate presentanon or a Imked presentauon should be
adopted

‘Whether any benefit and risk retained are srgmﬁcant should be Judged in relation

to those benefits and risks that are likely to occur in practice, and not in relation to
¢ total possible benefits and risks. Where the profits or losses accruing to the
originator are material in relation to those likely to occur in practice, significant
enefit and risk will be retained. For example, if for a portfolio of securitised assets
of 100, expected losses are 0.5 and there is recourse to the ori iginator for losses of up
5, the originator will have retained all but an insignificant part of the downside risk

: relatmg to the assets (ss the ongmator bears losses of up to ten ttmes those expected
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to occur). Accordingly, in this example, derecognition will not be appropriate and
either a linked presentation or a separate presentation should be used.

Linked presentation

A linked presentation will be appropnate where, although the ongmator has
retained significant benefits and risks relating to the securitised assets, there is
absolutely no doubt that its downside exposure to loss is limited to a fixed monetary
amount. A linked presentation should be used only to the extent that there is both .
absolutely no doubt that the noteholders’ claim extends solely to the proceeds
generated by the securitised assets, and there is no provision for the originator to ré-
acquire the securitised assets in the future. The conditions that need to be met in
order for this to be the case are set out in paragraph 27 and explamed in paragraphs
81-86. When interpreting these conditions’ |n the context of a secunttsatton the
following peints apply:

condition (a) (spec:ﬁed assets) - ' e "
a linked presentation should not be used where the assets that have been
securitised cannot be separately identified. Nor should a linked presentation be
used for assets that generate the funds requlred to repay the ﬁnance on.ly by being
" used in conjunction wlth other assets of the ongtnator o

dr ey

Tl

condition {d) (agreement in writing that there is no recourse; such agreement noted -
in the financial statements) = i :
where the noteholders have snbscnbed toa prospectus or offenng clrcular tha

clearly states that the originator will not support any losses of either the issuer or

the noteholders, the first part of this condition will be met. Provisions that give th
noteholders recourse to funds generated by both the securitised assets themselve

and third party credit enhancement of those assets would also ‘not breach this

DL

condition;

condition (f) (no provnsmn for the origimator to repurchase assets) = . . . .1
where there is provision for the originator to repurchase on]y part of the s
tised assets (or otherwise to fund the redemption of loan notes by the msuer),
maximum payment that could result should be excluded from the amount ded
ted on the face of the balance sheet. Where there is provision for the issuer

not the ongmator) to redeem loan notes before an equivalent amount has,_ cLn.
q-\ R

realised in cash from the securitised assets,.a linked presentatxon may.
appropnate provided there is no obligation (legal, commercial of other) for thet
originator to fund the redemptmn {eg by repurchasmg the securmsed assets

These conditions should be regarded as met notw1thstandmg the e
interest rate swap agreement between the ongmator and the msuer pr.

following conditions are met: i e A o il

(a) - the swap is on arm’s length market-related terms and the obhgatlons of {hi

issuer under the swap are not subordinated to any of its obhgauons une
loan notes;
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: _ln the case of securitisations of ,t‘evolving assets that arise under a facility (eg credit

" card balances), a careful analysis of the mechanism for repaying the loan notes is
* "required in order to establish whether or not conditions {b) and (f) in paragraph 27
.. are met. For such assets, the loan notes are usnally tepaid from proceeds received
" during a penod of time (referred to as the ‘repayment period’). The proceeds

FRS 5 SUBSTANCE O TRANSACTIONS

{b) the variable interest raté(s) that are swapped are determined by reference to
publicly quoted rates that are not under the control of the originator;

at the time of transfer of the assets to the issuer, the originator had hedged
exposures relating to these assets {either individually or as part of a larger
portfolio) and entering into the swap effectively restores the hedge position left
open by their transfer. Thereafter, where the hedging of the originator’s
exposure under the swap requires continuing management, any necessary

requirement will be particularly relevant where any prepayment nsk mvolved
© cannot be hedged exactly

- The conditions for a hnked presentatron ‘should also.be regarded as met notwith-
standlng the existence of an interest rate cap agreement between the originator and
the issuer provided that, in addition to all the above conditions bemg met, the
securitisation was entered mto before 22 September 1994.

-—
—

received in the repayment period will typically comprise both repayments of
securitised balances existing at the start of the repayment period and repayments of

lb::tlarnv::es arising subsequently (for example arising from new borrowings in the

repayment penod on the credlt «card accounts securitised). In order that the condi-

nh transfer addmonal assets to the issuer in order to establish whether or. not

Pconditions (b) and () in paragraph 27 are met. To the extent that the originator is
oblxged to replace poorly performing assets with good ones, there is recourse to the
ongmator and a linked presentauon should not be used. However, where there is

... provision for the originator to add new assets to replace those that have been
BYepa id earlier than éxpected (and thus to ‘top up’ the poolin order to extend the life
Nifithe' securitisation), the conditions for a linked presentation may still be met. For

ﬁnked presentatlon to be-used, it is necessary that the addition of new assets does
lresult in erther the originator bemg exposed to losses on the new or the old

_IS the same as lf the noteholders were tepaid in cash and they immediately

‘ egdl t}xnt_msh in new assets and a linked presentatron may be appropriate.
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Separate presentation

Where the originator has retained significant benefits and risks relating to the

securitised assets and the conditions for a linked presentation are not met, the

originator should adopt a separate presentation.” - - - - T

f ot b L
CRNLL I PR

There are some arrangements where oné_issqé-r_ serves seve‘l"al"b'rig-inators; The
arrangement may be structured such that each oﬁginator receives future benefits
based on the performance of a defined portfolio of assets (typically those it has

transferred to the issuer and continues to service or.use). For instance, in a mortgage -
securitisation, the benefits accruing to any particular origifiator may be calculated as

the interest payments received from a defined portfolio of mortgages, less costs
specific to that portfolio (eg insurance premiums, payments for credit facilities), less
an appropriate share of the funding costs of the issuer. The effect is that each
originator bears significant benefits and risks of a defined pool of mortgages, whilst
being insulated from the benefits and risks of other mortgages héld by the issuer.
Thus each originator should show that pool of mortgages for which it has significant
benefits and risks on the face of its balance sheet, using either a linked presentation
(if the conditions for its use are met) or a separate presentation, -

(b) Issuer’s acmM

The principles set out in paragraphs D5~D15 for the originator’s individual financial
statements also apply to the issuer’s financial statements. In.a securitisation, the
issuer usually has access to all future benefits from the securitised assets (in the case
of mortgages, to all cash collected from mortgagors) and is exposed to all their
inherent risks. Hence, derecognition will not be appropriate. In addition, the
noteholders usually have recourse to all the assets of the issuer (these may include
the securitised assets themselves, the benefit of any related insurance policies or
credit enbancement, and a small amount of cash). In this situation, the issuer’s
exposure to loss is not limited, and use of a linked presentation will not be
appropriate. Thus the issuer should usually adopt a separate presentation. - '
(c) Originator’s group financial statements * .. . .
Assuming a separate presentation is used in the issuer’s financial statements but not
in those of the originator, the question arises whether the relationship between the
issuer and the originator is such that the issuer should be included in the originator’s
group financial statements: The following considerations are relevant::ii 1 - - ;-
(2) ‘Where the issuer meets the definition of a subsidiary, it should be consolidated
in the normal way by applying the relevant provisions of companies legislation
and Frs 7. Where the issuer is not a subsidiary, the provisions of this Frs
regarding quasi-subsidiaries are relevant. .

ey
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(b) In order to meet the definition of a quasi- subsidiary, the issuer must give rise
to benefits for the originator that are in substance no different from those that
would arise were the entity a subsidiary. This will be the case where the
originator receives the future benefits arising from the net assets of the issuer
(principally the securitised assets less the loan notes). It is not necessary that
the originator could face a possible benefit outflow equal in amount to the
issuer’s gross liabilities. Strong evidence of whether this part of the definition is
met is whether the originator stands to suffer or gain from the financial

- . performance of the issuer. : . :

{c) . The definition of a quasi-subsidiary also requires that the issuer is directly or
indirectly controlled by the originator. Usually securitisations exemplify the
situation described in paragraphs 34 and 98, in that the issuer’s financial and
operating policies are in substance predetermined (in this case under the
various agreements that constitute the securitisation). Where this is so, the

~ the issuer’s net assets. . :
It follows that it should be presilmed that the issuerisa quasi-subsidiary where either
of the following is present:

(a) the originator bas rights to the benefits arising from the issuer’s net assets, ie to
those benefits generated by the securitised assets that remain after meéting the
claims of noteholders and other expenses of the issuer. These benefits may be
'transf)erred to the originator in a number of forms, as described in paragraph
D2(dY; or . h s -

(b) the originator has thé risks inherént in these b:eneﬁts;. This will be the case

" where, if the benefits are greater or less than expected (eg becduse of the

securitised assets realising more or less than expected), the originator gains or
suffers. I T C

In general, where an issuer’s activities comprise holding securitised assets and the
benefits of its net assets accrue to the originator, the issuer will be a quasi-subsidiary
of the. originator. Conversely, the issuer will not be a quasi-subsidiary of the
: - . originator where the owner of the issuer is an independent third party that has made
" - a substantial capital investment in the issuer, has control of the issuer, and has the

E -+ benefits and risks of its net assets,

.-Where the issuer is a quasi-subsidiary of the origipator, the question arises whether
- a linked presentation should be adopted in the originator’s group financial state-
- ments. It follows from paragraph 37 that where the issuer holds a single portfolio of

. similar assets, and the effect of the arrangement is to ring-fence the assets and their
k- related finance in such a way that the provisions of paragraphs 26 and 27 are met
¢+ from the point of view of the group, a linked presentation should be used. ’
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" securitised assets on the face of the balance sheet within a single asset caption, Profit .

e
/

2.005 - FRS 5 SUBSTANCE OF TRANSACTIONS 3"  ¥RS 5 SUBSTANCE OF TRANSACTIONS 2005
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Reguired accounting ' ' SR 'the note issue shown within Labilities. No gain or loss should be recognised at the
: SRR " ‘35 time the securitisation is entered into (unless adjustment to the carrying value of the
“assets independent of the securitisation is required). Disclosure should be given in
the notes to the financial statements of the gross amount of assets securitised at the

* ‘balance sheet date. "

Originator’s individual financial statements

Derepoguiﬁon ) o _ L
Where the originator has retained no significant benefits and risks relating to the :
securitised assets and has no obligation to repay the proceeds of the note issue, the -
assets should be removed from its balance sheet, and no liability sHown in respect of : . . .
the proceeds of the note issue. A profit or loss should be recognised, calculated as the ‘The requirements set out in paragraphs D21-D24 for the originator’s individual
difference between the carrying amount of the assets and the proceeds received.  i#s  financial statements also apply to'the issuer’'s financial statements. For the reasons

Ce e 3. set outin paragraph D16, in most cases the issuer will be required to adopt a separate

- Issuer’s financial statements

Linked presentation A . ‘presentation, in which case the provisions of paragraph D24 will apply.
Where the corditions for a linked presentation are met, the proo'eeds of the note ? e o :
issue (to the extent they are non-returnable} should be shown deducted from the gz \Originator's consolidated financial statements

should be recognised and presented in the manner set out in paragraphs 28 and

87-88. The following.disclosures should be given: - ‘Where the issuer is a quasi-subsidiary of the originator, its assets, liabilities, profits,

" losses and cash flows should be included in the originating group’s consolidated

(a) a description of the assets securitised, ) L o " . financial statements. Where the provisions of paragraph D20 are met, a linked

(b) the amount of any income Or. expense recognised in the period, analysed ‘as <. ‘presentation should'be applied in the consolidated financial statements and the
appropriate; o . iR disclosures required by paragraphs D22 and D23 should be given; in all other cases

(c) the terms of any options for the originator to repurchase assets or to transfer a separate presentation should be used and the disclosure required by paragraph
additional assets to the issier; UM " D24 should be given. . A

{(d) the terms of any interest rate swap or interest rate cap agreements between the ! .Table :

issuer and the originator that meet thé conditions set out in paragraph D11’
(¢) adescription of the priority and amount of claims on the proceeds generated by

the assets, including any rights of the originator t¢ proceeds from the assets in ;:

addition to the non-recourse amounts already received; - =~
(f) the ownership of the issuer; and e . ' L
(g) the disclosures required by conditions (c) and (d) in paragraph 27."

ol
ceaf

Where an originator uses a linked presentation for several different securitisations ;
that all relate to a single type of asset {ie all the assets, if not securitised, would be
shown within the same balance sheet caption), these may be ‘aggrégated on the face
of the balance sheet. However, securitisations of different types of asset should be
shown separately. In addition, details of each material arrangement should be
provided in the notes to the financial statements, unless they are on similar terms and .;
relate to a single type of asset, in which case they may be disclosed in'aggregate: »

. L ) LI YV LR LE 1 ()

Separate presentation T T L

- . . . PRI T EE P T T AR oy 12
Where neither derecognition nor a linked presentation is appropriate, a separate
presentation should be adopted, ie a gross asset (equal in amount to the gross:iig
amount of the securitised assets) should be shown on the balance sheet of the:y
originator within assets, and a corresponding liability in respect of the proceeds of 3

214 : B . _ 275

D25

D26



) 1 §

2,005 FRS 5 SUBSTANCE OF TRANSACTIONS

APPLICATION NOTE E - LOAN TRANSFERS

NB: In this Application Note, the followiog terminclogy is used: *.

(a) the ‘lender’ is the. party that has rights to principal and interest under the
original loan agreement, and is purporting to transfer them; : C

(b) the ‘transferee’ is the party purporting to acquire the loan, and includes a new
lender (in a novation), an assigneé and a sub-participant; - . R

(c) the ‘borrower’ is the party that has obligations to make payments of principal
and interest under the original loan agreement; and :

(d) references to the transfer of a ‘loan’ or ‘loans’ apply eQu_a-}l).( to:the tra{nsfer.‘of '

both a single loan and a portfolio of loans.

Features

This Application Note deals with the transfer of intetest-beaﬁng loans to an entity ~
;nhﬁer than a special purpose vehicle. The main features of a lodn transfer are as
ollows: . - o : .

FRS 5 SUBSTANCE OF TRANSACTIONS 2.005

(a) Specified loans are transferred from a lender to a transferee by one of the
methods set out in paragraph E2 below, in return for an immediate cash
payment. The transfer may be of the whole of a single loan, part of a loan, or of
all or part of a portfolio of similar loans. ’ '

(b) Payments of principal and interest collected from borrowers are passed to the
transferée (either direct or via thé lender). In some cases, there may be a
difference between amounts received from borrowers and those passed to the
transfereé (the lender retaining or making up the difference), or if a borrower
‘fails to make payments when due, the lender may nevertheless make payments
‘to the transferee. o T e e e

Loans cannot be ‘sold’ in the same way as tangible assets. However, there are three.
methods by which the benefits and risks of a loan can be transferred:

Novation: The rights and obligations under the loan agreement are cancelled and
* replaced by new ones whose main effect is to change the identity of the lender,
Although rights can be transferred by other means, novation is the only method of
transferring obligations (eg to supply funds under an undrawn loan facility) with

- the consequent release of the lender. : ' 2

" a third party (the ‘assignee’). There are two types of assignment: statutory
" assignment, which must relate to the whole of the loan and where notice in writing
must be given to the borrower and other obligors (eg a guarantor), and equitable
assignment, which may relate to only part of a loan and which does not require
_notice to the borrower. Both types are subject to equitable rights arising before
*‘notice is received. For example, a right of set-off held by the borrower against the

lender will be good against the assignee for any transactions undertaken before
the borrower receives notice of the assignment. .. :

Sub-participation: Rights and obligations are not formally transferred but the lender

" enters into a non-recourse back-to-back agreement with a third party, the ‘sub
participant’, under which the latter deposits with the lender an amount ¢qual to
the whole or part of the loan and in return receives from the lender a share of the
cash flows arising on the loan.

“The terms of a loan transfer will usually not be identical to those of the original loan,
and a gain or loss will arise for the lender. This gain or loss may occur in one of two

* ways: first, if all future payments made by the borrower (and oaly such payments)

are to be passed to the transferee, the copsideration for the transfer will differ from

the carrying amount of the loan and the lender’s gain or loss will be realised in cash
immediately. Alternatively, the consideration for the transfer may be set equal to
the carrying amount of the loan; and the amounts to be piid by the borrower and
those to be passed on to the transferee will differ. In this case; the lender’s gain or

.loss will be the net present value of this difference and will be realised in cash over
the term of the loan. -~ - S o

777

Assignment: Rights (to princibal apd interest), but not obligations, are transferred to

E2



S

2.005 FRS 5 SUBSTANCE OF TRANSACTIONS

Analysis

Overview of basic principles e
The purpose of the analysis is to determine the appropriate accounting Ueauﬁent in
the financial statements of the lender. There are three possible treatments:

{a) toremove the loan (or a part of it) from the balance sheet and show no liability
- in respect of the amounts received from the transferee.(‘derecognition’);

(b) to show the amounts reccived from the transferee deducted from the loan on ’
the face of the balance sheet within a single asset caption (a ‘linked presenta--

tion"); or : .

(c) to continue to show the loan as an asset, and show a corresponding liability
within creditors in respect of the amounts received from the transferee {a
‘separate presentation’). e N R L :

E5 The ﬁrinciples to be applied to determine the appropriate aooounﬁng treatment are

similar to those applied in both Application Note D ~ ‘Securitised assets’ relating to
individual (rether than consolidated) financial statements and in Application Note C
— ‘Factoring of debts’. It is necessary to answer two questions: .

(2) whether the lender has access to the benefits of the loans and exposure to the
risks inherenit in those benefits (referred to below ‘as ‘benefits and risks’);
and - T '.‘l . . .'_r'_-‘."F.' 'v_ "

(b) whetheér the lender has a liability to repay the transferee. .

Where the lender has transferred ali significant benefits and risks relating to the
loans and has no obligation to repay the transferée, derecognition is appropriate
(this would b the case where all future cash flows from borrowers - but only those
cash flows — are passed to the trdnsferee as and when received). Where the lender
has retained significant benefits and risks relating to the joans but there is absolutely
10 doubt that its downside exposure to loss is limited, a linked presentation should
be used (this is likely to be rare for a loan transfer). In all other cases a separate
presentation should be adopted. s T T

Tt s
H

Benefits and risks

E6 The main benefits andrisksrelatiixgto loans areaéféllows:;— - - b
B . IS T s chm o ey ot i
Benefits: C el it .
(i) the future cash flows from payments of principal and interest.... ;-
(i) credit risk (the risk of bad debts), .-~ -~ - - SR e
{(ii) slow payment risk; R S R
(iil) interest rate risk (the risk of a change in the interest rate paid by the borrower.
Included in this risk is a form of basis risk, ie the risk of a change in the interest

[P I ¥
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rate paid by the borrower not being matched by a change in the interest rate

paid to the transferee); - T . )

(iv) reinvestment/early redemption risk (the risk that, where payments from the

- loans are reinvested by the lender before being paid to the transferee, the rate

" of interest obtained on the reinvested amounts is above or below that payable

- to the transferee); and - o ’ : )

(v) - moral risk (the risk that the lender will feel obliged, because of its continued

association with the loans, to fund any losses arising on them).

Analysis of benefits

At first sight it may appear that the transferee has access to the cash collected from
borrowers. However, as set out in more detail in paragraphs C6 and C7, the cash
flows may appear similar even where different accounting treatments are appro-

the risks relating to the loans (both upside potential for gain and downside exposure
to loss).” ' T ‘ T .

- Analysis of risks .,

The benefit of cash payments of principal and interest are subject to the five risks
outlined in paragraph E6. The first of these, credit risk, will be borpe by the lender
to the extent there is recourse to it for bad debts; if there is no such recourse, the
transferee will bear the credit risk. : '

The second risk, slow payment, will be borne by the party that suffers (or benefits)
if borrowers pay later-(or earlier) than expected. I amounts are passed to the
transferee only when received from the borrower, the transferee will bear this risk;
if the lender pays amounts to the transferee regardless of whether it has received an
equivalent payment from the borrower, the lender will bear it.

* " Interest rate risk will be borne by the lender where the interest it receives from the
& borrower and payments it makes to the transferee are not directly related*. Where

any. changes in the interest rate charged to the borrower are passed on to the
transferee after a short.administrative delay, the lender may not bear significant

_- interest rate risk; however, where any-delays are significant the lender will bear
s_igniﬁcantrisk. . ] S e

¥ The lender will bear reinvestment risk where payments received from the borrower
g5 are not immediately passed on to the transferee but are’ reinvested by the lender for

. f

*Directly related’ in this context meara that either the interest rates paid and recetved are both fixed, or the two

> rates are tied to the same external rate eg LIBOR.
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priate and considering the benefits in isolation will not normaily enable a clear.
decision to be made. Rather, it is necessary to determine which party is exposed to;,
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a period. An exception would be where the transferee is-entitled to all of any interest
actually earned (but no 'more) on the amotnts reinvested by the lender

The final risk is moral risk. For either dereeogmuon or.a linked presentanon to be
appropriate, the lender must have taken all reasonable precautions to eliminate this

risk such that it will not feel obhged to fund any losses. This will include ensuting that

the arrangements for servicing the loans reflect the standards of eornmerc1al behav-
iour expected of the lender. .

Derecognition

Derecognition (ie ceasing to recognise the loans in their entxrety) is appropriate only
where the lender retains no significant benefits and no significant risks relating to the
loans. In determmmg whether any benefit and risk retained are ‘significant’, greater

weight should be given to what is more likely to. have a commercial effect m_

practice.

The three possxble methods of transferring the bepefits and nsks relatmg toa loan
are described in paragraph E2; each may result in derecognition in appropnate
cases: .

- (a) A novation (ie the replacement of the original loan by a new one with the

consequent release of the lender) will usually trapsfer all significant benefits
and risks, provided that there are no side agreements that leave beneﬁts and
risks with the lender.

(b) An assignment (ie the transfer of the rights to pnncnpal and interest that
constitute the original loan, whilst not transferring any obhgauons) may also
transfer all significant benefits and risks, provided that, in addition' to there
being no side agreements that leave benefits and risks with the lendér, there aré
no unfulfilled obligations (eg to supply additional- funds in the event of a
restructuring of the loan) and any doubts regarding mtervenmg equttable
rights are satisfied.

() A sub-participation " (je the entering mto an addmonal non-recourse
back-to-back agreement with the sub-participant rather than the transfer of

any of the rights or obligations that constitute the original loan itself) may also ‘
transfer all significant benefits and risks, provided that the lender’s obligation’

to pay amounts to the transferee eliminates its access to benefits from the loans

but extends only to those benefits. Thus the sub-participant must have a claim oy

on all specified payments from the loans but on only those payinents, and there
must be no possibility that the lender could be required to pay amounts to the
sub-participant where it has not received equivalent payments from the bor-
rower.* Where this is the case, the loans no longer constitute 'an asset of tlie
lender, nor does the depasit placed by the sub-participant represent a liability;

*Where only part of the payments due under the original{oan are eliminated in this way, it may be appropriate

to derecognise only part of the original loen. This is addressed in paragraphs E10 and E20 below. - .
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it will therefore be appropriate to derecognise the loans. Particular attention
should be paid to the effect of the borrower asking for a rescheduling. The
lender may, for commercial reasons, wish to agree to a rescheduling plan,
whereas the sub participant may simply look to the lender for compensation if
it is not repaid. Where the lender has an obligation (legal, commercial or other)
to provide such compensation, derecognition will not be appropriate.

" Whilst the commercial effect of any perticular transaction should be assessed taking

into account all its aspects and implications, the presence of all of the following
indicates that the lender has not retained significant benefits and risks, and der-
ecognition is appropriate: - |

"(a) the trapsaction takes place at an arm’s length price for an outright sale;

{(b) the transaction is for a fixed amount of consideration and there is no recourse
whatsoever, either implicit or exphcnt to the lender for losses from whatever
.cause. Normal warranties given in respect of the condition of the loans at the
_'time of the transfer (eg a warranty that no loan was in atrears at the time of
_ transfer) wotuld not breach this condition. However, warranties relating to the
condition of the loans in the future or to their future performance (eg that loans
. will not move into arrears in the future) would breach the condition. Other

_ possible forms of recourse are set out in paragraph 83;and ~ "
(c) ' the lender will not benefit or suffer in any way if the loans perform better or
.. worse than expected This will not be the case where the lender hasa right to
.. further sums that vary according to the future performance of the loans (ie
accordmg to whether or when borrowers pay, or aceordmg to the amounts
' borrowers_pay). Such sums might take the form of an interest differential,
o deferred consnderatton a perfon:nance—related semcmg fee or payments under
~.aswap. R

Where any of these three features is not present, this indicatés that the lender has
retained benefits and risks relating to the loan and, unless these are insignificant,
ellher a scparate presentatlon or 2 linked presentatton should be adopted

Whether any beneﬁt and risk retained are stgm.ﬁcant’ should be judged in relation
to those benefits and risks that are likely to occuf in practice, and pot in relation to
the total possible benefits and risks. Where the profits or losses accruing to the
lenidér are material in relation to those likely to occur in pract:ce significant benefit
and risk will be retained, such that dereeogmtlon 'will not be appropnate and elther
a hnked présentation or a sepa.rate presentatmn should be usecl '

Lmked presentanon
e -

A hnked presentatmn wtll be eppropnate where, although the lender has retamed

. significant benefits and risks relating to the loans, there is absolutely no doubt that its

dowmside exposure to loss is limited to a fixed monetary amount: A linked presenta-
tion should be used only to the extent that there is both absolutely no doubt that the
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transferee’s claim extends solely to cash collected from the loans, and no provision

for the lender to keep or re-acquire-the loans-by repaying the. transferee. The .

conditions that need to be met in order for this to be the case are'set outin paragraph
27 and explained in paragraphs 81-86. - - L

[

Separate presentation

Where the lender retains significant benefits and risks relating to the loans and the

conditions for a linked presentation are not met, a separate presentation should be

adopted.

Transfers of part of a loan

In some cases the amount received by the lender from the transferee represents only
part of the original loan. As explained in paragraph 71, whefe, the effect of the
arrangemént is that a part of the loan is transferred, derécognition of that part will be
appropriate. This will be the case where each party hasa proportionate share of all
future cash collected from the loan {and of relatéd profits and losses). For example,

were the transfesee to be entitled to 40 per cent of ary cash flows from payments of

both principal and interest as and when paid by the borrowér (ie it does not receive

cash if such payments are niot made), the lender should cease to recognise 40 per cent

of the loan. Conversely, if the lender bears losses in preference to the transferee and
thus retains significant risk relating to thé loans, derecognition of any-part of them is

not appropriate. For example, were the’ transféree to have first claim ‘on any cash

]
.....

flows arising from a portfolio of loaris with the lender’s share acting s a cushion to

absorb any losses, the lender should continue to show the gross amoiint of the whole .

portfolio on the face of its balance sheet (although if the conditions for a linked
presentation are met, it should be q_sed)._ o e '

In other cases, the entire principal amount of a foaiimair be funcied byftlia h'gpsferee,
but there may be a difference between the interest payments due from the borrower

and those the lender has agreed to pass on to the transferee. In such cases

derecognition of a part of the original loan may still be appropriate provided that the
lender’s interest differential does not result in it bearing significant risks relating to
the loan. For instance, if the lender’s interest differential is fixed and is in substance
no more than a fee for originating or administering the loan, derecognition will be
appropriate. Conversely, if the lender’s interest differential varies depending on the
performance of the loan (as where it acts as a cushion to absorb losses or the lender
bears interest rate risk), either a separate presentation or a linked presentation
should be used.. A linked presentation should be used only where .the lender’s
maximum loss is capped, as might be the case where a variable rate loan is funded by
a fixed rate one (if the lender’s- maximum loss is capped- at the. fixed interest

payments due to the transferee). However, a linked presentation should not be used .
where the lender’s maximum loss is not capped; as will be the ‘case where a fixed rate |

toan is funded by a variable rate one, or where a loan in one currency is funded by a
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Joan in another. The principles in this paragraph apply equally where the transferee

- funds only part of thie principal amount of the original loan. -

Administration arrangements . Foe

Whethér or not the lender continues to administer the loans is not, of itself, relevant
to deciding upon the appropriate accounting treatment. However, the administra-
tion arrangements may affect where certain benefits and risks lie. For instance,
where the lender’s servicing fee is not an arm’s length fee for the services provided,
this indicates it has retained significant benefits and risks relating to the loas.

: Requircd accounting

Derecognition

Where the lender has retained no significant benefits and risks relating to the loans
and has no obligation to repay the transferee, the loans should be removed from its
balance sheet and no liability shown in respect of the amounts received from the-
transferee. A profit or loss may arise for the lender in the two ways set out in
paragraph E3. Where the profit or loss is realised in cash it should be recognised,
calculated as the difference between the carrying amount of the loans and the cash
proceeds received. Where, however, the lender’s profit or loss is not realised in cash
and there are doubts as to its amount, full provision should be made for any expected
loss but recognition of any gain, to the extent it is in doubt, should be deferred until
cash has been received. Co

Linked presentation

Where the conditions for a linked presentation are met, the proceeds received, to the
extent they are non-returnable, should be shown deducted from the gross amount of
the loans on the face of the balance sheet. Profit should be recognised and presented
as set out in paragraphs 28 and 87-88. The notes to the financial statements should

disclose: the main terms of the arrangement; the gross amount of loans transferred

and outstanding at the balance sheet date; the profit or loss recognised in the perioFI,
analysed as appropriate; and the disclosures required by conditions (¢) and (d) in
paragraph 27.

Separate presentation
Where neither derecognition nor a linked presentation is appropriate, a separate

presentation should be adopted, ie a gross asset {equivalent in amount to the gross
amount of the loans) should be shown on the balance sheet of the lender within
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ing Liability in . ived from the 2 (c) the road, hospital, prison €lc that is the subject of the PFI contract is referred -
o et it crcditrs No ginor losochould b recogiscdat & {018 the property. The word sset i eserved or e that ar recogaisd
. . : - =Yg P set. ‘ N gn]s
?he tfiret::e:f (:he transfer {unless adjustment to the carrying value of the loan 3 in the balance shee

i i financial statements should
i dent of the transfer is required). The notes to the : ould
?igcil;:: the amount of loans subject to loan transfer arrangements that are out
standing at the balance sheet date. :

FEATURES

Under a PFI contract, the private sector is responsible for supplying services that
traditionally have been provided by the public sector. It is integral to most PFI
. ‘contracts that the operator designs, builds, finances and operates a property in order
to provide the contracted service. Examples of such properties are roads, bridges,
hospitals, prisons, offices, information technology systems and educational estab-
. ents. . - . .. . .. P . —
Traiocn .

NILEY

The:main features of a PFI contract are as follows:

() A contract to provide services is awarded by the purchaser (a public sector
1! entity) to the operator (a private sector entity). The contract will specify the
level of service required over the period of the contract. Usually, the contract
also provides for a single (*unitary’) payment to be made in each period, linked
' to factors such as availability, petformance and levels of usage.
(b) A property, which is legally owned by or leased to the operator, will usually be
necessary to perform the contracted service. Such properties include buildings
(eg a prison or hospital), roads, railways, bridges, vehicles, and computer
~ systems. Under the PFI contract, the operator will typically design, build,
'** finance and operate the property. The contract may specify features or stan-
dards required of the property, for example, in order to satisfy statutory
. Jobligations of the purchaser. The property may or may not have potential for
'-third-party use during the term of the PFI contract. - o
g(c)1 The PFI contract will specify arrangements for the property at the end of the
s contract term (which may include various options available to one or both
parties). Legal title to the property may pass to the purchaser for a fixed,
‘pethaps nominal, price. Alternatively, or in addition, there may be provision to
¢'re-tender the PFI contract for a further term and for the property to pass to the
successful new operator. In either of these cases the PFI contract may require -
g¥irthe property to be maintained to a'minimum standard or to have a stated
R, remaining useful ‘economic life at the end of the contract term. Further
% possibilities are that the operator retains legal title to the asset at the end of the
PFI contract or that the purchaser acquires legal title to the property for its
market value at the time, o S o
NUJF% As a public sector body, the purchaser is required to demonstrate that the
= iivolvement of the private sector offers value for money when compared with
falternative ways of providing the services. This is generally achieved by a
nsfer of risk from t.hﬁ_gublic to the private sector,

2
oili

APPLICATION NOTE F - PRIVATE F[NANCE]NITIATIVE A
SIMILAR CONTRACTS L

NB In this Application Note the following terminology is used:

i i ' "cés'-u:iii-
ity (usually a public sector body) that acquires sérvi
(a) ?gv:t';“gmgm In};tiat?ve {PFI) contract is referreai to as th‘e,- purchas:;-’ _
(b) the entity (usually a private sector body) that provides services u::etr
contract in return for payments from tht; purch'(.:sr':f. s rfffn {';:
‘operator’. ' ‘ il 1
4
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Contracts of a similar nature to PFI contracts exist between entities in the privaté
sector, for example some contracts for warehousing and distribution services, where . 3
a property is necessary to perform the contracted service. This Application Note is B
relevant to such contracts. : .

A (8) -

: ST
ANALYSIS -
’ - L . Tt o)
Overview of basic principles , = R : . RS Ilr
' h ' ) Lt ' TR ":"4"\‘.:‘:‘

: St C e LT e,
Present practice, is mot to capitalise . contracts, for services: However, where a 4
property is needed to fulfil a contract for services, present practice may require the

property to be recognised as the purchaser’s asset. (For example, this is the case fi
some take-or-pay contracts where the operator builds a specialist property with lind
alternative use.) The purpose of the analysis below is to determine: .. .. ..

0

(a) whether the purchaser in a PFI contract has an asset of the property used to 3
provide the contracted services together with a corresponding liability to pay,{8
the operator for it or, alternatively, has a contract only for services; and i
whether the operator has an asset of the property used, to provide the 2
contracted services or, alternatively, a financial asset being a debt due from the ¥
purchaser. o ' :

()

Under the general principles of the Frs, a party.will have an asset of the property}
where that party has access to the benefits of the property and exposure to the riské}
inherent in those benefits. If that party is the purchaser, it will have a corresponding]
liability to pay the operator for the property where the commercial effect of the PF13
contract is to require the purchaser to pay amounts to the operator that coyer the
cost of the property. S o : 5

In some cases the contract may be separable, ie the commercial effect will be tha
elements of the PF1 payments operate'independeutly of ‘each other. ‘Operaté]
independently’ means that the elements'behave differently and can therefore_be|
separately identified. Where this is the case; and where some elements relate only {0
services (such as cleaning, laundry, catering etc) rather than to. the property, any]
such service elements are not relevant to determining whether each party l;as'
asset of the property and should be ignored. A contract may.be separable in variouX
circumstances (see paragraph F10). A

AT

pTi

Once any separable service elements have been excludéd, PFI contracts p
classed into: . R T T
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th_ose whe!-e the only remaining etements are péyri:ents for the property. These
will be akin to a lease ?nd ssap 21 ‘Accounting for leases and hire purchase
contracts’ (interpreted in the light of the Frs) should be applied. -

" other contracts (i_e where the remaining elements include some services).
.. . These contracts will fall directly within the Frs rather than ssap21. - =~

v For those contracts that fall directly within the Frs, the question of whether a party
- has an asset of the property should be determined by looking at the extent to which
. gach party would bear any variations inl property profits (or losses). There are three

‘:unportaﬂt principles to be ¢onsidered when undertaking such an analysis: '

A range of factors will be relevant -in-determining the extent to which each
- - party would bear any variations in property profits {or losses) and it will be
: necessary to look at the overall effect of these factors-when taken together.

B Hovg'ever, any potential variations in profits (or losses) that relate purely to a,
" service should be excluded since it is only the property that may be included on”
: ‘the l‘mlance sheet of one of the parties, not the capitalised value of the whole"
+service contract. Consequently, potential variations refating to the provision of

services are not relevant to determining whether each party has an asset of the
property. :
_ Paragraph 14 requires that, in determining the appropriate accounting treat-
. ‘ment, greater weight should be given to those features that are more likely to

, havea «.;ommercial effect in practice. Where there is no genuine commercial
- possibility of a particular scenario or cash flow

ow should be ignored. .. ... ...

o_qcu_rring, this scenario/cash

' mﬁbles_ outlined ﬁb&re ‘m"e éoﬁsidered"m mor'e' detail b'- o under th
E- {oilowing headings: ' : elow, uader the

9 & Separation of the contract

By.e Should ssap 21 or the Frs be applied?
B e, How to apply ssar 21 S

- How to apply the Frs

Si:bscquently, the required accounting is explained.

me cases the contract may be separable, ie the commercial effect will be that
ents of the PFI payments operate independently of each other. ‘Operate

ndently’ means that the elements behave different!
] 1 y and can therefore be
tely identified.. Any such separable eleéments that relate solely to services
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when determining whether each party has an asset of the
;Ez%bel:’:lt:g;:hmg whether the cgntract is separable, Fegard sl?ould !)e P_ac:v;ﬁ
the terms of the contract and how the payments vary under dxfferen-t sce?angf. Lt i .
pot be relevant that the contract designates the payments as ‘un_ltaryd or, in dE:
what labels they are given. In particular, where the PFI contract mclu. es anci ;Z
services, such as catering and cleaning, the payments .for these seriflcz:s (?il:ybut
separable. A contract may be separable in a variety of mrcumstm_lces,,‘ inc u : B bul
not limited to the following. o .

(a)

The contract identifies an element of a payment stream that varies according to

to usage or performance of certain services.
® separately. For example, an individual service element can be terminated
without affecting the continuation of the rest of the contract. -.. - s
Different parts of the contract can be renegotiated separately. Fo‘r example, d
service element is market tested and some or all-of the’ cost increases of
reductions are passed on to the purchaser in such a way that.the part of the
payment by the purchaser. that relates specifically to.that service can btl‘.‘:_ |
identified. R . S

(0.

T

Should ssap 21 or the Frs be appiled? .

.t

i ' action ithin the scoe of both this Frs
h 13 requires that where a transaction fa1]§ within the scope of both th
:na:la;‘:xz]:her Fnsqor a ssAp, the standard that contains the more specific provision(s).

i i i i ' ctions that contain a.
d be applied. As explained in paragraph 45, for transa ntain
Z?ac:lut;—alonel;;pease; ssap 21 will be the relevant standard. cher tra _nsaq?nqps,fa?l
particular those contiining a lease as an element of a larger ar;gggngng will 1
within the Frs. ’

i i 7 it ssap 21, interpreted in the

tract will contain a stand-alone lease (so that ssap 21, eted in the

hAgtl:fI d?otl;xeams, should be applied) where the only clgme;_lgs remain mga.fter
excluding any separable service elements are payments for the property. .

e
i,

Other PFI contracts, ie those where there are some non-separable service elemeants, »
will fall directly within the rrs. el

How to apply ssar21

jon i : is a finance lease, i 0ne
i 21, the key question is whether the lease is a ' _
Itﬂaatq'pt:-;aﬂlfssfei“s’ﬁbstanﬁallyyaﬂ the risks and rewards of ownership of an asset to the

288
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the availability of the property itself and another element that varies according -

Different parts of the contract run for different periods or can be terminated 4

FRS 5 SUBSTANCE OF TRANSACTIONS

lessee“.* One indication of this is given by comparing the present value of the
minimum lease payments with the fair value of the asset (often referred to as the ‘90

- per cent test’). However, in many cases such a numerical test will not be required.

i The principal risks and rewards of ownership in a leasing context are usually demand

> and residual value. Where substantially all of the risks and rewards associated with

k. these lie with the purchaser, it will be clear, without performing any calculations, that

p: the lease is a finance lease (ie that the property is an asset of the purchaser). Only
b where there is a sharing of risk will a 90 per cent test be required.

. 0.

¥ '-,.?E\ién where-a 90 per cent test is used, it is important neither to apply this as the only

k- test nor to apply a 90 per cent cut-off in a mechanistic way. The overriding principle
}-ié' to establish whether the purchaser has substantially all of the risks and rewards of
g ownership, ' T T

Where a 90 per cent test is used, the question arises what fate should be- used to
discount the minimum lease payments: The principles underlying ssap 21 require a
discount rate that relates only to the property. ‘A rate based in some way on the
‘ return from the entire PFI contract may not be a suitable rate to use since it will
& include an allowance for the risk relating to the service element of the contract.
£ Where the service element is perceived as being riskier, relative to the property, this
g will give rise to a rate that is too high. Since a prerequisite for using ssap 21 is that the
% payments for the property have been separated from those for services, it will usnally
it be possible to derive such a property-specific rate from the PFI contract. Where

g the rate that would be expected on a similar léase (ie a lease of a similar property in
Ea similar location  and for a similar term). The estimate of the rate should be
kreviewed together with (i) the preserit value of the lease payments, (ii) the assumed
% Lair value of the property, and (iii) the assumed residual valte,.to ensure that all
£ figures are reasonable and mutually consistent,” ~: - .- -~ - . i

[T - . Lo . .

1o determining what are the minimum lease payments, regard should be had to what
¥1s likely to have.a commercial effect in practice. It follows that the minimum lease
fpayments will comprise the expected PFI payments for the property, less any
ount for which there is genuine possibility of non-payment. . . .

PA further factor to be taken into account is residual value risk. Where this risk both
i significant and liés with the purchiaser, it is normally evidence that the PFI contract
in substance contains a finance lease and the property is an asset of the purchaser.

An example is where the property has a material remaining useful economic life at

he end of the PFI contract and is passed to the purchaser for a nominal or
I bsta_ntially fixed amount.

21, paragraph 15.
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‘How to apply the rrs T Ceon e ol b - circumstances, a range of factors may be relevant to this assessment of profit
T T T variation. The principal factors that, depending on the particular circumstances, may
2., berelevant are:- T T TR ) S

vt

ST 1.

What variations are relevant? I ' -
1y

—_—,

endd o demand risk (see paragfz;phé B I

o . the presence, if any, of third-party revenues (see paragraphs F32-F34} .

® who determines the nature of the property (see paragraphs F35-F37) . .~

e penalties for underperformance or non-availability (see paragraphs F38 and
F39) - ' :

o . potential changes in relevant costs (see paragraphs F40 and F41) - o

- obsolescence, including the effects of changes in technology (se¢ paragraphs Fd2
and F43) croe e G e T

¢ the arangements at the end of the contract and residval value risk (see

paragraphs F44-F48)... - . : - o B

For those contracts that fall directly within the Fis, whether a paft§ has an asset of
the property will depend on whether it bas access to the benefits of the property and
exposure to the associated risks. This will be reflected in the extent to which each 3
party bears the potential variations in property profits (or losses). The principle here 7}
is to distinguish potential variations in costs and revenues that flow. from features of '3
the property—which are relevant to determining who has an asset of the property
(see paragraphs F22-F50) - from those that do not—and which are therefore n

relevant to determining who has an asset of the property (see paragraph F20). . ..

-
1]

There may be features that could lead directly to profit variations for reasons that
relate purely to a service. Such variations may take the form of poténtial penalties 2
for underperformance, or potential variations in revenues- or-in operating costs. 8
These should be ignored when assessing who has an asset’ of the property, irrespecs 3
tive of their size. For example, a penalty may arise in a PFI contract for a prisoi 3
because the security staff bave not been trained satisfactorily, or in a PFT contract 3
involving a catering facility because the food purchased is not up to-standard. 2
Similarly, potential variations in operating costs may relate purely to a service, for ¥
example the cost of raw materials and consumables in a catering facility. Such§
potential variations are irrelevant to determining which party-has-an asset of the
property. - ’ o Cher e el by X

The above list of the factors to be considered should be applieﬁ only with reference”” F23
to the analysis given in paragraphs F24-F50. The key features of the analysis are :
summarised and illustrated in the table at the end of this Application Note.

emand risk
T _
Demand risk is the risk that demand for the property will be greater or less than  F24
predicted ot expected. Where demand risk is significant, it will normally give the
'F.léargst‘_eyidence of who'should record an asset of the property. Demand risk is
uposed by the economic conditions of the market in which the PFI contract is
o . : rahﬁgten. Its existence and significance cannot be altered by the terms of the contract; -

o o “ T the contract can only allocate demand risk between ‘the parties to the contract, for
There may be a significant number of property factors (for example, those listed ing ple by allowing renegotiation of the contract at cértpain,demand levels. |
paragraphFZZ).Ithllbelmportanttoassesstheeﬁectofallrelevanttactorsandthé_ : et R : ST

interaction between them, giving greater weight to those that are more likely to have 3
a commercial effect in practice. It will not be appropriate to focus on one feature in}
isolation. It will be necessary to consider both the probability of any future ‘profit
variation arising from a property factor and its likely financial effect. Additiond]
costs inay be incurred to correct a problem rather than risking the imposition ‘ot
much greater penalty, in which case the relevant variation to tonsider is the Tikély
increase in costs rather than the possible penalty. Similarly, a possible increase bl
. future costs may be avoided by altering some feature of the property ata lower P
cost, in which case the variation to consider is the cost of altering the property,
Sl i - teiua

Factors relevant to the property o demadee sy R
) T R - - * d A

ErTEEES : S . . . o
% The first step is to identify whether demand is a significant risk. There may be [F25
%0 instances where there is little genuine uncertainty about the level of future demand

. for the services provided by the property., For example, in a short-term IT contract

ré may be very little likélihood of demand varying greatly from the levels

n fq:e:d under the contract. In such a case, demand risk is not significant and little

3, ght should be given to this test. In other cases there may be much genuine
Runcertainty over the extent to which a property will be used - for example, a new

toad to be built in a newly developed area. In these cases demand risk will be
ysignificant and who bears it will be highly relevant to determining the appropriate
ouriting treatment. PR B .o o

4 e‘lcngtt'l‘of the contract may influence the significance of demand risk. In gcncrai, F26
¥demand risk will be greater the longer the term of the contract, since it is usually

3y o

iore difficult to forecast for later periods. - :

. goeoe T e Tl
As noted in paragraph F19, in applying the Frs the key test is to establish who wil
bear any variations in property profits (or losses). Depending on the particulay
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_ relate to whether the property is in a state fit for use and do not affect the inciden
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£l v

E. operator bears demand risk, it will benefit from the increased payments that result

g from any additional usage of the property (for example, if payment for a hospital

. outpatients facility is based on throughput, the operator will benefit from additional

- nsage payments when usage is high, although it may bear little or no extra cost). This
is evidence that the property is an asset of the operator. : o

1

It is also important to distinguish where demand risk is insignificant from where the -
terms of the contract are such that it is passed to one or other party. For example;
there may be much uncertainty over the demand for a certain type of property in the .
long term. However, the terms of a long-term PFI contract for such a property may ...
be such that the purchiaser would fill the PFI property in preference 16 properties not

a7

el g ron
b

full. In such a case, the purchaser has retained demand risk. .\ - e e

o ‘The presence, if any, of third-party revenues

A feature of some PFI contracts is that the property is expected to be used by third
parties, Where the operator relies on revenues from. third parties te cover its
property costs, this is evidence that the property is an asset of the operator.

S

Where it is established that demand risk is significant, it is ﬁeoessar}r to determine
who will bear it, ie who will bear the effects of reasonably likely changes in demand
This will depend on the answers to two interrelated questions: S

(a) Will the payments between the operator and the purchaser reflect the usage of 3
the property or does the purchaser have to pay the operator regardless of the
level of usage (paragraphs F29 and F30)7 : ' .

(b) Who will gain if demand is greater than expected (paragraph F31)7 -

onversely, where third-party usage is minimal or merely a future possibility, it is
more likely that the property is an asset of the purchaser. This would particularly be
‘the case where the purchaser in some ‘way guarantees the operator’s income from
.the property or where there is genuine scope for significant third-party use of the
: : EEERE i property but the purchaser significantly restricts such use. S

Where the PFI payments do not vary substantially with demand or usage of the ; e : . -

property (although they may vary with other factors), the purchaser will be obliged Ji8
to pay for the output or capacity of the property (eg prison places, hospital beds) ;4
whether or not it is needed (ic whether or not there are sufficient prisoners o :
patients). This is evidence that the property is. the purchaser’s asset ‘and th
purchaser has a liability to pay for it. In particular, if the purchaser, in substance, i
obliged to pay a minimum amount (je there is no genuine commercial possibilit )
non-payment) whether or not it will néed the property, and the minimum arpoun i
more than covers the cost of the property, this is évidence that the property is an '8
asset of the purchaser. In making this assessment of demand risk, any penalties ot 8
reductions in payments for non-availability of the property should be ignored: these J§

The existence of thifd-party revenues may be linked to the incidence of demand risk.
: For example, the purchaser may have the option to reduce its usage of the propetty,
in which case the operator will attempt to find third parties to use the resuiting spare
capacity. If the purchaser’s option is a genuine one with a real possibility of exercise,
and if the operator bears a significant risk.of a large fall in property income as a
result, this is evidence that the property is an asset of the operator. *

Who determines the nature of the property .
Jorna e . L

i factor relates to who determines how the PFI contract is to be fulfilled and, in
cular, what kind of property (road, hospital etc) is to be built. Where in essence
jurchaser determines the key features of the property and how it is to be
ted, bearing the cost implications of any changes to the method of operation,
% vidence that the property is its asset. The purchaser may determiine the key

. f@}atures of the property explicitly by agreeing them as terms ‘of the PFI contract or,

of demand risk. - o R AT

Conversely, where the PFI payments will vary pro;i::rtioﬁa'télj. over all i'eﬁs,oﬁaplg
likely fevels of demand, the purchaser will not be obliged to pay.for the property to§
the extent it is not needed, which is evidence that the property is the operatorsy

B ot e'i.gmple, through a contractual acceptance provision at the end of the construc-
& tion phase. Alternatively, the purchaser may implicitly determine the key features of
{the property. For example, a contract for a road may specify that the road will revert

- e IR S SR L. . o the purchaser in a predefined state after a relatively short period: this may have
Lo additon, the pary  that bears demand sk o e e e Bk Gtfect that the operator has littlé discretion over the standard of road o build in
the property at little or no extra property cost (for example, if payment for a hospital} frst rstance orh owitiy mamtamed subsequently. e '
outpatients facility is largely independent of :its usage, the purchaser :will. benefily '
from additional patients being treated when usage is high at little or po extra cost)
This is evidence that the property is an asset of the purchaser. Conversely, if

'rselyj where the operator has significant and bngofng discretion over how to
the PFI contract and makes the key decisions on what property is built and how
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it is operated, bearing the consequent costs and risks, this is an indication that the
property is the operator’s asset. For example, this would be the case if the operator
is free to redesign the property extensively during the term of the contract (perhaps
even to scrap the original property and build a replacement}, in the hope of reducing
its costs. Stmilarly, in a PFI contract to design, build and operate a road, the operator
may have complete discretion over the balance between the quality of the original
road built and the consequent level of maintenance costs. e :

Design risk is the risk that the design of the property’is such that, even if it is
constructed satisfactorily, it will not fully meet the requirements of the contract. This
is part of the question of who determines the nature of the’ property, discussed
above. In contrast, construction risk refers to who bears the financial implications of
cost and time overruns during the construction period (and related warranty repairs
caused by poor building work after the asset has been completed). Construction risk
is not generally relevant to determining which party has an asset of the property once
construction is completed, because such risk normally has no impact during the
property’s operational life. However, construction risk may be relevant where it calls
into question the other evidence. In particulaf, if the purchaser is bearing construc-

tion risk in a project in which the property is claimed to be that of the operator, it will 7

be necessary to look closely at the other terms of the transaction to determine
whether the property really is the operator’s asset and is not actually an asset of the
purchaser. . . e

Penalties for wtderpérfamance or non-availability

i Z.‘ 1

Many PFI contracts provide for penalties if the property is below a specified '3
standard or is unavailable because of operator fault. (Penalties relating purely to 3
services, however, are not relevant and should not be brought into the assessment.) "3
These penalties may take the form of either cash payments or reductions in teve_n'u'é,
It will be important to assess both the likelihood of the penalty occurring in practice
and whether the likely payments are significant. For example, a penalty may have
little impact in practice because the contract gives the operator ample time to rectify

the fault or the penalty is invoked only if the property is completely.unayailab

Where, as in this example, potential penalties are either pot_significant qr_érj:s

unlikely to occur, this is evidence that the propesty, is an asset of the purchaser.

Conversely, the penalty meél:!anjsm-;riay have the effect that 'ihé.operz;tér;s pfc;

associated with the property are genuinely subject to significant potential variation. 38
For example, a PFI contract fora road may contain penalty clauses if lanes are closed
for more than a minimal period for maintenance, with the penalty being significant 3§
t.the?§

- rinint

and having a reasonable possibility of occurring. This would be evidence tha
propenyisanasetoftheoperatm. C SIS v e L
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Potential changes in relevant costs

Potential changes in relevant costs may be dealt with in different ways under a PFI
contract. (Only changes in property costs are relevant; changes in service costs are
not relevant and should not be brought into the assessment.) The contract may have
the_ett’ect that any significant future cost increases can be passed on to the purchaser.
;;t;;? :Lrl?:l;l 1::]31 e‘.rideuct}z1 that ]tihe P]:;Ioperty is an asset of the purchaser. For example'

e the case where the i i ific indi ,
reflect the operator’s costs. Flpayments willvary with 'SPeClﬁ"" tndices o ©

Conve.rsely,'where the' operator’s costs are both significant and highly uncertain anﬁ
thf.re is no provision for cost variations to be passed on to the purchaser t];is is
. evndenoe that the ptoperty is an asset of the operator. For example, this woulc'l be the
. case where Fhe payments are fixed or vary in relation to a general inflation index such

the Retail Prices Index. Sitilar considerations apply to any cost savings and how

they are shared between the parties.

Obsoleséence, including the éﬁeéﬁs of changes in re‘z:h;;oiagy

Whether obsolescence or changes in technology are relevant will depend on the
> nature of the contract. In contracts for the introduction of information technology
systems, it will be of great significance who bears the future costs and any benefits

contract) it is likely to be of much less significance.

Where the potential for obsolescence or changes i Jlogy are sigaifica .
ges in technology are significant, the
f party that bears the costs and any associated benefits will be the one fonjg:'hom :’here

P

EResidual value risk is the risk that the actual residual value of-the pr

of the contract will be different from that expected. This risk is &:ﬂ%ﬁ:ﬁﬁg
horter the PFI contract is in relation to the useful economic life of the property
d it is significant, residual vatue risk will normally give clear evidence of whc;
jxh d record an asset of the property. In part, residual value risk stems directly from
th fconomic conditions of the market for the property, ie the rise or fall of prices
’r tlévant to the property. The price aspects of residual value risk cannot be reduced
driincreased by the contract. The contract cai only influencé’ those aspects of

Nyt
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residual value risk relating to the condition of the property at the end of the
contract, ' .

Where this risk is mgmﬁcant, who bears it will depend on the arrangements at the
end of the contract. For example, the purchaser will bear.-.residu_al value risk

(providing evidence that the property is.its asset) where:- . . .. .
(a)
(b)
©

Vap

it will purchase the property for a substantially fixed or nominal amount at the
end of the contract; N
the property will be transferred to a new operator, selected by the purchaser,
for a substantially fixed or nominal amount; or’

operator not to rely on an uncertain residual value foritsreturn. . = -

R

Where the purchaser has an option to purchase the property or, a_dternatively;-,aq_
option to ‘walk’ and leave the property with the operator, the practlc:'al effect of the
option should be carefully analysed. In particular, where there is
possibility that a purchase option will not be exercised (or, alternatively,
option will be exercised), the option will not transfer
operator.

L oea e T RRPRETIE S - If.
The significance of a minimal payment for the residual interest-at the end of the
contract depends on other features of the contract. If the property ha_as a sign{ﬁcant-.
remaining useful ‘economic lifé, such minimal payment will be evidence, in‘the
absence of evidence to the contrary, that the purchaser paid for the property overy

the term of the PFI contract. This in turn is evidence that the property was anras_kset

of the purchaser throughout.

property is its asset) where:

(a) itwill retain the property at the end of the PFI contract; or T "

(b) the property will be transferred to the purchaser or another operator at 11¢
prevailing market price. o

Assessment of relevant fa}:tors

In detemiining whetber each party ﬁas -an asset of the property; it- will ‘notihi

appropriate to focus on one feature in isolation. Rather, the combined effect.ofjig

relevant factors should be considered for a range of reasonehly: possible scen

20K

iy -

payments over the term- of the PFI contract are sufficiently large for the

cesidual value risk to'thé ‘3

& 2.005 FRS 5 SUBSTANCE OF TRANSACTIONS
.f- ] with greater weight being given to those outcomes that are more likely to occur in
2 practice.

in addition, it will often be. useful in weighing all the evidence to consider the
position of the various parties to the transaction, including their apparent expecta-
b tions and motives for agreeing to its various terms. For example, an assessment of
- the operator’s financing* may indicate a level of debt funding that could be credible
only if another party stood behind the operatar. In such circumstances the PFI
© contract would be deemed a financing arrangement and thus indicate that the
M. property is an asset of the purchaser. Similarly, a financing arrangement would be
= . indicated where, in the event that the contract is terminated early, the bank financing
wilt be fully paid out by the purchaser under all events of default, including operator
default, : P . Ce e

REQUIRED ACCOUNTING

Purchaser has an asset of the property -

Where it is concluded that the purchaser has an asset of the property and a liability

to pay. for it, these should be recorded in its balance sheet. The initial amount
" recorded for each should be the fair value of the property.t Subsequently, the asset
‘should be depreciated over its useful economic life and the liability-should be
_" reduced as. payments for the property are made. In addition, an imputed finance
. charge. on.the liability should be recorded in subsequent years using a property-
specific rate (paragraph F16 discusses how to determine such a rate). The remainder
of the. PFI payments (ie .the full payments, less the capital repayment and. the
.imputed financing charge) should be recorded as an operating cost. If the purchaser
has any other obligations in relation to the PFI contract, these should be accounted
for in accordance with Frs 12 ‘Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent
Assets' .3 - C :

Generally, the purchaser should recognise each property when it comes into use. An
;exception is where the purchaser bears significant copstruction risk, in which case it
'should recognise the property as it is constructed. - R
Gy Lt L I ¥ .
Al aspects of the financing arrangements should be taken into account, eg the use of senior or subordinated
ebt and the presence of any guarantees. '
: Fii}'q_ lm.:e the sum to be recordzd both as an asset and as a linbility Is the present value of the minimum lease
", rived by discounting them at the interest rate implicit in the lease. ~
TITEOEE o R - . ST

3 S 12'will be Issubd in September 1998 and it will be effective for accounting periods end.i.ng on or after 23
PMETR 099,155 0 G e E e e ST L s b
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Purchaser does not have an asset of the property -

Where it is concluded that the purchaser does not have an asset of the property,
there may nevertheless be other assets or liabilities that Tequire recognition. ‘I‘l‘lese
can arise in respect of contributions, dcquisition of the residual and pt@g_r‘pl:ghgatlons:
of the purchaser. = = L T e

PR
Lo

Contributions . : B N Lo L

v
LI

Contributions to a PFI contract' by the purchaser may take a number of forms; -

including an up-front cash payment or the .contribution of existing as:'sets.for
development by the operator. The accounting treatment of such contributions
depends on whether they give rise to future benefits for the purchaser. For exam-

ple:

¢ If the contribution of an existing property results in lower service payments, the

carrying amount of the property should be reclassified as a prepament (current.. °
asset) and subsequently charged as an operating cost over the period of reduced .
PFI payments. If there is in effect a sale of part of the contributed asset (for

example, a parce] of surplus land that is not used in the PF1 contract), any p'r(;:fii;
aine

should be recogpised in accordance with paragrapbs 23 and 24 (as pxi)l
paragraphs 70-74). ’ e et :

PEEE -

o If the contribution does not give rise to a future benefit for the ‘purchaser, i '

should be charged as an expense when the contribution is made. For example,
capital grant might be given for which the operator. would have qualified even

- the transaction had not been part of the PF1, or short-life assets mlght bed Eatéd

to the contract for no value.

Acquisition of the residual

In some PFI transactions, all or part of the property (eg the land elemt_ant_) will pass 3
to the purchaser at the end of the contract. Where the contract specifies that t'h_m: :
transaction should take place at market value at the date of transfer, no accounting 3 -

is required until the date of transfer, as this represents future capital expenditure f

the purchaser. ‘ o ‘ i

Where the contract specifies the amount {including zero) at whici: the P!OPé@_ |

be transferred to the purchaser at the end of the contract, the specified amount

not pecessarily correspond with the expected fair value of the residual estimated & 3
the start of the contract. Any difference must be built up over the life of the contratt@
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in order to ensure a proper allocation of payments made between the cost of services

. under the contract and the acquisition of the residual. At the end of the contract the

accumulated balance (whether positive or negative), together with any final pay-~

" ment, should exactly match the originally estimated-fair value of the residual. For

example, if the expected residual value at the end of a 30-year contact is £20 million,
but the contract specifies that £30 million should be paid by the purchaser for that

. residual at that date, then a credit balance of £10 million should be accrued over the

life of the contract, with the corresponding charge each year being included in the
service expense. The payment of £30 million at the end of the contract will extinguish
the balance of £10 million and establish an asset of £20 million, representing the

value of the residual. .
Lo

If, during the life of the coutract,'expectationls change 50 that the expected value of
the residual falls (but there are no changes to the payments scheduled under the

contract), then consideration should be given to whether there has been an impair-_ "

ment.’ Ultimately, a positive difference may become nepative, in which case a*
provision is required. Using the example in paragraph F56, if the expected residual

. value fell to zero after five years, then an expense and a liability of £20 million would

be recorded immediately. The remaining £10 million is still accrued over the life of
the contract, giving a final liability of £30 million which is paid at the end of the

. contract. .

. Other obligations of the pur&haser

If the purchaser has any other obligations in relation to the PFI contract, these
should be accounted for in accordance with Frs 12 ‘Provisions, Contingent Liabil-
ities and Contingent Assets’*

7 __?peraror has an asset of the property
-

then depreciated to its expected residual value over its useful economic life (which,

tunless the property is to be retained by the operator on the expiry of the PFI

Bontract, will be constrained by the term of the PFI contract). Where the contract

¥specifies a sum for which the residual value will be transferred to the purchaser, the
difference between the amount payable and the expected residual value should be

coounted for in a simi]gr way to the accounting treatment adopted by the purchaser

v 12 will be ieneed in September 1993 and it will be effective for accounting periods ending on or after 23
Warth 1955. . ]
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Where.it is concluded that the operator has an asset of the property, it should record  F59
R this asset in its balance sheet, The asset should initially be recorded at its cost and
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(see paragraph F56), on the assumption that the difference is accounted for by
higher or lower PFI payments during the life of the contract. If the operator is -
obliged to meet any Liabilities as a result of the contract (eg environmental ¢lean-up
costs), these should be recorded separately, within liabilities. *-.. ™ Lo

Operator does not have an asset afthepr&gm. N

Where it is concluded that the operator does not have an asset of the physical.
property, it will, instead, have a financial asset, being a debt due from the purchaser
for the fair value of the property. This asset should be recorded at the outset and
reduced in subsequent years as payments are received from the purchaser. In
addition, finance income on this financial asset should be recorded in subsequent
years using a property-specific rate (paragraph F16 discusses how.to determine such
a rate). The remainder of the PFI payments (ie the full payments, less the capital
repayment and the imputed financing charge) should be recorded within operating
profit. . S . e o
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Adopﬁon of Frs 5, by the Boatd o

4 dons’ was,
Financial Reporting Standard 5 - Reporﬁng thc Substancc of Tram'ac :
approved forq,i.;'uc by the uine members’ of the. Awounﬂng Stm:dardf Board

David Tweedie . (Chamnan)

Allan Cook " (Technicat Drrector) C

Robert Bradfield
lan Brindle

Sir Bryan Carsberg
Michael Gamer
Raymond Hinton
Donald Main
‘Graham Stacy

2005-.: -

. . Finance .
‘Amendment to Frs 5 “Reporting the Substancc of Tramacﬁons” Private
In:,r'iarlve and Similar Contracts ~ September 1998’ (Application Note F) was -

approved for issue by the ten members of the Awounﬂng Standards Board. S

Sir David Tweedie ‘Chairman

Allan Cook . Technicai Director )

David Allvey

Ian Brindie -

Dr John Buchanan

John Coombe

Raymond Hinton

Huw Jones

Professor Geoffrey Wtuttmgton
Ken W|ld
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Appendix I
Note on legal requirements -

R Group accounts

. Definitions of ‘parent undertaking’ and subsndlary undertakmg are set out and
; explamed in'section 258 and Schedule 10A. . L T

ther prowmons of the Companies Act relevant to the preparanén of consohdated
ccounts are given in paragraphs 95 and 96 of Frs 2 ‘Accountmg for Subs:dlary
ndertakmgs

The reqruzremenr to show a true and fair view
ection 227 provides the following:© " -

v “(1) If at the end of a financial year a company isa parent company the

A" - directors shall, as well as preparing individual accounts for the “year,

prepare group accounts.

Group accounts shall be consolidated accounts comprising ~

" ()" a consolidated balance sheet dealing with the state of affairs of the
- parent cornpany and its subsidiary undertakmgs, and

(b} aconsolidated profit and loss account dealing with the proﬁt or loss
of the parent undertakmg and its subsidiary undertakings. -

The accounts shall give a true and fair view of the state of affairs as at the
g ) » - end of the financial year, and the profit or loss for the financial year, of the
N -ﬁ.. <7 undertakings included in the consolidation as a wholc, so far as concerns
i © " members of the company. : a o
E: 4 A company’s group accounts shall comply wﬂh the prOVISIOnS of Schedule
i +.4A as to the form and content. of the consolidated balance sheet and
a0 71 <o consolidated profit and loss acéount and additional mfonnauon to be
= provided by way of notes to the accounts.- :

Where compliance with the provisions of that Schedule and the other

.*": provisions of this Act, as to the matters to be included in a ‘company’s

f i group accounts or in theé notes to those accouints, would not be sufficient to
give a true and fair view, the necessary additional information shall be
glveu in the accounts or in 2 note to them.

~ M in special circumstances compliance with any of those provisions is
mcons:stent with the requirement to give a true and fair view, the dlrectors
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shall depart from that provision to the extent necessary.to give a true and}
fair view. <L — s

Paragraphs 5 and 14 of Schedule 4 to the Companies (Northern Ireland) Order 1986
b2, are identical to paragraphs 5 and 14 of Schedule 4 to the Companies Act 1985 as
¢ ifcfen‘ed to in patagraph 4 above.’ o

Particulars of any such departure, the reasons for it and its effect shall be given]
in a note to the accounts.” iy .
~ o REPUBLIC OF IRELAND - -~

Section 255A(5) states that, in the case of a banking or insurance company, theg T L OF - L N e
references to the provisions of Schedule 4A in section 227(5) and (6) shall be rea'dﬁ!
references to those provisios as modified by Part II of Schedule 9. S

P
- 0h

e legal requirements m the Republic of Irelahd are similar fo those in Great
In particular: - e T TR

\'ﬁgplaﬁoil;:4 of the European Communities (Companies: Group Accounts) Regula-
s 1992 is similar to section 258 of and Schedule 10A to the Companies Act 1985
referred to in paragraph 1 above.

Offset

The Companies Act contains the following provisions relating to offset:
Schedule 4 paragraph 5 (an identical requirement for banking companies and groups
is contained in Schedule 9 paragraph 5) ‘ o CT T

 Amounts in respect of items representing assets or income may not be
against amounts in-respect of items representing liabilities or expenditure.(as
the case may be), or vice versa.’ ) s ferlnt

:Other provisions of companies legislation relevant to the preparation of con-
hdat.ed accounts, as referred to in paragraph 2 above, are given in the insert
placing paragraph 98 of Frs 2 *Accounting for Subsidiary Undertakings’.

2 Regulations 5, 13 and 14 of the European Communities (Companies: Group

o - Accounts) Regulations 1992 are similar to section 227 of the Companies Act 1985 as

Schedule 4 paragraph 14 (an identical requirement for banking companies and SRS referred to in paragraph 3 above. As regards banks, section 5(1) of the European '

groups is contained in Schedule 9 paragraph 21). S e e Communities (Credit Institutions: Accounts) Regulations 1992 is similar to section

5A(5) of the Companies Act 1985 as referred to in paragraph 3 above. Pending

implementation of the EC Insurance Accounts Directive (91/674 EC) there is no
gislation similar to section 255A(5) for insurance companies. '

‘In determining the aggregate amount of any item the amount of each individ3
ual asset or liability. that falls to be taken into account shall be determined
sepmtely"* ' ’ o DT S PR R
N b el e At ections 4(11) and 5(e) of the Companies (Amendment) Act 1986 are similar to
NORTHERN IRELAND . : _ aragraphs 5 and 14 of Schedule 4 to the Companies Act 1985 as referred to in
Co oo e i aragraph 4 above. .
The legal requirements in Northern Ireland are identical to those in Great Britain. I .
particula:: : e s . T A~ R LY . 3
Asticle 266 of and Schedule 10A to the Companies (Northern Ireland) Order 198
are identical to section 258 of and Schedule 10A to- the: Companies Act 1985 28]
referred to in paragraph 1 above. ’ Lo i e et e .
. ) SR B LA 2 __i_.
Other provisions of companies legislation relevant to-the ‘preparation of cony
solidated accounts, as referred to in paragraph2 above; are given'in paragraph 97 o]
FRs 2 ‘Accounting for Subsidiary Undertakings'. .~ "R T .

. ceg o Lo e ‘l-'_':"i"'l.'" e (i
Articles 235 and 263A(5) of the Companies (Northern Ireland) Order 1986
identical to sections 227 and 255A(5) respectively of the Companies Act 1985 &£
referred to in paragraph 3 above. . -. = A AL L __».
Editor's note; A-similar requirement for insurancé companies. and groups i contgined In scheduzé} ' bk -
paragraph 3(4) ‘subject to the provisions of this Schiedule’. "+ . R et T E: e
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AppendixII : . - -y

Comphance with International Accoummg S tan dards 3

There is no International Accounting Standard on this-subject. . The International

Accounting Standards Committee (IASC) has issued a ‘Framework for the Prepara- - i
tion and Presentation of Financial ,Statements’. The .definitions of-assets and " .

liabilities set out in the Frs and the pnnctples underlymg it are similar in all material
respects to those set out in the IASC’s Framework. However, neither International

Accounting Standards nor the. Framework. currently envisage -use .of a linked - )

presentation for certain non-recoirse finance as requued by paragraphs 26-28 of the
FRS. . .
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" Appendix III
The development of the Frs

'GENERAL

The problems of what is commonly reférred to as, ‘off balance sheet financing’
became evident during the 1980s. In that penod a number of complex arrangements
were developed that, if accounted for in accordance with their legal form, resulted in
accounts that did not report the commercial effect of the arrangement In particular,
concern grew over arrangements for financing a company’s opérations in such a way -
that, if the arrangement were accounted for merely by recording its legal form, the

finance would not be shown as a liability on the balance sheet.

At the same time, there was rapid innovation in financial markets. New arrange-
ments for financing assets were developed, the accounting for which was not
immediately obvious.- An example of one such- arrangement is- securitisation,
whereby an asset and 1ts non-recourse ﬁnance are tlghtly nng fenced usmg a
separate vehicle company 2 . il

tri, Y . . ' ' ; SR -l'-;": et gt

-'I'hese developments raised fundamental quesnons about the nature of assets and

liabilities and when they should be included in the balancé sheet. Questions-were
also raised about the accounting for some transactions -that:had’ been used by

_businesses for many years. For example, some queried whether factoring should be

accounted for as a secured loan rather than as a sale of debts. . ..

The Frs has been developed to address these 1ssues and to deal wrth the problems

 caused by the misleading effects that ‘off balance sheet ﬁnanctng can have on the
_accounts. As that term mdlcates ‘the Thost w:dely recogmsed effect is’ the ©omission of

liabilities from the balance sheet. However the assets being ﬁnaneed ‘as well as the
finance itself, are excluded, with the result that both the resouirces of the entity and

its ﬁnanemg are understated “There n may also be’ unportant effects on the proﬁt and

loss account. For, instance, a proﬁt may be reported ona! sale that is,in substance
a secured loan. As another éxample, what is i substance a finanée, charge may be
either on:utted from the proﬁt ‘and loss account altogether or descnbed as some other
kmd of expense "All of these effects make 1t harder for the reader of the accounts to
assess the true econoific posrhon of the reportlng entlty because they obscure the

. tme extent and nature of its borrowmgs, its assets and the results of its actmtles

.The Board believes that financial statements should represent faithfully the com-

mercial effects of the transactions and other events they purport to represent. This

,tequires transactions to be accounted for in accordance with their substance and not
‘merely their legal form, since the latter may not fully indicate the comrnerelal effect

of the arrangements entered ANtOr.r Wt LTy o ek (UL

LR PRATIS S T TNl heyt Reerpoapt et o
I A

)
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HISTORY OF DOCUMENTS ISSUED .
TR 603 ' o

itati ) is i ical Release 603
The first authoritative document to address this issue was 'I_‘ed.1q1cal‘ eleas
(’I'lel 603) - "Off Balance Sheet Financing and Window Dressing’, issued in Deoeq:-
ber 1985 by the Institute of Chartered Accountants in El?g]aqd_ranﬁl‘YVales. The main
provision of this short, preliminary document was that, in determiriing the account-
ing treatment of transactions, their economic substance rather thaﬂ thg{: mere leg.'a_l
form should be considered. o v :

ED 42

ituati f ify1 i i ctions. It proposed 3
tuations, rathef than specifying detailed rules for specific transa \ d 4
st;lat assets and liabilities arising from off balance sheet transactions be included in g

i i . For this purpose, ED 42
alance sheet rather than merely disclosed in the notes. For
:lhe::;ibed the essential characteristics of assets and hiabilities. It also proposed that

© *controlled non-subsidiaries’ should be consolidated as if they were subsidiaries as-

legally.defined. The definition of a controlled non-subsidiary was substgntially th.e-f
same as that of a quasi-subsidiary given io FRS 5. o . e | !

L

ED 49

ED 49 ‘Reflecting the substance of {ransactions in assets and liabilities’ was issued by

. . A . e Lt .k R a2t - '.'ﬂ

i . ED 49 résponded to the comments received on ED 42 aswe
e A e o i the. Taw. T ED continued to' take, a general_approach,
proposing analysis of the substance of trapsactions by reference to the essential

as certain changes in the law. The

isti ts and liabiliti in ‘propose that controlled
characteristics of assets and liabilities. It also cortinued to propose that controileq
non-subsidiaries should be consolidated in group accounts, dlthough these vehicle 23

entities were renamed ‘quasi subsidiaries”. The ‘main changes fiom ED 42 were: th

1 v

Notes specifying hiow the draft stahdard was to be applied to five specific transacti

inclusion, for the first time, of general iggquiﬁqﬁ'tésgs; the inclusion 6f Application

s e .

i ing seciiritisation ‘an ring) - i ificluded at the specific
types (including seciritisation apd factoring) —these were fncluded.; specific
requés(l of coirii:éﬁ_ﬁto'ré to ED 42 and their incliision was later supported by, thé

majority of commén!
control. ,

eyl N
T L ]

[ e A S

Bulletin I5 - R i S S gl
R B I A TR B Lt s Tl P SRS

espondents ) ED 49 raised, 2 the concern {hat the treatment it propaséd;
R dents to ED 49 raised, inter alia, the concern that th treats 1
for factoring Was inconsistent with that proposed for securitisation. This led th

310

. ) . -. , ‘-:', ,;j '_2.-: .bei.ng accounted for on balance sheet believed that the primary use of the balance
TR 603 was followed by ED 42 ‘Accounting for special purpose transactions’, which - ' sheet is in assessing the amounts, timing and certainty of future cash flows. In their
was issued in March 1988 by the Accounting Standards Committee (ASC). ED 42 3

took a general approach, providing guidance that could be applied toa variety of, 4 will be earned in the future) should be shown on one side of the balance sheet, and
b

- the means by which they are financed should be shown on the other. They aiso

tators to ED 49;and {hé’ Addition of gudance on identifying

-

™
-
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+3%  Accounting Standards Board t& review the accounting for securitisation and, in
- October 1991, to issue proposals (in Bulletin 15) under which most securitised assets
: 5 would be shown on the balance sheet, the arrangement being accounted for as a
SR secured loan. This was on the grounds that, in most securitisations, the originating
- entity retains significantly all of the profits from the securitised assets. Although the
Bk entity has strictly limited its exposure to losses on those assets, the same is true for
U other non-recourse finance arrangements and for limited liability subsidiaries, where
"B it is accepted that assets and liabilities should be reported gross. ’

e o

Sl The respondents to Bulletin 15 were divided on whether securitisations should be
B accounted for on balance sheet as a secured loan, or off balance sheet as a sale,

" . X, Views on both sides of the argument were strongly held, reflecting different beliefs

2% about the primary purpose of the balance sheet. Those who favoured securitisations

- view, the total resources that underlie these future cash flows (and on which income

k- pointed out that typically, the originating entity continues to gain significantly all the
; profits from the securitised assets and to be exposed to all those losses likely to occur

: Those respondents who favoured securitisations being accounted for as a sale and
! ( therefore off balance sheet believed that the primary use of the balance sheet is in
assessing the maximum possible loss to which the entity is exposed. They thought
b that the accounting treatment of securitisations (and perhaps other forms of non-
 fecourse finance) should concentrate on showing that the originating entity has a
¥ limited downside exposure to loss, and that only a net asset of the amount to which
F: the entity is exposed should be presented. o B

g The Board debated in detail the igsues raised by the respondents and also consulted
% numerous interested parties. It concluded that users of accounts need to know both
r the- entity’s gross resources and finance (as these determine the size of its future
gincome) and the net amount of these (as this is the maximum loss the entity can
g suffer). Hence the Board developed a new kind of presentation - a ‘linked presenta-
g tion’ ~ under which the finance is deducted from the gross securitised assets on the
Riace of the balance sheet. This presentation shows the gross resources that underlie
the business (and on which income will be earned in the future), yet highlights that

[ibe entity bas a strictly limited exposure to loss. _ - -

Pinally, in February 1993, the Board issued FRED 4 ‘Reporting the Substance of
lransactions’. This carried through the general principles set out in ED 49 with only
to'major changes. The first was the introduction of proposals for a linked presenta-
tion . for certain forms of non-recourse finance (including - securitisations), as

-3

¥ , 311

10



14

2.005 FRS 5 SUBSTANCE OF TRANSACTIONS

described above. These proposals attracted general support and are retained in the
fRs with only one minor change which is described in paragraphs 29-32 below. °

The only otber major change from ED 49 was the inclusion of detailed criteria-for
when items may be offset in accounts. These prohibited offset of amounts dénomi-
nated in different currencies or bearing interest on different bases, on the grounds

: FRS 5 SUBSTANCE OF TRANSACTIONS y

Oﬂ'set .

that, for two items to be offset, they must exactly eliminate:one another: Such 3 )

elimination would not be present where the-items were in different currencies or ;A 5
- bore interest on different bases, because of the currency or interest rate risk that was .3

present. It was therefore proposed that the two items should not be offset but should

~ be reported as separate assets and liabilities. This proposal has béen modified in the 3
FRs, in the light of comments received, as described below:: i: o ol -

Other, less significant changes from ED 49 were: the inclusion of definitions of asséts
and liabilities as opposed to a description of their *essential characteristics’ (these

definitions are drawn from the Board’s draft Statement of Principles); the provision @
of more guidance on accounting for transactions with options; the inclusion, for the
first time, of criteria for when assets should cease to be recognised; the introduction 2§
of a distinction between control of an asset and control of another entity; and 5

changes to some of ED 49’s recognition tests, including removing the proposal that
recognition be based on a ‘reasonable accounting analogy’. : caf

Matters corsidered in the light of resporises fo FRED4 PR

Most of the respondents to FRED 4 agreed with its principal proposals and these have §

been largely retained in the Frs. The following paragraphs,describe those points o
which respondents expressed concern and, where appropriate, explain, with reasons
the changes the Board has made to the proposals of Frep 4 or the Board’s reasons
not adopting a change. R ' e

Complexity of the FRs o T S it

Several respondents expressed concern that FRED 4 was complex and difficult to
understand. In part, this complexity stemmed from the inclusion of proposals for}
linked presentation as set out above. Another réason for the FRED being difficult ti}
understand was its general approach of specifying principles applicable to Al
transactions rather-than detailed rules for specific’situations: Whilst- this gen 8
approach was supported, there was concern.that the resulting principles app ?
somewhat abstract and difficult to comprehend on a first reading. -+~ Saru

To meet these concerns, the structure and drafting of the FRED have been revie
and, where possible, simplified. In addition, the Explanation section to the FRs g
examples where appropriate. However, the Board believes this is a’ complex:aréX
that cannot be reduced to a few simple rules without: the danger of.ovef
implification. Indeed, simple rules, mechanically applied, would resuit in accounty
that do not report substance. L . B P
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and, accordingly, the conditions given in the Frs for offset are not based pn the intent
of the reporting entity. .

Ceasing lo recognise assets . e _
FRED 4 contained criteria for when asseis should cease to be recognised. 'I_'hgsi
required both that no significant access to benefits was retained and that any s

retained was jmmaterial. Commentators were particularly concerned over the

itions: for i it mi i inued recognition ’ g,
d of these conditions: for instance that it might requu:e‘conum_xe ! N
soic;,: asset sold with a residual value guarantee or of a subsidiary sold with deferred 1R

performance-related consideration.

As a result, the Frs distinguishes three types of transactions. The first is transactions. %

that transfer all significant rights to benefits relating to an asset and all s_;gmﬁcanz
exposures to the risks inherent in those benefits, For such transactions, the asset
should cease to be recognised in its entirety. Conversely, where. a transaction- -
benefits relating to an asset or, no s1g111t‘§ca}1§\
the asset should continue to be recog;xised u: ::]i X

irety. The third of transaction comprises those special cases where not all " 1
:gggnt benefits atﬁe risks have been transferred, but it is necessary to ame.ng_ﬁ]e :
description or monetary amount of the o_righ_lal asset or to recognise a new. h.a ility *
for any obligations assumed. Examples of this third type of transaction z_ue gwenjll‘n 3

transfers no significant ﬁgh§ to
exposures to their inherent risks,

paragraphs 71-73.

Contracts for future performance. . .

For the avoidance of doubt, the Board decided that contracts for future perform- ;'3
ance, such as swaps, forward contracts -and purchase commitments, should be

removed from the scope of the Frs, except where they.are merely -a part of:

transaction (or of a connected series of transactions) that falls within the FRs. The

accounting for such contracts is a complex area that.‘requires ﬁthl}et research an
consultation before an Frs dealing with their accounting could l;e issued.

OP‘-"""-"' . - e new gui i ...—t ined were enerall
FRED 4’s approach to options and the new guidance it contamed were genera
supportcd.pl?lowever, the comments revealed some unoert'mn.ry over _the a_pproac!:n t
be taken to options for which there is a genuine commerf:xal possibility both th.at th
option will be exercised and that it will not be exercised, but- the transaction

‘is significantly more-likely. The -FrRS ¢
structured such that one or other outcome’is significan ! ; e F
provides that the commercial effect of an option should be assessed in the context of ( <.
all the aspects and implications of the transaction. It also exp!ams that it may. bd“: 3
necessary to consider the true commercial objectives of the parties and the commer-_23

cial rationate for the inclusion of the option in the transaction in order to establis

RN AL

whether the parties’ rights and obligations are, in substance, o_ptiopa] or c_:onditidn'a]

or, alternatively, outright.

: . emphasises that; in assessing’ the
Finally, for the avoidance of doubt,; the Frs ‘emphasises A e
comm)::rdaleffeaof an option, all the terms of the transaction and the mcumstanoesj
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of the parties that are likely to be relevant during the exercise period of the option
§.© should be taken into account - and not just conditions existing at the balance sheet
. date. . . :

g Linked presentation for subsidiaries

. The rFrs carries through the proposal in FRep 4 that where an item and its non-
* recourse finance are ‘ring-fenced’ in a quasi-subsidiary in such a way that the
! conditions for a linked presentation are met from the point of view of the group, the
i quasi-subsidiary should be included in consolidated financial statements using a
gt linked presentation. However, if in a sirnilar arrangement the item and its finance aré
Br held by a subsidiary, a linked presentation may not be used. In this case, the
- subsidiary is part of the group as legally defined: hence the item and its finanice, being
an asset and liability of the subsidiary, are respectively an asset and a liability of the
group and companies legislation requires them to be shown in consolidated accounts
in the normal way. Some respondents argued that the commiercial effect is the same
regardless of whether the vehicle is a subsidiary or a quasi-subsidiary, and hence the
" same accounting treatment should be adopted. However, companies legislation does
. not permit this. In legal terms; the inclusion of ‘a ‘quasi-subsidiary constitutes the
provision of additional information about the group as legally defined and thus a
quasi-subsidiary may be included in any way necessary to give a true and fair view of
that group. However, a subsidiary is part of the group as legally defined and
companies legislation requires the subsidiary to be consolidated in the normal
- way.

The use of swaps in securitisations ~

<

tr- The Board was asked to clarify whether, in a securitisation, an interest rate swap or
o an interest rate cap between an otiginator and an issuer would restrict use of a linked
presentation, FrRED 4 required, as does the rrs, that, for a linked presentation, there
must be ‘no recourse whatsoever’ to the originator and ‘no possibility whatsoever of
;8 claim being established on the entity [ie the originator] other than against funds
B generated by that item [ie the securitised assets]’. These provisions would prohibit
use of a linked presentation where there is an interest rate swap or an interest rate
cap between the originator and the issuer. : .- - T

g However, the argument was put to the Board that an exception to this principle was
¥ appropriate because the risks are often hedged by the originator as part of its normal
¢-hedging activities and thus payments to the issuer under the swap or cap would not
Rt represent a pet loss to the originator. In many cases, the originator will have hedged
% Any interest rate (and related) risks relating to the securitised assets prior to the
jj securitisation, with the result that the securitisation opens up a gap in the originator’s
W, hedging portfolio by removing a hedged asset without removing its hedge. The most
g natural way to close this gap is for the issuer and the originator to enter into an
i interest rate swap or cap. Such a swap or cap will also be advantageous to the issuer
providing it with a hedge of the difference in the interest rate received on its
¥ newly acquired assets and that paid on its loan notes. It was also stated.that, in the

315

29



3

32

33

2.005 FRS 5 SUBSTANCE OF TRANSACTIONS |

case of an interest rate swap (although not in the case of an interest rate cap), the -

issuer is currently unable to enter into a suitable swap with a third party as there is
currently no market for such swaps in the UK (principally because the swap would
require an amortising amount of principal to reﬂect actual repayments of t.he
securitised assets).

The Board believes, as a matter of prmmple that a linked presentauon should be
permitted only where there is no recourse whatsoever to the originator and accord-
ingly should not be permitted where there is an interest rate swap or cap between the
originator and the issuer. However, it decided with reluctance and asa pragmauc
and provisional response to the issue, to permit use of a linked presentatlon in the
originator’s accounts notmthstandmg the presence of an interest rate swap between
the originator and the issuer in a securitisation provided certain strict criteria are
met. (These are set out in paragraph D11.) In reaching this decision, the Board tock
into account the interaction of its decision with the present framework for regulating
banks. The Board was also swayed by the fact that there is currently no market for
such swaps in the UK and hence the issuer is unable to enter into a suitable swap with
anyone other than the originator. For interest rate caps, the Board decided to give a

- similar concession but to resctrict it to those securitisations in existence prior to 22
September 1994 since the availability of a suitable market for interest rate caps

means there is no need for future transactions of this kind to be undertaken wﬂh the
originator and the issuer where a hnked presentation is used..

The Board’s decision with respect to interest rate swaps represents an interim
measure and will be reviewed in the light of developments in securitisations and of
progress made in the Board's forthcoming pro_| ect on denvatwes '

Disclosures of derecognised assets -

Three of the Application Notes to FRED 4 contained speqﬁc dxsclosure requlrements
in respect of fderecognised assets. Commentators generally thought these requue-
ments were excessive, they have not been retained in the FRS. e

AMENDMENT TO FRS 5 — INSERTION OF APPLICATION NOTE.
F ‘PRIVATE FINANCE INITIATIVE AND SIMILAR CONTRACTS’

The Preface to this amendmen( 1ssued September 1998 stated the fol]omng

The Apphwuon Note has been prepared in response to the need for clarification of
how the principles and requirements of Frs 5 should apply to transactions conducted
under the UK Government’s Private Finance Initiative (PFI) 'I'he Note wxll also be
appropriate for other contracts of a sm:ular nature. :

The amendment was pubhshed as an Exposure Draft in December 1997 for pubhe
comment. In finalising this docurment the Accounting Standards Board has tiken
into consideration the comments received in response to the F ~ -sure Draft and has

FRS § SUBSTANCE OF TRANSACTIONS 2.005

consulted interested parties. In parttcular, in the final version of the Note the Board
has clarified the question of separability and which variations in profits {or losses)

. ‘should be taken into account wheu determining who has. an asset of the propetty in
a PFI contract.
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BANKENGRUPPE

Board Members of the 13 TSI Banks decide on TSI Securitisation Infrastructure
30.04.2004 - 12:08 Uhr

Frankfurt/Main (ots) -

- Croas reference: Picture is available at
http://www.presseportal.de/galerie.htx?type=0ogs -

Today members of the Managing Boards of the thirteen TSI banks
(Bayerische Landesbank, Citigroup Deutschland, Commerzbank, DekaBank,
Deutsche Bank, Dresdner Bank, DZ Bank, Eurchypo, HSH Nordbank,
Helaba, HVB Group, KfW Bankengruppe and WestLB) signed the founding
documents for True Sale International GmbH at a special ceremony and
decided on the TSI securitisation infrastructure.

In the run-up to signing the contract documents they had been
discussed with all competent supervisory authorities. The cooperation
was very result-oriented and proceeded swiftly. Now all authorities
involved have given the expected positive feed-back. In particular
the Bundeskartellamt, the German Competition Authority, has no
reservations in terms of merger contrel legislation with regard to
True Sale International GmbH. The formal notarial foundation of the
GmbH will take place next week.

The TSI securitisation infrastructure was developed jointly by KfW
Bankengruppe, cooperative banks, commercial banks and the
Sparkassen-Finanzgruppe. It can be used by all interested banks and
will contribute to substantially increasing the number of
securitisations transacted from Germany. From the viewpoint of
investors a new investment segment will be created. The ABS
securities issued in this German true sale segment are intended to be
standardised and marked by liquid trading.

The securitisation platform will be composed of three charitable
trusts {(domiciled in Frankfurt am Main) and special purpose vehicles
($PV), which will be set up individually for each transaction. The
charitable trusts assume the role of the shareholders of the
gecuritisation SPVs issuing the ABS securities under such true sale
transactions. This model, which was chosen in analogy with the
structures practiced internationally, enables the establishment of
insolvency-remote German SPVs, which is a central requirement from
the viewpoint of the rating agencies and investors.

The neutral securitisation platform will on principal be available
to all market participants and for the first time allows the
establishment of SPVs exclusively under German law. As a result,
credit institutions will no longer have to make a detour via foreign

S$PVs. Under this structure true sale securitisation functions as
follows:

- In each true sale transaction the respective originator founds
its own insolvency-remote SPV with a limited task profile which meets
the standard requirements of the rating agencies.

http://www presseportal.de/print.hix 7nr=552088 07/03/05
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- These SPVs are assigned the legal form of a GmbH (limited
liability company) and are donated to the three trusts, i.e. the
trusts hold equal shares of these companies and thereby help make the
SPV insolvency remote.

- The 5PV buys the loan portfolic to be securitised from a bank,
converts it into tradeable securities collateralised by loan
receivables (asset-backed securities, or ABS) and then sells them to
investors on the capital market.

- The securitisation platform created under the charitable trust
model can be used by all portfolio providers, regardiess of whether
they participate in the True Sale Initiative.

The trusts pursue the common goal of supporting research on the
financial and capital market for Germany as a financial center. The
Department of Pinance of the European Business School International
University in Oestrich-Winkel/Germany has already been selected as
one of the beneficiaries of the charitable trusts.

True Sale International GmbH (TSI GmbH) is a collective
institution and the second most important element of the
securitisation infrastructure that was decided on today.

Above all, TSI GmbH will be a driving force behind the
standardisation of the ABS market in Germany. In this respect TSI
GmbH will in particular determine the quality attributes that ABS
transactions must have in order to be able to use the label "TSI" on
the market. Acquiring the seal of quality requires, among other
things, standardised reporting by the originateor. For investors, this
is a key prerequisite that will give them a real-time insight about
the transaction and its performance. Additionally, specifications as
to the minimum issuing amount, the market making and the eligibility
of the ABS securities to be used as collateral for the ECB will lead
to an improvement in the development of liguidity in the secondary
market and therefore also to greater acceptance cof the ABS papers.
This then will make it possible to progressively build up a broad
true sale market.

Ultimately, TSI GmbH is also planned to serve as a forum where key
market participants pool their expertise and analyse the overall
conditions for ABS in Germany, comment on them and devise
recommendations for their further development.

TSI GmbH is open to other shareholders. Apart from a company
general meeting it will also have a shareholders' council to assist
with the performance of its tasks. EBach of the thirteen founding
shareholders will send one member of its Management Board or of its
management to the council. High-ranking policymakers will also be
approached to join the council, ensuring that the dialogue on market
development will be as broad as possible.

Apart from its management the GmbH will initially employ three
additional employees and have a capital basis of EUR 1,950,000.00.
Its seat will be in Frankfurt am Main.

The securitisation platform is scheduled to be completed in June.
From then on it will be possible to issue securities via the platform
and the German capital market will have a new, important instrument
at its disposal. The "Global Financial Stability Report® recently
published by the IMF also underlines the tremendous importance of the
True Sale Initiative for the capital market in Germany.

ANNEX to the press release on TSI dated April 30, 2004 On April

http://www.presseportal.de/print. htx 7nr=552088 07/03/05
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30, 2004 the Board members of the TSI banks decided as follows:

Managing Directors of True Sale International GmbH Dr. Hartmut
Bechtold and Dr. Dieter Glider

Designated Foundation Chairmen of the "Charitable Trust Corporate
Finance and Capital Markets in the Financial Center Germany"

Professor Ulrich Hommel Ph. D. and Professor Dr. Lutz Johanning
from the Buropean Business School, International University,
Oestrich-Winkel /Germany.

ots Original Text Service: KfW
Internet: http://www.presseportal.de

For further information please call:
Nathalie Dricke

Tel: +4% 69 7431-2098,

E-Mail: nathalie.druecke@kfw.de

http://www .presseportal.de/print.btx?nr=552088 07/03/05
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CAPITAL MARKETS & COMMODITIES: Sale initiative yet to make
impact in Germany

By Charles Batchelor

Financial Times,; Jan 20, 2005

Germany's "true sale initiative", which allows banks to remove
securitised assets from their balance sheet, has yet to make an impact in
terms of deals done.

But bankers believe that it will increase activity in a sector that has been
shrinking as banks move away from using securitisations as a way of
reducing their requirement to maintain reserves for regulatory purposes.

Deal volume fell from €41.6bn in 2002 to €19.6bn in 2004, although the
number of deals done shrank only slightly, according to Commerzbank.

Securitisations involve banks assembling packages of assets, usually
residential mortgages, that are used to provide collateral and generate
cashflows for the issue of bonds that allow the banks to make more
mortgage loans.

The 13 banks involved in the TSI have lobbied for changes to tax and
insolvency legislation to make it easier for them to securitise their debts.

Innovative securitisation deals are now being arranged that do not make
use of the formal TSI platform but which are benefitting from the
changes that have been ushered in, bankers said.

Recent deals that have been completed include a pool of homes in multi-
family ownership, several consumer loan transactions and the first
securitisation of mezzanine debt issued to Mittelstand companies,
Nicolaus Trautwein, co-head of German asset securitisation told a
London conference.

Further deals of this sort are expected, particularly after proposed
changes to Germany's insolvency lows expected by the middle of this
year, he added. These changes would reduce the administrative burden
of assembling a portfolio of mortgages. Under current legislation, every
mortgage has to be reregistered if it is securitised, The TSI platform
allows the spectal purpose vehicle set up to transfer the assets off the
bank’s balance sheet to be based in Germany rather than in offshore
jurisdictions such as Jersey or the Cayman Islands. Deals can be
standardised and costs cut.

http://financialtimes.printthis.clickability.com/pt/cpt?action=cpt&title=CAPITAL+MARI... 07/03/05
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Only one securitisation has been completed so far using the special
framework created by the TSI. Volkswagen Bank, part of the automobile
manufacturer, issued €1.1bn worth of bonds backed by car purchase
loans in November.

KfW, the business development bank that has co-ordinated the initiative,
expects only just over €5bn worth of TSI deals to be completed this
year. But issuers believe TSI will increase the appeal of German
securitisations to international investors. Previously, low levels of
issuance meant there was little liquidity in the secondary market, so
spreads - the premium over a risk-free investment - were wider than in
the rest of Europe.

The initiative was launched in early 2003 at a time when the credit
ratings of German banks were under pressure and the banks lacked
altermative means of refinancing themselves in the capital markets.

©Copyright The Financial Times Ltd
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Anmnex 4

TABLE ASSESSING THE CHARACTERISTICS OF A
TYPICAL SECURITISATION TRANSACTION
WITH THE “CONTROL” TESTS UNDER HKAS-INT 12

Typical characteristics of
securitisation structure/transaction

HEKAS tests of “control’” which catch the
characteristics

Transferor creates an SPE on autopilot
mechanism.

Activities test: Control is presumed where the
activities of the SPE are being conducted on
behalf of the reporting entity which created the
SPE according to its business needs.

Decision-making test: Control is presumed to
exist over an SPE on autopilot.

Transferor may retain residual interests
e.g. excess spread (i.e., the difference
between interest rate paid to
noteholders and interest received from
mortgagors).

Benefits test: Control is presumed to exist
where Transferor has rights to majority of
residual interests.

Credit enhancement if provided by
Transferor or third party service
provider:

¢ Transferor or highly-rated third
party may provide guarantee to
noteholders

* Over-collateralisation (i.¢., the
collateral securing the repayment
obligations to the noteholders is
greater than the repayment
obligations)

« Transferor agrees to absorb initial
credit losses by retaining the first-
loss layer

» Transferor establishes Reserve
Fund arrangements to absorb initial
credit losses.

Risks test: Control is presumed where
Transferor retains residual or ownership risks.

Noteholders/Transferee may have right
to early redemption of the notes (i.e., to
put the notes back to the Transferee
issuer who will then call on the
Transferor to repurchase the mortgage
portfolio).

Risks test: Control is presumed where
Transferor retains residual or ownership risks.






